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Financial Highlights
M BREE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+-HLEE

from Allied Gaming & Entertainment Inc. (formerly known as Allied Esports
Entertainment, Inc.] ("AGAE"], an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, which is separately listed on the Nasdag Stock Exchange ("'NASDAQ")

and operates eSports business.
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2022 2021 Changes
—B-—f —E——f g
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBF T
Revenue PN 217,712 143,815 51.4%
(Loss)/Profit attributable to equity AATEZEEAEM
holders of the Company (B8), HA
— Continuing operations'” BB EERY (29,609) (74,367 (60.2)%
— Discontinued operations' —DRIEREEKY — 100,871 (100.0)%
(29,609) 26,504 (211.7)%
(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable AABEEFE AR
to equity holders of the Company SR (ER),BA
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (ABBRAREDT]R)
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREXR(ER) 2T
— From continuing operations'” —REFEEEEB" (2.76) (7.05) (60.9)%
— From discontinued operations'” —KEBRIEEEER — 9.56 (100.0)%
(2.76) 2.51 (210.0)%
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share TS (BB) &
— From continuing operations'” —REBELEEE (2.76) (7.05) (60.9)%
— From discontinued operations'” —REDRIEREEKD — 9.56 (100.0)%
(2.76) 2.51 (210.0)%
REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS 1% IR & 2 5 WA
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—-BLEE
2022 2021 Changes
—E=-= —ET-—F &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
The People’s Republic of China (the "“PRC")" s ZE A R A FE ([fhE )" 174,983 111,836 56.5%
Outside the PRC? oh @ 5 Hp 0 42,729 31,979 33.6%
Total revenue A 217,712 143,815 51.4%
(1) For the purpose of this annual report, the revenue from the PRC does not (1]  BEAFHM 5 - 2K B B A WA I K B HE 2K
include those from Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan (if any). BEE RFIRAENKAME) -
[2)  The revenue of the continuing operations outside the PRC was primarily derived (2 HFERBIFELEEXEB 2 WA £ E XK

EARFRMEZEFREZTEMBE 2 FAled
Gaming & Entertainment Inc. (A% Allied Esports
Entertainment, Inc.) (TAGAE ] » E 7 4% B 3% 53
& 75 22 5 Pt (Nasdaq Stock Exchange * [ £ 8 3E
RDBU LT WEBERER)
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2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—N\F —NFE —ZT-TF —T-—F ZE-Z
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTIT ARETT ARETRT AR®BTR
Revenue A 389,166 144,661 110,407 143,815 217,712
Gross profit E 154,927 51,898 24,662 56,145 83,915
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE (BB, &F (697,513 (456,265) (402,588) 194,326 (77,414)
Attributable to equity RATERFEBEA
holders of the Company AL (622,970 (419,213) (186,392 26,504 (29,609)
Attributable to non- FE 1 AR A 25 FE G
controlling interests (74,543) (37,052) (216,196) 167,822 (47,805)
Assets and liabilities BEENRAE
Total assets B E 1,266,430 978,802 735,367 810,025 773,600
Total liabilities @aE s 286,456 321,583 247 481 122,038 107,384
Total equity B E 979,974 657,219 487,886 687,987 666,216
Note: PR RE

On 19 January 2021, AGAE entered into a stock purchase agreement (the "SPA"),
which was subsequently amended on 19 March 2021 and 29 March 2021, respectively,
for the disposal of entire equity interest of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Club Services,
Inc. ("CSI"). CSI owns 100% of each of the legal entities that collectively operate or
engage in the Company’'s poker-related business, commonly known as the World
Poker Tour ["WPT"). WPT is the premier name in an internationally televised gaming
and entertainment company that has been involved in the sport of poker since 2002
and created a television show based on a series of high-stakes poker tournaments. As
the Group has committed to a plan to sell the WPT business (the “Disposal Group”)
prior to 31 December 2020, the Disposal Group has been reclassified as “Discontinued
operations” and its assets and liabilities also reclassified as “Assets of disposal group
classified as held for sale” and “Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for
sale”. Details of which are set out in the Company’'s announcements on 19 January
2021, 23 March 2021, 29 March 2021 and 30 March 2021 and the circular of the
Company dated 10 March 2021, respectively.

To supplement its financial statements which is presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ['IFRS”), the Group has also used
non-IFRS adjusted financials as an additional financial measure to evaluate our
financial performance since the listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange’) in 2014. Given that the
difference between IFRS and non-IFRS financials is insignificant and will not provide
meaningful information to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”), the

Company determines that it will no longer disclose non-IFRS measures.

RZZE=Z—F—A+NB AGAERI M EE
((BRBE) HeoR=_Z=—F=A+1A
&7?7*¢ AZ+hBETUHEEZ2EWS
A A) Club Services, Inc. ([CSI]) #) 2 2B A% # - CSIT?&E
HAZEINEARREREBRAESON S ETER
#) 2 B 7= - — AR T8 A World Poker Tour(fWPTJ)
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Ourgame International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
you the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

In 2022, Ourgame recorded significant increase in its overall revenue
despite impact of various adverse factors on its domestic and overseas
businesses such as the policy environment and repeated pandemic. The
annual revenue of the Company amounted to RMB217.7 million,
representing an increase of approximately 51.4% as compared with last
year. The increase in revenue was attributable to the trust and support of all
users and partners of Ourgame, as well as the Company's efforts in all
aspects of the business, especially in mobile-based and diversified fields.

In respect of our PC game business that is popular among loyal users, while
continuing to provide traditional Ourgame Hall services, the Company's
business platform sector has also been optimised and fine-tuned in various
aspects, such as continuously improving user experience of the premium
users, further enhancing our brand stickiness and visibility and combining
the traditional products with the hot-pick items, including short videos and
live broadcast projects in order to raise the user activities, thereby
promoting sustainable and healthy growth of the revenue from PC games in
2022. The Company will further explore the value of Ourgame Hall platform
users in the future and continue to provide hundreds of millions of platform
users with better services. Meanwhile, we will further strengthen our efforts
in marketing, expand cooperation channels on PC platform, and further

attract new and existing users to experience our high-quality services.

In respect of the traditional card and board games projects, Ourgame
continued to press ahead with the cooperation strategy with various
channels. In addition to the existing well-run traditional products such as
Fight Landlord and Mahjong, Ourgame launched a number of mobile-based
game products in 2022, such as Experts Fight Landlord (A E), Let's
Fight Landlord ([I#b=E#23)E) and Masters Fight Landlord (KARFHE),
which have been promoted on Kuaishou platform and cooperated with
multiple advertisers. After more than half a year of operation, such products
and services have been widely recognised by the market with higher
revenue and more users. The Company plans to apply the model of such
products to the promotion of other card and board games products in the
future, enlarge product categories jointly promoted with partners, and
continue to cultivate the traditional card and board games market.
Meanwhile, the Company also plans to continue to make exploration and
layout in leisure and puzzle games, and further provide high-quality services
for users of different age groups.

Annual Report 2022

HEBRR:

RARKBBRBEFZERER G (TERLAT]
HEMNBARAABIAEBDESTS LI
M BETREASEEBEE-_ZT=-__F+=A4
S+ —BLEFEMEE-

TR CF O BRNBEANEBREEXEE
RE RBERESFESTHEERK WE'¥%

WADABRFTERREZENER AR
FRAZEARE? WE%E’?%E%%%
51.4% - WMAMIBINRKARBREZEBRFP LA
ETHNEEMIXEARARREEBETE
BRI B BEMETIERMEENE A -

ERZBEADERFPEEMPCHERT ME
ERFBERAEEABRABREORE K2
AN FeEBRREELTZHTENELH
B NBERSEEEPNRRE £ — 18
B R AR WK ERERER T
RRXEAMNERMANEEBRBAES IR
SRPERRE B T - FPCHEAN
%?&KFE°$ AR — FIEEF

EHMBRARRAFPFNEE URKERBEFS
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%%%%*ﬂ%'ﬁﬁ%ﬁ—
TMATHHERENE MAPCTFENAEE
B-E-—SRSIMEBFBRAMOEER
5 o

EERHEEER L ﬁ%%ﬁﬁtﬁ$ﬁﬁ

ENEEBRE BREBELELRINER
M MBEERN —ZTE__F BR

HEETZ3 %EM%@EM%W@MAHW
E) AP ELHE) (CREMHEIF - Wil
BHRFFAETHETHSIRESEEE
TAE BBYFENET ZREERFRY
ERSTEZANMERY  WAMERAERE
W TEER - SBAQAAGEBHEERD
BXEANEEEMMNEBEER EBMES
EFBMAERENERRE EEXHEHH
W35 o RIEE - AR B 51 8178 (K 7 25 5 e
FEBBEETREEZNHGE #—FATRAF
RIEENBPIREEERE -



ITRARS (8)

In 2022, based on our industrial competitive edge in card and board games
sector, the Company has established a live broadcast association and
operation team that focuses on card and board games contents. The
Company has established extensive connection with internet live streaming
platforms such as Kuaishou and Douyin to kick-start various initiatives.
Currently, the operation team has built its own superior anchor camp
covering various categories, such as chess, mahjong, fight landlord (F# =),
western chess, Four-nation War Chess ([UBIE#], bridge and other sectors.
The relevant live streaming accounts have already had millions of users and
fans, and a large number of head accounts have been created, such as
Mahjong Competitor [EHiii &), where competitive card and board games
players interact with fans in real time, providing users with high-quality live
card and board games and events. Meanwhile, we are building a public
channel featuring short videos with professional content in various aspects
in order to make the best use of our competitive edge from our refined
operation as compared to our industry peers. Our live broadcast business
has reached a cooperative venture with the official card and board games of
Kuaishou, which has assisted Kuaishou's promotion of its official card and
board games in the live broadcasting sector. The cooperative venture is a
new attempt for a win-win cooperation between Ourgame and other card
and board games operators. For offline operations, the Company also
actively attempts to operate card and board games venues to provide more

and better services for enthusiasts and fans of card and board games.

In terms of overseas business, following the disposal of the World Poker
Tour ["WPT"] business with significant gains on capital, as at 31 December
2022, AGAE's business includes operation of HyperX Arena Las Vegas, one
of the world’s most recognized eSports and entertainment events facilities,
two mobile arenas, namely Allied Esports Trucks, and original content
studio which creates and produces proprietary content series to serve
brand launching and promotion, fans and community engagement. AGAE
offers a variety of eSports and gaming-related content, including world
class tournaments, live and virtual entertainment and gaming events, and
original programming to continuously foster an engaged gaming
community. In December 2022, AGAE completed a strategic review of its
business operations and announced to expand its focus of the existing
eSports business to include a broader array of entertainment and gaming
products and services. Under this plan, AGAE intends to pursue multiple
channels of opportunities to leverage its location-based-entertainment
expertise with a focus on gaming lifestyle and experiential entertainment,
as well as growing its digital footprint and monetization capabilities through
mobile gaming. The gaming and entertainment business of AGAE will
continue to utilize AGAE's three-pillar strategy — in-person experiences,
multiplatform content, and interactive services both independently and in
connection with its strategic partners, and provide the best services for

users globally
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Despite various challenges such as the market environment and repeated
pandemic, Ourgame continues to focus on the development and operation
of card and board games. On such basis, Ourgame has built a mind sports
ecosystem that incorporates online games, competitive sports events,
programme production and live broadcasting, and continues to focus on
emerging market opportunities and march towards the global sports and
entertainment markets, which forms a strong linkage with domestic and
international “dual-circulation” around Hong Kong and the United States
stock markets. It is expected that in the future, Ourgame will continue to
stride forward and move towards the goal of becoming the world's top
sports and entertainment company.
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The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
RMB29.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared
with profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of RMB26.5
million (which comprised loss of RMB74.4 million from continuing
operations and profit of RMB100.9 million from discontinued
operations] for the year ended 31 December 2021. The profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 was primarily due to the gain on the disposal of the
WPT business.

In 2022, revenue of the Group amounted to RMB217.7 million,
representing an increase of RMB73.9 million or 51.4% as compared
with RMB143.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
increase was mainly arisen from the increase in online advertising
services income with enhanced co-operation with multiple distribution
channels during the year. In addition, the in-person experience
revenues of AGAE increased, primarily attributable to the increase in
sponsorship revenue from a new contract entered into in the first
quarter of 2022, and the increase in food and beverage, ticket and
gaming and merchandising revenue was primarily attributable to the
removal of COVID-19 pandemic-related capacity restrictions at

AGAE’s HyperX Esports Arena in Las Vegas.

In 2022, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to RMB133.8 million,
representing an increase of RMB46.1 million or 52.6% as compared
with RMB87.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
gross profit margin of the Group slightly decreased from 39.0% for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to 38.5% for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEBRRDON (B)
4. OTHER INCOME 4, HN S

In 2022, other income of the Group amounted to RMB21.6 million,
representing an increase of RMB11.1 million or 104.5% as compared
with RMB10.5 million in 2021. This was primarily due to the increase
in interest income from certificate of deposits, bad debt recovery of
loan to third party and written back of other payables during the year.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

In 2022, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB21.5 million, representing a decrease of RMB0.5 million or 2.1%
as compared with RMB22.0 million in 2021.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2022, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to RMB121.7
million, representing a decrease of RMB7.2 million or 5.5% as
compared with RMB128.9 million in 2021. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in legal and professional fees related to
the sale of the WPT business in 2021 and the decrease in corporate
payroll and bonus of AGAE as compared to the year of 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
Mﬁﬁjnﬂﬂ& ﬁ(g)

7.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

In 2022, research and development expenses of the Group amounted
to RMB18.8 million, representing a decrease of RMB5.3 million or
22.2% as compared with RMB24.1 million in 2021. The decrease was
mainly due to lower development efforts on new or updated versions
of online games and costs incurred in associated research and
development activities during the year.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

In 2022,
through profit or loss of the Group amounted to RMB1.3 million, as

loss in fair value changes of financial assets at fair value

compared with loss in fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of RMB14.2 million in 2021. The loss in
2022 and 2021 was mainly due to unexpected changes in the market
environment and some of our investee companies also suffered from
loss during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

GAIN ON CONVERSION/REDEMPTION OF
CONVERTIBLE NOTES

In 2022, there was no gain on conversion/redemption of convertible
notes of the Group, as compared with gain on conversion/redemption
of convertible notes of RMBé.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The amount was mainly due to the value of common
stock issued upon conversion in excess of the common stock issuable
under the original terms as a result from the amendments of
conversion prices of convertible notes of AGAE signed in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEESH R DI (8)
10. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

1.

12.

13.

In 2022, the impairment of assets of the Group amounted to RMB2.6
million, as compared with RMB2.0 million in 2021. In 2022, the
impairment of assets mainly arose from the write off of digital assets
and trade and other receivables, for which the management
determined that the future cash flows are not expected to be sufficient
to recover the carrying value.

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS

In 2021, the gain on disposal of discontinued operations (as included
in profit after tax for the period from discontinued operations) of
RMB319.0 million was arisen from the disposal of the entire equity
interests of CSI owning 100% equity interests of each of the legal
entities that collectively operate or engage in a poker-related
business, commonly known as the WPT. There was no gain on
disposal of discontinued operations in 2022.

(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
RMB29.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared
with profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of RMB26.5
million (which comprised loss of RMB74.4 million from continuing
operations and profit of RMB100.9 million from discontinued
operations) for the year ended 31 December 2021. The profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 was primarily due to the gain on the disposal of the
WPT business.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

In 2022, there was no income tax credit of the Group, as compared
with income tax credit of RMB0.03 million in 2021.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group's total bank balances and cash
decreased by 85.7% from RMB609.1 million as at 31 December 2021
to RMB87.3 million as at 31 December 2022. The decrease was
primarily because the proceeds from the sale of the WPT business
had been used for the purchase of certificates of deposit. As at 31
December 2022, the current assets of the Group amounted to
RMB681.8 million, including bank balances and cash of RMB87.3
million, certificates of deposit of RMB484.6 million, and other current
assets of RMB109.9 million. Current liabilities of the Group amounted
to RMB59.8 million, of which RMB46.4 million were trade and other
payables and deferred revenue of RMB1.3 million, and other current
liabilities of RMB12.1 million. As at 31 December 2022, the current
ratio (the current assets to current liabilities ratio) of the Group was
11.4, as compared to 9.76 as at 31 December 2021. Gearing ratio is
calculated on the basis of total borrowings (net of cash and cash
equivalents) over the Group's total equity. The Group's gearing ratio
as at 31 December 2022 was nil (2021: nill. The Group currently
intends to finance future expansion, investments and business
operations primarily with internal resources, but may explore other

financing sources in appropriate circumstances.

The Group did not have any material investments during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Group did not have any material acquisitions during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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The Group makes investments in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the purposes of (i) supplementing the Group's games
portfolio to drive higher monetization of our user base and
profitability, (ii] exploring new business opportunities in related areas
of our business eco-system for acquisitions and strategic and
operational synergies, and [iii] leveraging on external financial
resources for expertise and scale. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted
to RMB45.8 million (which were included as non-current assets] (31
December 2021: RMB56.2 million which were included as non-current
assets of RMB48.6 million and current assets of RMB7.6 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's investments in unlisted equity
investments amounted to RMB45.8 million (which were included as
non-current assets), which mainly included direct equity investments
in selected startup companies mainly engaged in games or mind
sports related technological research and development and direct
subscription to the interests in private equity funds (the “Private
Equity Funds”) that focus on providing early-stage funding for
companies in the mind sports sector. A breakdown of the majority of
these investments is set out below:

AEERBZAABFARSZEREE
FHKRE  FHEIBAAEE 2 EEE
B UEBRMBPREZRARENR
MEEN  FEREFERARBHEAE
ZHRTETG OB - DUETT IR MOE L B
118 1 [R) RO - R (i) f5 B o B0 B 7 2R
RESEZENIRBEARE - R T
“HE+ZA=+—H FrEERAAE
AABRZERMEER/ARKSLIES
TGEFIARIERDEE) (T _—F+
“RA=t—B: AR¥562B8T A
RIEMBDEEARBBLAEBTERY
BEARBICAET) -

W_Z - —F+-_A=+—8 4A&£H
RIELTHERREZIRERBARKELS
BETGIARERBEE) 28
RETAERRN(EEREHEKIE SN
BEEB MM CEEERTE
LEEBERBEPRAES HESHIRNE
EMNARRRAMBRECZLEREES
((RREREES D 2 EDZ -ZEREZ
REBBAM T 0T

Amount of
Name of Invested Company/
Private Equity Funds

Capital Contributed Percentage of

by the Group  Shareholding Principal Business

BREQR/ALEREESER AEEITESE EREDL FEEHR

Beijing Yilian Investment Centre (L.P) RMB5,000,000 5% Investment/management

EREBREDL(BRER) A R #5,000,0007T REER

Tong Xiang Juli Fengyuan Equity Investment Fund RMB20,000,000 64.52% Investment/management
Management Partnership (L.P)

MR EEREREES A E#20,000,0007T KE &1
ERABEE(BERER)

All In Asia Culture and Tourism Development RMB19,574,700 20% Tourism culture
Company Limited

BB MR EERBR R A AR®19,574,700 7T ik 35 X AL

Juyou Universe (Suzhou) Culture Science and RMB 1,500,000 4.58% Internet services

Technology Development Co., Ltd.

Bl F i (M) R R ERER A A A K #1,500,000 7T B B R 7%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, no dividends have been paid
from the above invested companies as included in non-current assets.
All startup companies invested by the Group are in relatively early
stage, and are mainly focused on product development and launching.
The startup companies are in the internet, sports and entertainment
segment, which are expected to provide us with a platform to leverage
on our experience and resources, and to minimise our investment
risks. We believe that our investment initiative is an important aspect
of our vision to build up our ecosystem as a whole. The Group will
continue to seek other investment opportunities that not only create
synergies on different levels but also offer high-yield return potential.
The Group will continue to monitor its investment in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss in a responsible manner. There are
no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the Group's
investment portfolio that individually constitutes significant
investment as none of the investments has a carrying amount that
accounts for more than 5% of the Group's total assets as at 31
December 2022.

Movements of Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Profit or Loss

The movements of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

BE_T__F+_A=+—HBIL#F
Er ElEA ARBERDEENHIRE
NAMERNKRE NEEKRENME
ZEEAERAAENBY P HHERE
&~HI§%$F%?&%&E&°@
¥RNAREHMME BERRETE |
%%Eﬁﬁkﬁ$A’Mﬂ%ﬁﬁmﬁ
BREER WHEKRERBBRE&E- &
MRE BMFCRESRERELERE
RREFHESECEZ R - AEBBERS
#XTHEEtﬂ & 195 [F 3 55 R B IR
RHESORENZ2EMBRERE - A%
EEsEREMEREARENARR
CEMEERE- R _T-__F+_A
=t—H HRFRAREZFEELE
EAEEREEN%A L BWAEERE
HAEZHEARBEAAEGZeREET
BEEPIBRKERKRE -

BRRESAEBCERE
ELEE
BE-F--FT-A=t-ALEE

BEARBFTAEBGEZEREEZEHH
FnR

Included as Non-current Assets SEARERBEE
Unlisted equity
investments
kL
EERE
RMB'000
ARBT T
Balance as at 1 January 2022 N-ZEBE-_—_F—F—HzZz&® 48,615
Addition NE 1,500
Disposals & (2,984)
Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss RIEHBERZ AL EEH (1,285)
Fair value as at 31 December 2022 R-ZZE-_—_F+_A=+—HZ2AE 45,846
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18.

19.

20.

21.

Included as Current Assets

SIARRBEE

Unlisted equity
investments
¥t
ERRE
RMB'000
ARBFT

Balance as at 1 January 2022
Disposals e

RZE-_—F—A—B2Z2&%

7,577
(7,577)

Fair value as at 31 December 2022

R-E-_—F+-_A=+—HZARE —

MATERIAL DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material disposals during the year ended
31 December 2022.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, none of the Group’s assets was
pledged.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2022 (2021: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group mainly operated
in the PRC and in the United States of America and the majority of its
transactions were settled in Renminbi ("'RMB”) or USD, being the
functional currencies of the Group entities to which the transactions
relate. As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have significant

foreign currency exposure from its operations.
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22.

23.

24,

EMPLOYEE'S REMUNERATION AND POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 175 employees, 98 of which
were responsible for games development and operation or general
administration in the PRC (including Hong Kongl, and 77 for AGAE.
The total remuneration expenses [including share-based
compensation expense) for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
RMB75.7 million, representing a decrease of 1.9% as compared to the
year of 2021.

EVENTS OCCURRED SINCE THE END OF THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Other than receiving the ICC Arbitral Award and Beijing Arbitral
Award (as defined hereinafter], the Group did not have any material
events occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group does not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

22.

23.

24,
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ESBRS

The Board hereby presents its report together with the audited consolidated EEe R EARLEERALEERE -
—CE+-ASH-BLEENEEREA
B EmE -

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The principal activities of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are online card and board games development and operation
and live broadcast business via its subsidiaries in the PRC and
eSports business via AGAE. The activities of our principal subsidiaries

are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of the Group’s revenues and segment information is set

out in Note b to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 (including particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred during the year ended 31 December
2022, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators and a discussion on the Group's
future business development) is provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 4 to 6 of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be
found on pages 88 to 91 of this Directors’ Report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
available in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. Except
as disclosed in this annual report, no other important event affecting
the Company has occurred during the year ended 31 December 2022.

As far as the Board is aware, except as disclosed herein, the Group
has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in all material respects during the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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The Group values the rights and interests and the needs of each
employee, and strictly observes the provisions of the relevant laws,
statutes and regulations of the PRC to provide employees with various
security, welfare and benefits. The Group has also set up a sound
promotion and assessment system to encourage fair competition. In
addition, the Group attaches importance to communications with its
employees. Apart from personalized mailbox and DingDing accounts,
there are systems in place to allow one-on-one communication
between employees and the Chief Executive Officer and/or chairman,
communication between employees and their line managers, and

communication channels including all-staff town hall meeting.

As users of online card and board games could be regarded as the
main customers of the Group, the Group provides its users with high-
quality and safe services in online events. In relation to online events,
the Group has set up a link to the security center on the official
website and web games to protect users’ game accounts and privacy.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately
253 suppliers. The Group selects, on its own initiative, suppliers
whose products and services are in compliance with relevant
applicable standards and adopts strict acceptance standards
including a preliminary assessment on the impact of the goods or
services provided by the suppliers on the environment and society.
Under our strict supervision, no risk has been identified in our supply
chain during the year ended 31 December 2022. Please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group for further

details.

In October 2022, as part of AGAE's contribution to the American Red
Cross Rescue Royale tournament, AGAE provided HyperX Las Vegas
Arena space at a discounted price during rehearsals and at a 100%
discount on the day of the event. In September and December 2022,
AGAE also donated its arena at 100% off standard rates for Positively
Arts Event held in each month. The aggregate fair value of all three
donations was approximately US$120,000.

Except the aforesaid, the Group did not make any other charitable
donations during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
US$12,000).
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Taking the principal activities of the Group into consideration, less
destruction has been made directly to the environment, but protecting
the environment has always been essential to us and has guided our
actions to minimize our impact. In view of the scarcity of resources,
the Group advocates policies on the efficient use of resources on its
own initiative, motivates all of its employees to participate in
resources conservation activities and encourages them to save water,
power and paper. As most promotion campaigns are conducted
online, packaging or advertisement materials for such campaigns are
therefore not required and no consumption or waste is produced. We
substitute business travels by using remote telephone conferencing

as much as possible in order to reduce traffic emissions.

In the future, continuous efforts will be made by the Group and our
employees in promoting sustainability in environment, social and
corporate governance.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 130 to 131 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Changes to the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 December 2022, the Company had
reserves available for distribution of approximately RMB256.1 million
(2021: RMB281.3 million].
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10.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Changes to the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
of the Group during the year are set out in Notes 17 and 23,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of the Company’s share capital and share incentive schemes
are set out in Notes 34 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” on pages
20 to 29 and the paragraph headed “Share Award Scheme” on pages
30 to 33 of this annual report, respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022

are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the financial positions
of the Group is set out on pages 130 to 133 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2022.
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Apart from the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the 2014 Share Option
Scheme as set out in section 12, the Share Award Scheme as set out

in section 13 and equity incentive plan as set out in section 14 of this

Directors’ Report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by

the Group or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company has adopted three share option schemes, namely, (i)

the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, (i) the Management
Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme and (i) the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2022, a total of 73,062,128 share options were
granted to the following former Directors pursuant to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share

Option Scheme:

BRAESSREENHEMEHEE T X
AHABEERNERESE EEEERA
FEEMERETS T —NFER
REFTE - B13EEARMDERE X
FBUEATE O RERE G EIN REE
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SEWEA L FERERBHE -

RRAB RN =IAR R ETE - AR
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Outstanding Outstanding

asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
Name of Former 1 January during during during during 31December  Exercise price
Directors Date of Grant 2022 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2022 per Share

R-B=Z=% R=B=-Z%§

—A—AH +=-A=+-H
AESHE REAH HATE FARYE FrTHE FRAEHE FREXY HATE BROKE
Mr. Yang Eric Qing 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
("Mr. Yang")" —ET-ME-A=+H 0.16714303% L
BERE(BEED"Y 5January 2015 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
—E-n%—-AEH 28T TT
8 January 2016 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
—E-X"F—-RAN\H 55068 7T
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
Frank (Mr.Ng")¥ —Z-W&-F—-+AH 016714303 % L
HER%AE 5 January 2015 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
(MEE£ED" —T-RF—-ATA 26TETT
8 January 2016 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
—T-X"F-RANH 55068 7T

Total 73,062,128 - - - - 73,062,128

ey
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Yang resigned as chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020.

(2) Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019 and served as the director and chief executive officer of
AGAE with effect from 9 August 2019. Mr. Ng also resigned as a
consultant of the Company with effect from 30 June 2020.

Summary of the Share Option Schemes

Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose and Participants

The purpose of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to give
employees of the Group an opportunity to acquire a personal stake in
the Company and help motivate such employees to optimize their
performance and efficiency, and to retain the employees whose
contributions are important to the long term growth and profitability
of our Group. The options entitle eligible employees to obtain existing
issued shares in the Company from Blink Milestones Limited and will

not involve the Company issuing any new shares.

Exercise Price

The exercise price under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is RMB0.1276 per share (adjusted for capitalisation issue, on the basis
of RMBO0.12756). Please refer to “Appendix IV — Statutory and General
Information” of the prospectus of the Company dated 18 June 2014 (the
“Prospectus”] for further information.

Vesting and Exercise of Option

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) subject to the Employee
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested in four equal annual
instalments, with the first instalment representing twenty five percent
(25%) of the Shares subject to the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme vesting on the first anniversary of the date of listing (the
“Listing”] of the Company's Shares on the Stock Exchange [i.e. 30
June 2014) (the “Listing Date”), and an additional instalment vesting
on each anniversary thereafter, subject to the fulfilment of the
grantee’s performance target for the full calendar year before the
vesting determined by the Company being fulfilled and the grantee’s
continuing to be an employee of the Company and being in compliance
with the terms and conditions of the option award agreement dated
20 February 2014 through each such date.
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Maximum Numbers of Shares

The maximum numbers of Shares in respect of which options under
the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may be granted is
25,009,600 Shares. On 7 March 2014, 25,009,600 share options (adjusted
for capitalization issue) were granted to 29 key employees of the
Company by Blink Milestones Limited, after that no further options
were granted. As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue in respect of which options may be granted
under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is nil, representing
0% of the Shares in issue as at that date. The total number of share
options available for grant under the Employee Pre-IPO Share
Scheme as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 was nil and nil,
respectively. The particulars of the options granted under the
Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in “Appendix IV
— Statutory and General Information” of the Prospectus.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant under the Employee
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, there is no
specific limit on the maximum number of options which may be
granted to a single eligible participant.

Life of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective from 7
March 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme as of the date of this
annual report is around 1 year.

Outstanding Share Options
The options under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were
fully exercised or forfeited in 2019.

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose and Participants

The purpose of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
give senior management of the Company [the “Participants”) an
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in our Company and help
motivate such Participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the Participants whose contributions
are important to the long-term growth and profitability of our Group.

The principal terms of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are substantially the same as the terms of the Employee
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme except that:

(a)  the exercise price under the Management Pre-IPQO Share Option

Scheme is US$0.16714303 per Share (adjusted for capitalisation
issue, on the basis of US$0.34398035); and
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(b)  twenty five percent (25%) of the Shares subject to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested on
the first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining Shares
subject to the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
be vested in 36 equal monthly instalments with the first
instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of the
grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting on
each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date thereafter. The options may be exercised upon
the Listing.

Maximum Numbers of Shares

The maximum numbers of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is 50,042,553 Shares, representing approximately 4.64% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report. The total number of share
options available for grant under the Management Pre-IPO Share
Scheme as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 was nil and nil,
respectively.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant under the Management
Pre-IP0O Share Option Scheme

Under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, there is no
specific limit on the maximum number of options which may be
granted to a single eligible Participant.

Life of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective for a
period of 10 years from 7 March 2014 and the remaining life of the
scheme as of the date of this annual report is around 1 year.

Outstanding Share Options

As at 31 December 2022, 50,042,554 share options were granted to
certain members of our senior management and Directors under the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, of which 3,822,624 share
options were exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 46,219,930
options, representing approximately 4.29% of the issued Shares as at

31 December 2022 and as at the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed, none of the options so far granted have been

exercised, forfeited and/or lapsed.
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Details of the movements of options under the Management Pre-IPO EEBBEAAREEMERETEET
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022 are EREREE T -+ -_F=+—
set out in the table below and in Note 36 to the consolidated financial BIEFENEeSFBEEHN TR REAH
statements: TR M 36 -

Outstanding

Outstanding

asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat
1January during  during  during during 31 December Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant 2022 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2022 per Share
R-B==% R=Z=-Z=%
—A—H FR FR FAN  FA TZA=+-H
BREA BB HATHE B’ Cigd 2 A% i RAT B BRTHEE
Former Directors
AES
Mr. Yang"” 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
BrE" —E-E-A=-+H 0.16714303% T
Mr. Ng? 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
£ —E-mE-A=+H 0.16714303% 7T
Former Senior
Management
AERERE
Mr. Zhang Peng"” 20 February 2014 4,517,802 - - - - 4,517,802 US$0.16714303
RHS LAY —E-mE-A=+A 0.16714303% 7T
Total 46,219,930 - - - - 46,219,930
st
Notes: Mfsx -
(1) Mr. Yang resigned as chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer (1) BEAEBEHITESESERF  AQFITH
of the Company and an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020. BEEHTEE B_T_TF A=

(2)

(3)

Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019. Mr. Ng also resigned as a consultant of the Company with
effect from 30 June 2020.

Mr. Zhang Peng resigned as the president of the Company with effect
from 25 May 2019. Mr. Zhang Peng also resigned as a consultant of the
Company with effect from 30 June 2020.
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2014 Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The Company adopted the 2014 Share Option Scheme on 19
November 2014 (the “Adoption Date"). The 2014 Share Option Scheme
is valid for a period of 10 years from the grant date of each option. The
purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide key
employees, directors or officers of the Group (the “Eligible Persons”)
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. The 2014 Share Option Scheme provides the
Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible

Persons.

Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director or officer of any member
of the Group whom the Board or its delegatel(s] considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group is

entitled to be offered and granted options.

Number of Shares Available for Issue under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes is 78,400,000, being no more than 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the Adoption Date. Such scheme mandate limit may be
refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meetings and/or such other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time. However, the overall limit on the
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2014
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue

from time to time.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 May 2016,
the Shareholders approved the proposed refreshment of the scheme
mandate, so that the Company could grant further options under the
2014 Share Option Scheme for subscription of up to a total of
78,719,037 additional Shares. Further details are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 12 April 2016.
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Maximum Entitlement to Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted and to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company to
each Eligible Person (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant
of options to an Eligible Person which would result in the aggregate
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to separate approval of the

Shareholders.

Performance Target

The Board or its delegate(s] may at their sole discretion specify, as
part of the terms and conditions of any option, any performance
targets or conditions that must be satisfied before the option can be

exercised.

Life of the 2014 Share Option Scheme
The 2014 Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years
from 19 November 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme as of

the date of this annual report is around 1 year and 8 months.

Determination of the Exercise Price

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the greater of: (a) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the grant
date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the grant date.

The option period is to be determined and notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making an offer, and shall not expire later
than ten years from the grant date of the 2014 Share Option Scheme.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised in general. However, at the time of granting any
option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant
subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without
limitation) those in relation to the minimum period of the options to
be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved as the Board

may determine in its absolute discretion.
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Vesting Period of the Share Options ERRENFBR

(1) 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable with (1) MEBREMN2D%EEREBHHE —
effect from the first anniversary of the grant date; EBEEE QRSB R TIT6

(2)  the second 25% of the share options shall vest and be 2) BRESFE -_#25%EERE
exercisable with effect from the second anniversary of the grant mE—_FARFERBRLEBE RA T
date; Rk

(3)  the third 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable (3] MBIREMSE=#25% B E L B 5
with effect from the third anniversary of the grant date; and MEZEBEFEAREEBRAT

TE R

(4)  the remaining 25% of the share options shall vest and be (4) BEREN& T25%E 8% E B 8m
exercisable with effect from the fourth anniversary of the grant FOERAFEERERB R TIT
date. fiz »

Exercise of Option 1TREERE

The options may be exercised up to 25% of the Shares for each year BRETAAREERERL BBAESTS

after the first anniversary of the grant date of the share option for four —RAFRBENFANSFENTE RS E

consecutive years. A% 19 #925% ©

Payment on Acceptance of Share Option BERERERGA VAR

An amount of RMB1.00 must be paid as consideration for the grant of GEBATAZINAREI00TIERE

the share options and such payment must be made within 20 business HERENRE ZHXBEEHREERA

days from the date the share option grant offer is made to the Eligible TRAEHIE IR R B4 B B EET 2018

Person. EERAANZ -
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Movements in the Share Options/Outstanding Share Options

Details of the movements of the options under the 2014 Share Option

Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the

table below:

ERERE SR TRERE
ZE-OFEREAIETERERE
E-TET-—HF+-A=+—HIFEHN

EHHERRTE

Outstanding Outstanding
asat  Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
1 January during during during during 31 December  Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant Exercisable period 2022 theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 2022 per Share
—E-CE —E-CE
-A-H +ZA=1+-H
REA RHBH EEagid:il HATE FARE FATE FREHE FRAN HRTE SRORE
Director
Bz
Ms. Xiao 17 May 2016 17 May 2016- 100,000 - - - - 100,000 HK$3.684
Yundan 16 May 2026
BERRT ZZT—FRA+tH ZE—FRATtHE 348LE T
ZEZRFRATAA
Former Directors
HEZE
Mr. Yang[H 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
BE£E" -—T-Rf-ARA -T-A4¥-HEAZ 26TET
“Z-R%-AMWA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 - 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
“E-RE-ANB  ZE-RE-ANBE 550658 T
ZERE-AtH
Mr. Ng” 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
BEE" ZF-1§-ARA ZZ-A%-fEAZ 26THT
ZT-R%-AmA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 - 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
ZE-~5-ANR ZZ-~F5-AN\RE 550658 7T
“E-R¥-AtH
Employees of the Company
FRAES
5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 18,223,839 - - - - 18,223,839 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
ZZ-5§-BER ZE-RF-ARAZE 2678
“Z-R%-AMWA
9 July 2015 9 July 2015 - 12,407,500 - - —(1,887,500) 10,520,000 HK$4.402
8 July 2025
“Z-R%tANA  ZE-REtANAE 4402 T
“ZZhELANR
17 May 2016 17 May 2016 - 600,000 - - - - 600,000 HK$3.684
16 May 2026
ZE-AERATEA ZE-AERATEAZ 348LETT
ZEZRERATAH
7 September 2016 7 September 2016 - 1,190,000 - - - - 1,190,000 HK$3.95
6 September 2026
ZE-~ENALA ZE-AENAtLAZE 39587
ZZZRENRKA
28 April 2017 28 April 2017 - 120,000 - - - - 120,000 HK$2.886
27 April 2027
—2+% ZE—tEMAZt\BE 28868 T
mA=+/\H “E-rEMAZTEA
Total 64,001,339 - - —(1,887,500) 62,113,839
@5
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Yang resigned as chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020.

(2) Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019. Mr. Ng also resigned as a consultant of the Company with
effect from 30 June 2020.

As at 31 December 2022, 84,840,000 options have been granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme, and 8,655,400 options have been
forfeited, 12,767,750 options have lapsed and 1,303,011 options have
been exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 62,113,839 options,
representing approximately 5.76% of the issued Shares as at 31
December 2022. No share option was granted in 2022. Save for the
above, none of the options so far granted have been exercised,
forfeited and/or lapsed. The total number of Shares available for issue
under the 2014 Share Option Scheme is 134,392,876 Shares,
representing approximately 12.47% of the issued Shares as at the

date of this annual report.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate
of the 2014 Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2022 and 31
December 2022 was 72,279,037 and 72,279,037, respectively.

Valuation of Share Options
Details of the valuation of share options granted are set out in Note 36

to the consolidated financial statements.
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ZENA=ZtHRBREXR -

RZEZZF+ZA=1+—8  RE=
T — 04 BB AR R 5 8 2 X 84,840,000
1 B BX A& > E 7R 8,655,40010 B8 A% #Z B
W8 W 12,767,75010 BB R B B K W &
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62,113,839 BERE M RITEHE - R =
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The Company adopted a share award scheme on 19 May 2017 [the
“Share Award Scheme”).

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the interests of
eligible persons with those of the Group through ownership of Shares,
dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the increase
in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain eligible
participants to the Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme
Participants”] to make contributions to the long-term growth and
profits of the Group.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme

Any individual, being an employee, director or officer of any members
of the Group or any affiliate (including nominees and/or trustees of
any employee benefit trust established for them) who the Board or its
delegate(s] considers, in their sole discretion, to have contributed or

will contribute to the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme (excluding awarded Shares which have
been forfeited in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will not
exceed 7% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Share Award Scheme (i.e. 15 May 2017], being
55,084,636 Shares (the “Share Award Scheme Limit"). If the Company
awards any Shares which are to be newly issued, it shall be subject to
an annual limit of 3% of the Shares in issue as at the date of each
annual general meeting of the Company. The total number of award
Shares available for further grant under the Share Award Scheme is
17,071,153 Shares, representing approximately 1.58% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

Under the Share Award Scheme, there is no specific limit on the
maximum number of award Shares which may be granted to a single

eligible participant.

Annual Report 2022

ARBRZZE—ELFAATNLARHRK
B (RO BB -

R ZBIETEIBVE B

B EBAEEBRN AR BRER
H A B AR 1F 89 9k &SR A B 15
BE FAERSEENMNEEAKHE
et — 20 A B KB B ZE A &
rERZ2EE((IRORBAEBEE))
RASENREZRIEFNIEHER -

RORBStEISRE

EFERARRULBYMERRAD
MR AAEEELERZAL ThH
7 S 4 fo] B B 20 ) o 4F 1o B 44
(BAEA A AR/ o5 5 38 37 0 2 1 R B
FRERNFRA)NER EFXEH
WA -

BFREROHAEHLER

RBERMDEER TR EOME RS (T
BREERER D EEZEL KA RE R
MIBEALTSHBBRKG EEE
HKMBEBHEI —E—tFRA+HA)E
BT D A2 A9 7% (BN 55,084,636 B A% 17)
(B EBE LR - WARQAEE
ERFEITRG  MARRKRARRER
REFREAHPCEHITRHINOFE £
RAR - RIERGREEFETE— T
FRORR 1D 82BN 428K & 17,071,153 % f& 15
MRAARFRBE B EITRMDA1.58% °

FRSRENKKER

RIS EEE A TR RETE—A
ERSEENEBDRGHE FREEE
R -



EEZRS (B8)

Vesting of Awards

The Board or its delegate(s] may from time to time while the Share
Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the
award Shares to be vested.

Consideration

Nil consideration is required to be paid by the grantees for the grant
of award Shares under the Share Award Scheme.

Remaining Life of the Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of:

—  the end of the award period (i.e. the period of ten years
commencing on the date on which the conditions of the Share
Award Scheme is fulfilled) except in respect of any non-vested
awarded Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance

with the provisions of the Share Award Scheme; and

— such date of early termination as determined by the Board.
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Movements in the Share Award Scheme

The table below sets out the details of the award Shares granted or to
be granted pursuant to the Share Award Scheme during the year

ended 31 December 2022:

A% {0 2= [BY 5t 21 88 F

TRAEREBEE-ZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—
At FERERGEZESIEE LB
FEREMEBERMFS

Weighted average
closing price
Asat  Granted Vested  Cancelled Lapsed Asat immediately
1 January during during during during 31 December before the vesting
Grantees Date of Grant 2022 theyear  theyear theyear  theyear 2022 Vesting Period date (HK$)
2ERE
1 i REAtmE
= B —8-cf FaUHE
EEA RHAH -A-B FRRE FAEE FAZ#E FrXR tZA=t-8 BEH (#7)
Directors
Mr. Lu Jingsheng 30 December 2021 11,000,000 — 5,500,000 - - 5,900,000 50% was vested on the date of grant and 041
["Mr. Lu") 25% will be vested on each anniversary
date in the next two years
BERAESE ZF--% 0% B R& L A BEERERARBEN
(MEsxs)) TZA=TH SEETHEBLY
Mr. Liu Xueming 30 December 2021 1,125,000 - 562,500 - - 562,500 50% was vested on the date of grant and 0.41
["Mr. Liu") 25% will be vested on each anniversary
date in the next two years
HEREL —F=- S%ERRIL A AEE KRB ARBEN
T8%£)) TZA=+H BEBEAEEL%
Mr.Wang Rungun 30 December 2021 500,000 - 125,000 - - 375,000 Four years from the date of grant, 25% on 041
each anniversary date
IRELE —Zz- ERHAMRENER §EEFA
TZA=tA BE2%
Ms. Xiao Yundan 1 January 2020 750,000 - 250,000 - - 500,000 Four years from the date of grant, 26% on 041
each anniversary date
BERRT 2% ERHAMRENER §EEFA
- H —H E%E 25%
Sub-total 13,375,000 — 6,437,500 - - 6,937,500
Pt
Five highest paid 30 December 2021 12,125,000 — 6,062,500 - - 6,062,500 50% was vested on the date of grantand 25% 0.41
individuals” will be vested on each anniversary date in
the next two years
T4REEMAL —2-—% S0%E R B B RSB R AR
TZA=tH BEEEREELY
Sub-total 12,125,000 — 6,062,500 - - 6,062,500
et
Employees 6 February 2018 250,000 - 250,000 - - 0 Fouryears fromthe date of grant, 25% on 255
eachanniversary date
3= ZE-N\% BRNAHRNER BEEEA
—“RAR~H FE2%
1 January 2020 1,500,000 - 500,000 - - 1,000,000 Fouryears from the date of grant, 25% on 041
each anniversary date
it b 32 ERHAMENER SEEFA
—A-H 58 25%
1 January 2021 707,868 - 404,694 - - 303,374 10% on the first day of each quarter 0.50
:gifa SREFENE-REE10%
30 December 2021 2,825,000 — 1,412,500 - - 1,412,500 50% was vested on the date of grant and 25% 041
will be vested on each anniversary date in
the next two years
“Ez-% S0%EREH A AEERERRRMED
TZA=+H BEEFAEEL%
30 December 2021 2,400,000 - 600,000 - - 1,800,000 Four years from the date of grant, 25% on 0.41
each anniversary date
—B--F ERHAMENER SEEFA
t-A=t8 BRI
Sub-Total 7,682,868 — 3,166,994 - - 4,515,874
N
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Note:

(1) Two of the five top-paid employees during 2022 was Mr. Lu and Mr. Liu,
whose interest in award Shares is disclosed under the "Directors”
section of the above table.

AGAE, being a principal subsidiary of the Company (as defined in
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules), has adopted the 2019 Equity Incentive
Plan [as amended on 30 December 2021) (the "AGAE Equity Incentive
Plan”). The AGAE Equity Incentive Plan shall be administered by a
committee designated by the board of directors of AGAE (the "AGAE
Committee”), or the board of AGAE itself (if no such committee is so
designated). Stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
restricted stock units and/or other stock-based awards may from
time to time be awarded pursuant to the terms of the AGAE Equity
Incentive Plan. The principal terms of the AGAE Equity Incentive Plan
are set out below:

Purpose

The purpose of the AGAE Equity Incentive Plan is to enable AGAE to
offer to its employees, officers, and directors of, and consultants to,
AGAE and its subsidiaries whose past, present and/or potential future
contributions to AGAE and its subsidiaries have been, are or will be
important to the success of AGAE, an opportunity to share monetarily
in the success of and/or acquire an equity interest in AGAE. The
various types of long-term incentive awards that may be provided
under the AGAE Equity Incentive Plan will enable AGAE to respond to
changes in compensation practices, tax laws, accounting regulations

and the size and diversity of its business.

Participants

Awards may be made or granted to employees, officers, directors and
consultants of AGAE or its subsidiaries who are deemed to have
rendered or to be able to render significant services to AGAE or its
subsidiaries and who are deemed to have contributed or to have the
potential to contribute to the success of AGAE or its subsidiaries and
which recipients are qualified to receive options under the regulations
governing Form S-8 registration statements under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended.

(1) ZEZ—_FRAEEFMATHES
MABELEERBCE  BEREER
MZREEFEENERIES] 8-

ARARIMEZENBAR(EER ETR
AIE17E)AGAEE M =T — N F IR #
BEE(ER_ZE-_—F+-_A=+
A 1{&5]) ([ AGAE % % % B 5+ &l |) - AGAE
PEE BNt Bl AAGAEE =& F £ 8
Z([AGAEZE &) KAGAEEE= g K &
(M EEDZEEG)ER - RIEAGAE
IR B AT B A RER - AT AR TR
BB AEE SREKRHO  ZRA
B AP BE A7 Koo EL A LA B 1 s EE R Y 88
Bh o AGAERR # i Bh 3T 81 1) = Z R R H 7]
W

B8y

AGAE IR # M B 5 8] § /£ © AGAERE 51 [
HEEE SHABEUARAGAEREWEB R
RIMEE REMBIREESE ED FACGAE
BRI N S ESAGAER IR IEM K &
MEEHACAERENBARMNBE ]
ER/SREERREE DL EERB
YAGAEM R I E B E 2 - IR JBAGAERR
EHEEETRERENSEERN R
BB SRS S AGAERE SAE B & H1E -
Bk @A UREEBRERSZ T
LR &S -

SME

= >°<

42 B AT 1 30X T AGAE S H B 8 A Al &Y
BE SRBE EENER MRS
AR BB A AL S MACAE S E I B 2 A
RUEEERBARKERSCEL ALY
AGAEL EfBRRIMAKIIIEH TR B
ERANAEBRE-N==FF%5Z%
(BEEFT)ETHRERS-8ELBRNR
DI R A A
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Total Number of Shares Available for Issue

The total number of shares of common stock of AGAE (the “Common
Stock”) reserved and available for issuance under the AGAE Equity
Incentive Plan shall be up to 3,763,305 shares of Common Stock (the
"AGAE Common Stocks”). The AGAE Common Stocks may consist, in
whole or in part, of authorized and unissued shares or treasury

shares.

As of 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the
total number of AGAE Common Stocks available for issuance under
the AGAE Equity Incentive Plan was 1,344,904 AGAE Common Stocks,
representing 3.5% of the total number of issued shares of AGAE. The
total number of share options/awards available for grant under the
AGAE Equity Incentive Plan as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December
2022 was 304,904 and 1,344,904, respectively.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

The AGAE Equity Incentive Plan does not specify the maximum
entitlement of each participant.

Exercise Period of Stock Options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the AGAE
Equity Incentive Plan during a period as determined by the AGAE
Committee. However, no stock option may be exercisable after the
expiration of ten years from the date of grant; provided, further, that
no incentive stock option granted to a person who, at the time of
grant, owns stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined
voting power of all classes of voting stock of AGAE (the "10%
Shareholder”) may be exercisable after the expiration of five years
from the date of grant.

Vesting Period
Stock Options

At such time or times and subject to such terms and conditions as
shall be determined by the AGAE Committee, the AGAE Committee
intends generally to provide that stock options be exercisable only in
installments, i.e. that they vest over time, typically over a two- to five-
year period. The AGAE Committee may waive such installment
exercise provisions at any time at or after the time of grant in whole
or in part, based upon such factors as the AGAE Committee

determines in its sole discretion.
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Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units
Subject to the restriction period, all or part of such restricted stock
shall become vested in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreement between AGAE and the holder of such restricted stock, or
such other documents as may be determined by the AGAE Committee,
setting forth the terms and conditions of an award.

Price of Shares

Stock Options

The exercise price per share of Common Stock purchasable under a
stock option shall be determined by the AGAE Committee at the time
of grant, provided, however, that the exercise price of a stock option
may not be less than 100% of the fair market value' on the date of
grant or, if greater, the par value of a share of Common Stock;
provided, further, that the exercise price of an incentive stock option
granted to a 10% Shareholder may not be less than 110% of the fair
market value on the date of grant.

Stock Appreciation Rights

Stock appreciation rights shall be exercisable as shall be determined
by the AGAE Committee and set forth in the agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a related right shall be exercisable
only to the same extent as the related option, subject to the
limitations, if any, imposed by the code with respect to related
incentive stock options, and provided that the holder surrenders the
applicable portion of the related stock option upon exercise of the
related right. Upon exercise of all or a portion of a stock appreciation
right and, if applicable, surrender of the applicable portion of the
related stock option, the participants shall be entitled to receive a
number of shares of Common Stock equal to the SAR Value divided by
the fair market value on the date the stock appreciation right is

exercised or, at AGAE's election, cash for the value so calculated.

Unless otherwise required by any applicable provision of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 or any regulations issued thereunder, fair market value means,
as of any given date: (i) if the Common Stock is listed on a national securities
exchange or is traded over-the-counter and last sale information is available,
unless otherwise determined by the AGAE Committee, the last sale price of the
Common Stock in the principal trading market for the Common Stock on such
date, as reported by the exchange or by such source that the AGAE Committee
deems reliable, as the case maybe; or [ii] if the fair market value of the
Common Stock cannot be determined pursuant to clause (i), such price as the
AGAE Committee shall determine, in good faith.
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B
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Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units
The AGAE Committee may determine the exercise price to be paid by

the holder of restricted stock or restricted stock units awarded.

Remaining Life of the AGAE Equity Incentive Plan

Unless terminated by the board of directors of AGAE, the AGAE Equity
Incentive Plan shall continue to remain effective until such time as
no further awards may be granted and all awards granted under
the AGAE Equity Incentive Plan are no longer outstanding.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, grants of incentive stock options may
be made only during the ten-year period beginning on the effective
date of the AGAE Equity Incentive Plan, i.e. 19 December 2018.

2 PRl B 10 3N 2 IR il AR 0 EE i
AGAEZ B @ n] B & % 1 X IR il i 15 =k
XBRHIBROEMNFEBEARTEZAHITE
Eo

QHGAEHQ%;%ED%T%JHSE%TE

B JE (HAGAE®E = & 4% |E - AGAE R # &
BB EER AETHELAW
4% [ K2 AR R AGAE BS #E % b 51 81 1% 1Y
FrEgE2BIEAL-BEH LR
TE v RUED B8 PR {2 AT 75 AGAE PR #E B B 5t
BERBHE - NF+_A+ A
BB+ FHMAREL -

The movements of stock options during the year ended 31 December

2022 are as follows:

REE-_ZE-__F+-A=+—HIEF
EWEREZSHINT

Outstanding Outstanding
asof  Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed as of
Grantee/Category Exercise 1January duringthe duringthe duringthe duringthe 31 December
of Grantee Date of Grant Price Exercisable Period Vesting Period 2022 year year year year 2022
8z 8z
—E-CE —B-Cf
-A-H tZB=1-8
RBA/RBEAEN BHBH TEE THEAH 2 L HATHE EARY EAGTHR EAEE FAXR ESiN:d
Directors/Former Directors
B3/ /nEs
Mr. Lyle Berman 20 September 2019 US$5.66 20 September 2019 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
19 September 2029 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
Lyle Bermant 4 ZE-AFAAZTH 566 ZE-NFAAZTHE EXLAHEHNE G
“EAEAATAA EFHBED%
Mr. Bradley Berman 20 September 2019 US$5.66 20 September 2019 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
19 September 2029 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
BradleyBermant .  —ZF—-AENA=1H 566X ZE-NFAAZTHE EXLAHEHNE G
“EAEAATAA EFHBEL%
Mr. Benjamin Oehler 20 September 2019 US$5.66 20 September 2019 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
19 September 2029 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
BenjaminOehler &4 —ZF—-hENA=1H 566X ZE-NFAAZTHE EXRLAHEHNE G
“EAEAATAA EFHBEL%
Mr. Joseph Lahti 20 September 2019 US$5.66 20 September 2019 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
19 September 2029 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
Joseph Latifi & “E-AEARZTH S66ET ZE-NFAAZTHEE EREABEHNE &
“EAEAATAA EFHBEL%
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung 20 September 2019 US$5.66 20 September 2019 to Four years from the date of 20,000 - - - - 20,000
Frank 19 September 2029 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
EERLE “E-AEARZTH S66ET ZE-NFAAZTHEE EREABEHNE &

“EAEAATAA
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

ES2RS (B)
Outstanding Outstanding
asof Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed as of
Grantee/Category Exercise 1January duringthe duringthe duringthe during the 31 December
of Grantee Date of Grant Price Exercisable Period Vesting Period 2022 year year year year 2022
EE EE
—g-CE —®-CE
-A-H tZA=t-8
RRA/RRARN RABH THE THEEE BEH WATE FARY FATE FREHE FAAN W ARATE
Ms. Chen Yinghua 1 July 2020 UsS$2.11 1 JUW 2020 to Fouryears from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
1 July 2030 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
REELL “Z2-RF+A-H WET ZE-FFtA-BZ EREAHEHNE 5
“EZFELA-H BEHBED%
Mr. Jerry Lewin 6 May 2021 US$2.48 6 May 2021 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
6 May 2031 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
JerryLewin & & ZZZ-ERAKRA 2UBET EREAMEHNE 5
BEHBEL
Mr. Lu Jingsheng 6 May 2021 US$2.48 6 May 2021 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
6 May 2031 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
BERERE “Z--£RARH 2U8ET —FZ-FRARAE EREBHEHNE 5
E=—FRAKA BEHBED%
Mr. Li Yangyang 6 May 2021 US$2.48 6 May 2021 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - - - 40,000
6 May 2031 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
HEBEE ZZ--FEARH 2UBET —EZ-FRANAZE ERLBHEHNE G
“Z=-FRAKA BEHEEL%
Ms. Wu (Claire] Libing 6 May 2021 US$2.48 6 May 2021 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - -~ 30,000"  10,000" 0
12 October 2022 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
REALL —Z--FAARA 2831 “E--FRAARE ERLBEEHNE 5
CZCCETATZE BFHEB 2%
13 July 2021 US$2.48 13 July 2021 to Four years from the date of 200,000 - - - - 200,000
13 July 2031 grant, 23% on each
anniversary date
“R--FtAT=H UBET = EREBHEHNE 5
BEHEB 2%
Mr. Lyle Berman 11 November 2021 US$2.21 11 November 2021 to Four years from the date of 50,000 - - - - 50,000
11 November 2031 grant, 23% on each
anniversary date
Lyle Berman %t 4 —R--%+-A+-H LIET ZFZ-F+-A+-AEZ ARLAHRHNE 5
“E=-%t-A1-R BEHBED%
Ms. Chen Yinghua 11 November 2021 US$2.21 11 November 2021 to Four years from the date of 75,000 - - - - 75,000
11 November 2031 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
REELL SEoFt-A-B NER CE-F+-A1-RE AREAMEHNE 8
“F=-Ft-At-H AFAGEIY
Senior Management 20 September 2019 US$5.66 20 September 2019 to Four years from the date of 100,000 - - - X 100,000
and Employees 19 September 2029 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
BREEBREE —T-NFhA-TRH S66ET —E-NENAZTHE ERLBHEHNE G
“RCAEARTAR BERSEL%
21 November 2019 US$4.09 21 November 2019 to Four years from the date of 935,000 - - 85,0007 305,000 545,000

“T-AEt-At-R

LOET

20 November 2029

ZF-hEFt-A-t-RHZ
“ZoAF+-AZ1H

grant, 25% on each

anniversary date
ERLRHEGNE §E

BFABELY
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EETTRS(B)
Outstanding Outstanding
asof Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed as of
Grantee/Category Exercise 1January duringthe duringthe duringthe during the 31 December
of Grantee Date of Grant Price Exercisable Period Vesting Period 2022 year year year year 2022
BZ BEZ
—g-CF —g-CF
-fA-H TZA=t-8H
ARA/RBRAEN HEAH TEE TEAHE SEH HRTR EAkE FATR FAEH FA%N HARTE
21 November 2019 US$4.09 21 November 2019 to Four years from the date of 170,000 - - - - 170,000
19 February 2024 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
ZE-NEF-AZT-B  L00ET ZE-AET-AZT-BZ EREEBHEHNE G
“R-mEZATAR BERBEL%
21 November 2019 US$4.09 21 November 2019 to Four years from the date of 270,000 - - — 270,000 0
19 July 2022 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
ZE-NEF-AZT-B  L00ET ZE-AET-AZT-BZ EREEBHEHNE G
ZRZZEHAAE BERBEL%
1 July 2020 US$2.11 1 July 2020 to Four years from the date of 40,000 - - 10,0007 30,000 0
1 July 2030 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
ZZ-ZEEA-H MERD ZF-FFtA-AZ ERHBHEHNE §E
“2Z%5+EA-H BFEEE L%
6 August 2020 US$2.17 6 August 2020 to Four years from the date of 120,000 - - - - 120,000
6 August 2030 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
ZZ-ZE\ARH LIET ZEZZF\AREE ERHBHEHNE §E
“Z=ZF/\AKRH BFEEE L%
11 November 2021 US$2.21 11 November 2021 to Four years from the date of 25,000 - - - - 25,000
11 November 2031 grant, 25% on each
anniversary date
ZEC-Ef-A+-H FER ZFZ-F+-A+-BZ ARLAHEHNF G
“R=-%+-A+-H BERBEL%
Total £ 5t 2,365,000 - — 125000 615,000 1,625,000
Notes: B
(1) The term of Ms. Wu (Claire] Libing ("Ms. Wu") as a director of AGAE expired on (1]  REKZ T (R %Z L)) {FRBACAEE £ &) (F H

13 July 2022. On that date, 30,000 unvested stock options granted to her were
cancelled and 10,000 stock options were fully vested. Subsequently, the said
10,000 stock options vested were forfeited given that such options were not
exercised by 12 October 2022.

(2)

In connection with the resignation of a senior management on 26 October 2022,

85,000 stock unvested stock options granted to him were cancelled on that

date.

(3)

granted to him were cancelled.

An employee resigned on 12 August 2021 and 10,000 unvested stock options
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS (B)

Number of Restricted Stock/Restricted Stock Units (RS/RSUs)

ERHRS/ZRARGEMLHE
Closing Price Exercised/
of the Shares Granted Vested Cancelled Lapsed Asat
Immediately before Asat1 January during during during during  31December
Name Date of Grant the Date of Grant  Vesting Period 2022 the year the year the year the year 2022
SERLAHN RZB-Z% £ RZB-Zf
#e RHEH RAKTE SEH -B-8 FRRE E/BE EREH EREN TZRZ1-H
Former Director
HES
Ms. Wy 16 August 2021 US$200  Veston 1-year anniversary of date of grant 80,000" - 80,000" - - 0
‘it “EC-ENATAA WET RELEER-BFZEEE
Note: Mz -

(1)

AGAE Common Stocks were granted to Ms. Wu when she was appointed as the
chief executive officer and general counsel of AGAE on 13 July 2021, which
were subject to transfer and forfeiture restrictions. Such restrictions were
originally scheduled to lapse in their entirety on 16 August 2022 and the AGAE
Common Stocks granted to Ms. Wu were vested on the same date. The vesting
of such AGAE Common Stocks was accelerated to 18 February 2022 in
connection with Ms. Wu's resignation on that date.

(1

RULTtMR-_T-_—F+tA+-HEZTA
AGAETT B 48 & K 48 0% 12 B 9 I & B AGAE &
M ACAEL MWk A B 8 E KL IRIR & - 32
ERHREN _ZET-_—_FN\A+NEB2EE
Mo MR LZ L EENAGAEE BN R B 8
B SACAEE BRANEBRARZIR =%
ZZFZATN\BBEEMNREREZA -

“ECCFEFER



EEZRS (B8)

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the

date of this annual report were:

Executive Director

Mr. Lu Jingsheng (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Xueming (acting Chairman)"

REE-_ZE-_—_F+-A=+—HIEF

EREEAEHAM EFOT -
WTES

BT A 28 A (7T B B L)
FNITES

BB (REEE)"

Mr. Li Yangyang" E=HEEEY

Mr. Liu Jiang® 25T

Ms. Gao Liping SE¥LL

Mr. Hua Yumin EFRESE

Ms. Yu Bing" Fokz "

Ms. Wang Ruyuan® TaEz+®

Mr. Wang Runqun' THB LY

Ms. Xiao Yundan'”! HEMLZLE"
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUENITES
Mr. Ma Shaohua BogERLE

Mr. Zhang Li BEhkHE

Mr. Guo Yushi HEALE

Mr. Dai Bing® &k

Notes: B sT -

(1) Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as the acting chairman of the Board with (M ZBERAEEREZELREETSREERE -

effect from 30 September 2022.

(2) Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with (2)

effect from 31 March 2022, and resigned as a non-executive Director due
to his other work commitments with effect from 30 September 2022.

(3) Mr. Liu Jiang resigned as a non-executive Director due to his other work (3)

commitments with effect from 30 September 2022.
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(4) Ms. Yu Bing was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.
(5) Ms. Wang Ruyuan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect

from 16 September 2022.

(6) Mr. Wang Runqun was elected as a non-executive Director with effect
from 16 September 2022.

(7) Ms. Xiao Yundan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from
16 September 2022.
(8) Mr. Dai Bing was appointed as an independent non-executive Director

with effect from 18 November 2022.

Biographical Details of Directors

Executive Director

Lu Jingsheng, aged 44, has been an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company since 1 May 2021. Mr. Lu was an
independent non-executive Director from 30 June 2020 to 1 May 2021.
He holds a bachelor of economics degree in international business
administration from the University of International Business and
Economics, and has the qualifications of American Certified Public
Accountant, Chinese Certified Public Accountant and fund practice
From February 2013 to June 2018, he served as a director of Zhejiang
Sunriver Culture Co., Ltd* UNIFRXICAMDEBRAR] and the
responsible person for the Beijing region of Xiamen XTone Animation
Co., Ltd* (EFI¥i@EN2HBRAF]). From October 2001 to October
2010, he served as the audit manager at the audit department of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd
Beijing Branch (EE)FE XK@ MEHMBERIFILRSFT) and a
senior auditor at the audit department of Deloitte’s Boston Branch in
the United States. Mr. Lu has also been a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, including but not limited to AGAE (Nasdag:
AGAE]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Non-Executive Directors

Liu Xueming, aged 37, has been a non-executive Director since 6 May
2021. Mr. Liu has been the acting chairman of the Board since 30
September 2022. Mr. Liu has served as the chairman of Ruian Yuyue
Technology Company Limited* nZmFREHIBREFEAT] since
December 2016. From 2015 to 2016, Mr. Liu was a senior manager at
the legal department of China National Native Produce and Animal
By-Products Import & Export Corporation* [FE T EHE#E T OEAR
7l), a subsidiary of the China National Cereals, Qils and Foodstuffs
Corporation. From June 2014 to 2015, Mr. Liu was a manager at the
governmental affairs department of Procter & Gamble (China) Ltd.*
E2(FE)ERAR]). Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor of laws in
international economic law from the University of International
Business and Economics ("UIBE") in June 2008, a master of laws in
international commercial law from the Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam
in July 2009 and a doctor of philosophy in international law from the
UIBE in June 2014.

Gao Liping, aged 61, has been a non-executive Director since 4
November 2021. Ms. Gao has been a director of Aimer Co., Ltd.* (B&
A& EBRAR]) ("Aimer”) (stock code: 603511.SH) since January 2017,
the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Ms.
Gao has over 38 years’ experience in accounting and finance. She was
a vice president of finance of Aimer from August 1995 to December
2016, an accounting supervisor of Beijing Wangma Computer
Corporation* (At R EFFEFEAR A F]) from March 1993 to July 1995 and
a general ledger accountant (#2BR&5T) of the 5th Factory of Beijing
Automation Instrumentation Co., Ltd.* (HERBABMEERAR) from
December 1983 to February 1993. Ms. Gao obtained a bachelor of
industrial enterprise accounting degree from Renmin University of
China in July 1990 and a master of business administration (finance)
degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in July 2014.

Annual Report 2022

FERTES

2R V- B S -_—FAAAH
BEFENTES 4L =T ==
FLA=-ZTHAREFESSREER -
AEEB T —R"FT_ABETE
EMFRBBEREERGERE - K=
E-—HAFEZT - "F BEELERT
PERITEEEELOLAT(ATREE
BEERAAMKEBAR MERLNS
BB - R_FE—NFXAE=-ZE—1
FRAREQETEZ(PRH)BRAF
M EBAMHERE - B EER T
NERABEBSHINSEEL 5 K2 ([HH
REXBDBEBEEEZES2S2 L84
RZZEZNF L ABESNBHENES
AEBFEBEHELLIEZBELTSEM AR
ZE-IFRNAEBSEIMNEE REBEER
R BB

EBY Vm - B-_ZEZ-—F+—AmMWm
AREFIDTES -mLTAEZT—
+tF-ABREFERROBRAT(E
BD(RZERME:603511SH)ESH Hi
DELEESFRGHA LM -mLLtRg
SR EEEBISFELER A —
AMNEFNAZ_ZT—RE+_AET
EENVBKEEE - B—hWh=F=A1
E-NNAFEAEFLERTHEKE
ARAMEHEERE - NAN=ZF+=A
ZE-ANAZFE_AEFLEREBEESR
ABNARESF BX IR -SSR
tAESHFRARRKETIENESE
B4afg PR _E-—NFLAEESE
BREXABIHER (/B LTEM0-



EEZRS (B8)

Hua Yumin, aged 44, has been a non-executive Director since 4
November 2021. Mr. Hua has over 20 years’ experience in corporate
finance and investment. He has been a chairman of the investment
committee of Liuzhou Dongtou Venture Capital Management Co.,
Ltd.* (WIINERIGBIZEISE BB R AR since August 2018. From May
2007 to July 2018, he was a board secretary and investment manager
of Shunli Ban Information Service Co., Ltd.* (IEF|##= 2 BRI 1D B BR
A7) (formerly known as Qinghai Mingjiao Co., Ltd.* (F/&BABRH
BRRAA]) (stock code: 000606.57), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. From April 2002 to April 2007, he was an investment
manager of Tianjin Teda Venture Capital Corporation Limited* (K)#Zz
ERIBRERM AR AR]). Mr. Hua obtained a bachelor of economics
degree from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in July 2002
and a joint master’'s degree in international trade and economic
relations from Nankai University and Flinders University in October
2005. He further obtained a master of business administration degree
from China Europe International Business School in October 2014.

Yu Bing, aged 42, has been a non-executive Director since 16
September 2022. She has held various positions in Hevol Holding
Group Limited* (FBMZERXSEE AR AR ("Hevol Holding”) and its
subsidiaries including manager, director and deputy general manager
of the human resources administration department since January
2014. From November 2017 to August 2022, Ms. Yu was a legal
representative of Shenyang Hevol Jiarui Real Estate Development
Limited* (Z5FARInEERZEBR A R]). Since September 2018,
Ms. Yu has also been a director of both Guizhou Furuiying Information
Consulting Limited* [BEM@IHAEEBBER AT and Guizhou
Hevol Fengying Property Management Limited* [&/NMBAL BT
AT Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor of science degree in
commercial information system from the Northeast Electric Power
University in December 2005.
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Wang Ruyuan, aged 44, has been a non-executive Director since 16
September 2022. She served Tencent and TOM Company (TOMA &])
successively and served as TMT industry analyst in Haitong Securities
Co., Ltd. from December 2007 to July 2011. From July 2011 to October
2014, she served as core researcher and fund manager in Baoying
Fund Management Limited* (BERESERBRA
2014, Ms. Wang founded Shanghai Trend Capital LTD.* [Lf?ﬁ‘ﬁ&ﬁ
EIBEPR AT and acted as the executive director and legal

representative of the company. She graduated from University of

In November

Warwick in England with a professional background in computer in
2003.

Wang Runqun, aged 42, has been a non-executive Director since 16
September 2022. He has held various positions in the Group including
product manager, department manager, director (4225) and general
manager of the department responsible for the card and board games
related business since he joined the Group in April 2005. From
October 2016 to September 2018, Mr. Wang served as the general
manager of Beijing Boyue Ledong Technology Limited* (1t 5= {815 4%

BHEERAF]) and Beijing Yigu Hucai Technology Limited* (Jb R Z5i
B BB AT, being companies jointly formed between the
Group and Alibaba Group Holding Limited (Stock Code: 9988), where
he led a team in relation to the research and operation of competitive
card and board games and leisure product on the Alipay platform.
Since January 2021, Mr. Wang has been the vice president of the
Group, primarily responsible for the operation of the mind sports
business. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor degree from the Shanghai
Ocean University in July 2003 and a master of business administration

from Renmin University of China in July 2011.

Xiao Yundan, aged 37, has been a non-executive Director since 16
September 2022. She joined the Group in September 2015 and held
the position of general consultant and vice president of the Group
since July 2018 and January 2021, respectively. Before joining the
Group, Ms. Xiao was the assistant of investment manager of Xinda
Emerging Wealth Asset Management Co.* ({ZiE¥ B EEEEIE
BPRAF]) since September 2014. Before the aforesaid, from January
2011 to September 2014, she worked as a lawyer in Beijing Tian Yuan
Law Firm. She obtained a master of laws degree from the University
of Bristol in 2010 and a bachelor of laws degree from the Peking
University in 2008.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ma Shaohua, aged 43, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 30 June 2020. Mr. Ma holds a Bachelor of Laws from
Northern Jiaotong University (now known as Beijing Jiaotong
University] and a master of public administration from the Party
School of the CPC Central Committee. Since 2018, he has worked at
Legend Holdings Corporation.

Zhang Li, aged 48, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 6 May 2021. Mr. Zhang has extensive experience and knowledge
in accounting and financial management. Mr. Zhang has been the
chief accountant (E{E&&HAT) of Joinach Certified Public
Accountants* (b AR Z4pk 2 5HEM S 75 F7) since 2009. Prior to that, Mr.
Zhang was a regional finance director of China of Popular Holdings*
(KBIZREAD AR AR]) from 2005 to 2007 and an assistant to
president of Shandong Wohua Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (| SRS
BERHFAZ D AR A F]) from 2003 to 2005. Mr. Zhang obtained a master
of business administration from the China Europe International
Business School and has the qualifications of Chinese Certified Public
Accountant, the Chinese Certified Tax Agent and fund practice.

Guo Yushi, aged 51, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 4 November 2021. Mr. Guo has been a founder and the chief
executive officer of Quanjing Tengfei Management Technology (Beijing]
Co., Ltd* (BERBEREBERFZELRIAMR AT since March 2014, and
the chief executive officer of Beijing Quanjing Gaoyuan Consulting Co.
Ltd* (JERE2RESEARERAR] since December 2011. From
August 2009 to September 2011, Mr. Guo was a partner of Korn Ferry
(NYSE: KFY), a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange. From
September 2004 to July 2009, he was a chief partner of Gallup
Consulting Co., Ltd. (Beijing), and from September 2003 to August
2004, he was a marketing director of Gallup Consulting Co., Ltd.
(Shanghai). From July 1997 to August 1999, he worked in China Forest
International Travel Agency* (FFEIZRMREIFRRITH]) and was
responsible for the business development of the company. Mr. Guo
obtained a bachelor's degree in forestry and a master of ecology
degree from Beijing Forestry University in July 1994 and July 1997,
respectively. He further obtained a master’'s degree in leisure
management from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign in
July 2001 and a master of business administration degree from the
Emory University in June 2003. Mr. Guo has also been a director of
AGAE (Nasdaq: AGAE], a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company.
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Dai Bing, aged 47, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 18 November 2022. He has extensive experience and relevant
background in corporate management and risk management. He has
been the president (#%;) of Zhang Ming Investment Co., Ltd.* (E£§41%
&ABFR /AR, a company incorporated in Macau, since 2018. Mr. Dai
obtained a master’'s degree of science in strategic studies from

Nanyang Technological University in Singapore in June 2007.

*  Foridentification purpose only.

Mr. Lu Jingsheng has entered into a service contract with the
Company under which he agreed to act as an executive Director for a
term of three years commencing on 1 May 2021, the service contract
will continue thereafter until which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either Mr. Lu or the

Company.

Mr. Ma Shaohua has signed an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of three years commencing on 30 June 2020, Mr. Liu
Xueming and Mr. Zhang Li have each signed an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 6 May
2021, Ms. Gao Liping, Mr. Hua Yumin and Mr. Guo Yushi have each
signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three
years commencing on 4 November 2021, Ms. Yu Bing, Ms. Wang
Ruyuan, Mr. Wang Rungqun and Ms. Xiao Yundan have each signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 16 September 2022, and Mr. Dai Bing has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 18 November 2022. The appointments of Directors
are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors
under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”).

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the "AGM"] has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS (B)

17.

18.

19.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year ended 31 December
2022.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements. The remuneration of the Directors
is determined based on the market price and contribution made by
such Director to the Company.

There has been no arrangement under which any Director has waived

or agreed to waive any emoluments.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director or other officers of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his/her favor, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has maintained Directors’ liability insurance during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

17.

18.

19.
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As at 31 December 2022, solely based on the disclosure of interests
forms filed by the relevant parties, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance [Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "SFO")
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed to
have, under such provisions of the SFOJ; or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the "Model
Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

W_Z-_—F+-_F=+—H ERE
BRETRXNEZSEERR EFR
RAREBITHABR AR A 8 H 155
FE(EEREBEANETEES R
EIEO([EHFRBE®RM ) EXVI) K%
D BN REREE S ) IREF
ERHEKRPEXNVBEIRSDHBME
KRR RBRMEZRAR (BER
BEHFRBEGAIEEGIEEHEIE
RERBEBNERRAR) () IRIE
BELBEENEEALERARA
AIRBZEAFEMNELCMRMNER R
A ()RR £ TR B M 8 10FT 8 £
MBITAEBETELRRSHNEZEETA
(MZESFADEMEARRR KRB RATH
R RABWT

Approximate
percentage

Number of of interest in
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares held”  the Company®
AR F
RN
BEEnF B REtE FERAHEAEY BMHE DD
Shares
i gv)
Mr. Lu Jingsheng ("Mr. Lu") Beneficial owner'" 22,000,000(L} 2.04%
P A A ([BEEED Exma A
Ms. Wang Ruyuan Beneficial owner 14,523,000(L) 1.35%
FaELZ T E=mEBA
Mr. Wang Runqun Beneficial owner 10,913,000(L) 1.01%
FHBEEE EmEA A
Mr. Liu Xueming Beneficial owner 2,250,000(L) 0.21%
GEE RS EmlEa A
Ms. Xiao Yundan ("Ms. Xiao") Beneficial owner® 1,100,000(L) 0.10%

HEMZE(ExL]) EmEa A"
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Notes:

(1) The interest was granted to Mr. Lu pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
on 30 December 2021.

(2) The interest was granted to Mr. Liu Xueming pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme on 30 December 2021.

(3) Among the 1,100,000 Shares held by Ms. Xiao, 100,000 Shares of which
were granted to Ms. Xiao pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme on
17 May 2016, 1,000,000 Shares of which were granted to Ms. Xiao
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme on 1 January 2020.

(4) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

(5) These percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,077,799,887 Shares
inissue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFOJ, or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

Solely based on the disclosure of interests forms filed by the
substantial shareholders of the Company with the Stock Exchange, as
at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executives of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest

BREREE LB 5 Rt E

ETERFRAIQTAR - 166
ROREEBDPHETIVELS

RXE

BREBEARR T BRIR AR
BEHRBRE RZT-_—_F+=-A=
T—H REO- HEROEERQEIE
RETHAEAREEZLBEHRMNSE
336 AC 8k I AR 2 AR IR & R ) 17 & 19
BLEMANERIABENAL(ESL
ARAREBITBRABRINWT

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in the
Shares held"” Company
L NN

EEW

FEROGBE" HBMOEIL

Choi Shun Investment Limited Beneficial owner"”

B ERERRAQA EmmAa A
Other"
Eﬁﬂm

Mr. Li Yangyang Beneficial owner

FHHEE EmER A
Interest in controlled corporation'”!
RiEEE "

Irena Group Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation'?
BEZEXERHAERRA ZEERER"

Yi Jia Investment Limited Interest of controlled corporation'”
RiEEE "

Great Sports Group Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation'?
%k B 2

Glassy Mind Holdings Limited ~ Beneficial owner'
SEEREBRAA ExnAa A

3]

Mr. Yang Eric Qing ("Mr. Yang”) Beneficial owner

BELEE(BEE]) EmEa A"
Interest of controlled corporation®
RiEEEEE"
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261,777,242(L) 24.29%
36,235,351(L] 3.36%
21,290,000(L) 1.98%

298,012,593(L) 27.65%

291,919,848(L) 27.08%

291,919,848(L) 27.08%

291,919,848(L) 27.08%

291,919,848(L) 27.08%
36,531,064(L) 3.39%

221,653,555(L) 20.57%

(6)(8)

(6)(8)
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held"” Company
LR NN
EEM
BERBESEB B REtE ERGEHA" MAE D O
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank Beneficial owner" 36,531,064(L) 3.39%
("Mr. Ng")
mEREE(EEE]D Ewwa A
Interest of controlled corporation 221,653,555(L) 20.57%
TEEEER"
Mr. Zhang Peng (‘Mr. Zhang’]  Beneficial owner 12,884,425(L) 1.20%
SR MG 5E & (TR EAED) EmEE A
Interest of controlled corporation' 221,653,555(L) 20.57%
ok W 2
Total Victory Global Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 221,653,555(L) 20.57%
TEEER"
Jianying Ourgame High Growth  Beneficial owner® 200,502,555(L) 18.60%
Investment Fund
ERBTaAEREES EmEAa A"
Lynch Barry Patrick Interest of receiver 132,464,366(L) 12.29%
BB AR
Middleton Edward Simon Interest of receiver 132,464,366(L) 12.29%

HE AR

Notes:

(1) Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with
effect from 31 March 2022, and resigned as a non-executive Director
with effect from 30 September 2022. Among the 298,012,593 Shares held
by Choi Shun Investment Limited (@ company controlled by Mr. Li
Yangyang), 36,235,351 Shares of which Choi Shun Investment Limited is

only entitled to exercise the voting rights.

(2) The 291,919,848 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a

chain of ownership involving Glassy Mind Holdings Limited.

GEE

(1)

(2)

FHEBAECATAENTES B =
T__FZA=+—HEEKR B
BAFRTEE BT -__FNA=
THRBREHR R EHREBRAA(—
FHEBEEEESOARDMBEAN
298,012,593 Il o H + & = 36,235,351 %
BHOBEHREBRAREEB#EMNT
IR EHE -

75291919848 BN IER BB BT

BERAAZ —BEEBFEAFTENE
—HER -

“ECCFER
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(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Mr. Yang resigned as Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2020. The interest
comprises 20,851,064 underlying Shares and 15,680,000 underlying
Shares granted to Mr. Yang pursuant to the Management Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme, respectively. Details
of the share options granted are set out in the section headed "Share
Option Schemes”.

Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019. The interest comprises 20,851,064 underlying Shares and
15,680,000 underlying Shares granted to Mr. Ng pursuant to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option
Scheme, respectively. Details of the share options granted are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Schemes”.

The interest is directly held by Jianying Ourgame High Growth
Investment Fund in which Total Victory Global Limited, controlled by Mr.
Yang, Mr. Ng and Mr. Zhang, has the majority voting rights.

The percentage figures have been subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, figures shown in totals may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them.

The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

The percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,077,799,887 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, solely based on the disclosure of interest

forms filed by the substantial shareholders of the Company with the
Stock Exchange, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors and the chief

executives of the Company were not aware of any other person (other

than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an

interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or

debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, save as disclosed below,
no other related party transaction disclosed in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. All the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions with disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules during the year are listed
below. The Directors confirm they have complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

The VIE Structure 1

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated the Regulations
for the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications
Enterprises [ (HMEREBEDEESIEMRFE) ) the "FITE Regulations”),
which were amended on 10 September 2008. According to the FITE
Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50%
of the equity interests of a company providing value-added
telecommunications services. In addition, a foreign investor who
invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must demonstrate a good track record and prior experience in
providing value-added telecommunications outside the PRC prior to
acquiring any equity interests in any value-added telecommunications
services business in the PRC (the "Qualification Requirement”).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provides clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirement. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to carry
on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into a series of
agreements to enable the Company to gain effective control over, and
receive all the economic benefits generated by the business currently
operated by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiary on the one hand, and
Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. Please

refer to the Prospectus for further details.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has no update to disclose in
relation to the Qualification Requirement.

RBEZZE__F+=ZA=+—HLF
EA-BTXHAHEEEN G0 BR
KWW ENE MBI TE
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BT FMANFUAZEEBEOBER

E °

RS

O ERE IS LE

RZZEZE—F+=ZA+—8 B%KkRE
MmONEIREBEERXBTEHE)([FITE
RENDIA=ZZEZENFALA+HELE
Rl BBFTERE  IIBHEREETBER
REEESEERBHARFEBB0%
BIMRHE o ptoN - MA B ESEEBR
EmommEE  REBPREESE
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FEEINEHEEEERENRTFAEER
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group conducts its online game
business through the PRC operating entity, Beijing Lianzhong, an
important wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Beijing Lianzhong is
principally engaged in the operation of online card and board games.
Because of certain foreign investment restrictions, it was not viable
for the Company to hold Beijing Lianzhong directly through equity
ownership as a foreign investor. In line with common practice in
industries which is subject to foreign investment restrictions in the
PRC, the Company would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated
by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiaries through a series of
contractual arrangements [the “Contractual Arrangements 1)
between Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd. (the
"WFOE 1], the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary on the one hand,
and Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. The
Contractual Arrangements 1 allow Beijing Lianzhong's financials and
results of operations, together with those of its subsidiaries, to be
consolidated into our financials as if it was a wholly-owned Subsidiary
of our Group (the "VIE Structure 17).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company controlled
Beijing Lianzhong and WFOE 1 through the Contractual Arrangements
1. WFOE 1 is a limited company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC on 21 January 2014 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lianzhong
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, a company incorporated under the
laws of Hong Kong on 18 December 2013 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. WFOE 1 is therefore a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(5) of the Listing Rules. By
virtue of the Contractual Arrangements 1, Beijing Lianzhong is a
connected person of the Company for the purposes of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements 1 therefore constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. The Company confirms that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing

connected transactions.
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements 1
Details of the reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements 1 are
set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements 1

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements 1. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
35 to 39 of the Prospectus.

J If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected.

o The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements 1 to control
and obtain economic benefits from Beijing Lianzhong, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as equity

ownership.

J The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition.

. Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 1 may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Beijing
Lianzhong that are important to the operation of our business if
Beijing Lianzhong declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a

dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

J The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may subject our Group to increased income
tax due to the different income tax rates applicable to the WFOE
1 and Beijing Lianzhong, which may adversely affect our results

of operations.

FHAEMZH18IERH
ERERANTHINERFBERNE
R ZEFRE 1302 132H ©

B SHZEE 1095

BMRR THRBREAHLIEIER -
BRZFRBRNE-FTHBARBRE
T2EE35E39H ©

e WAEBRFERENHTHMEL
LERMPEEBNRBLES
STEBPEERIER  AMZE
FEREERRERERRREMN
2 ARMASEIBRERITAR
PINEBAIEXLBNERTNEE -

o AKREBEKIEA X LB B AL R
FRUEEFEENE  REL
BEHIME  ATRE T RRERBE
BRI

o URBIMETEARMELF
HER WA R ER R
MBERRERERTMEE -

e AHTHINETEINFEIER
TEEERHT

o MR RE HWEJETTRH
HBEHEF RFAEREERAR
FRIRBBAFEENEN M
ZEEEHAMNEBZEBRE

B

e  HRINEBELFIEIL R RE
AOMERETR I EBELE
TEIERBRNAOLHFIATEE
BAREEMSHEN SR EHR
PIMREREERTHIEE -

“ECCFER



EEZRS (B8)

The Group's exercise of the option to acquire equity interests of
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to certain limitations and the
ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that we or Beijing Lianzhong owe
additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net
income and the value of our Shareholders’ investment.

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements 1. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual

Arrangements 1.

The Company's public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board
on a regular basis.

Legal advisers and other professional have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements 1,
and the auditor of the Group was engaged to provide annual
confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements 1.

The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements 1 relate to
requirements other than the foreign ownership restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements 1 are subject to the restrictions

as set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.
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Contractual Arrangements 1 GHZRHE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Contractual RNEBE-_E-_—_F+-A=+—HLF
Arrangements 1 comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master B a1 s8amn® BleBEXR
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, (b) the Business Cooperation PRIz bEBAIERHRE - (B
Agreement 1, (c] the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, (d) the Share RIEREHZ - (ARODEFRBE - (e
Pledge Agreement 1, (e] the Proxy Agreement 1 and (f) the Power of ZEBBIRNBEZESE -

Attorney 1.

The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from TREMBESHZH ! ERBR AR

Beijing Lianzhong to our

Group under the Contractual Arrangements 1: EEAERELENR :

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(2)
(3)

(4)

Convenants not to materially affect Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business and
right to appoint its directors and officers (Note 1)

Power of attorney to exercise all shareholders' rights in Beijing Lianzhong (Note 2)

Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong
(Note 3)

First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong
(Note 4]

NEHIE R R EEREBARZEREEZ NS ERE 2 BANEREATE 225 (M)
TTEAE B R A A B RN 2 IR e E (FH5E2)
WAL R R 2 BBk Bl 0 i 2 B R BB A (BTRER)

B R 2 A 2 F —E R IR (MaEs)

The WFOE 1 P Original Shareholders (Note 6]
HNEBEE [RIGARER (FI5T6)

Management and consultation service

(Note 5)
B REARS (MEEs)

100%

Beijing Lianzhong
1R

— - —
— s
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Notes:

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Business Cooperation Agreement 17 of this annual report for details.

Please refer to the section headed "Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney 1" of this annual report for
details.

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Exclusive Option Agreement 17 of this annual report for details.

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Share Pledge Agreement 17 of this annual report for details.

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 —
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 17 of this annual report for details.

Original Shareholders are Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Liu Jiang, Mr. Shen

Dongri, Mr. Bao Yuegiao, Ms. Long Qi and Ms. Wu Lan.

“—" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
and "--->" denotes contractual relationship.

Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 17], pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service

fee, Beijing Lianzhong agreed to engage the WFOE 1 as its exclusive

provider for the following services:

any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

providing technology development and transfer, and technical

consulting services;

providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

providing public relation services;

providing market investigation, research and consulting

services;
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o providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

J providing human resource management and internal

information management;

o providing network development, upgrade and daily

maintenance;

J providing sale services of self-produced products;
. licensing of software;
. providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

o providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the

online games;

° providing training services in respect of online game technology
and operations;

o providing research and development services in respect of

online game software and maintenance of the system;

. selling and authorising Beijing Lianzhong to license software;
and
o other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 1

according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 1

and its designated affiliates.

Under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, the service fee is
equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of Beijing Lianzhong.
The WFOE 1 may adjust the service fee at its sole discretion with
reference to the working capital requirements of Beijing Lianzhong
and in accordance with several factors relating to the services
provided, including (i} technical difficulty and complexity of the
services; (i) time spent in providing the services; [iii) contents and
commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Since Beijing Lianzhong's funding
requirements are satisfied by their residual operating cash after
paying the service fee to the WFOE 1, we do not expect to transfer any

net proceeds from the Global Offering to Beijing Lianzhong.
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Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal course of
business of Beijing Lianzhong since its daily operations involve,
among other things, research and development and game
development. Pursuant to the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE 1. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Beijing Lianzhong, Beijing Lianzhong shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 1 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 1 has the right to recover all

of its losses from Beijing Lianzhong for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 can be terminated by the
WFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days’ written notice to Beijing Lianzhong.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 shall also be terminated
upon the transfer of all the shares of Beijing Lianzhong to the WFOE 1
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1 pursuant to the

Exclusive Option Agreement 1.

Business Cooperation Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered into a
business cooperation agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Business
Cooperation Agreement 1°). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 1, Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, jointly and
severally, agree and covenant that, without obtaining the written
consent of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall not, and Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders shall cause Beijing Lianzhong not to,
engage in any transaction which may materially affect its asset,

obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

J any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

o merger, reorganisation, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any
other form;

o offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any

third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary

course of business;
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EEZRS (B8)

engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior

management officer;

selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible

assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its

assets;

making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered
capital in other manners;

making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such

distribution;

executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 1 may define a material contract at its sole
discretion);

selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or
allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;

a dissolution or a liquidation and distribution of residual assets;

or

causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of
the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other
legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the

foregoing.
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In addition, Beijing Lianzhong agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 1
that Beijing Lianzhong shall, and the shareholders shall cause Beijing
Lianzhong to:

o accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 1 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Beijing
Lianzhong, and Beijing Lianzhong shall strictly abide by and
perform accordingly;

J maintain Beijing Lianzhong’s corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its

affairs;

o conduct Beijing Lianzhong's businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Beijing Lianzhong
and refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect

Beijing Lianzhong's operating status and asset value;

o provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing Lianzhong's
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 1;

o if requested by the WFOE 1, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;

o immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's assets, business or
revenue; and

o execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by
Beijing Lianzhong of all of its assets.
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According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong shall only appoint persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as directors, the general manager, the
chief financial officer and other senior management members of
Beijing Lianzhong, and the shareholders shall dismiss any such
directors or senior management members upon the request of the
WFOE 1. Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders also jointly and
severally covenanted that Beijing Lianzhong shall seek appropriate

approval from the WFOE 1 prior to entering into any material contract.

Furthermore, the shareholders agree that, unless required by the
WFOE 1, they shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any
shareholders’” resolution to, or otherwise request Beijing Lianzhong
to, distribute profits, funds, assets or property to the shareholders, or
to issue any dividends or other distributions with respect to the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong held by the shareholders.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long
as Beijing Lianzhong exists, unless the WFOE 1 terminates it upon 30
days” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares
held by Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to the WFOE 1 and/or a third
party designated by the WFOE 1.

Exclusive Option Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders entered into an exclusive
option agreement with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the "Exclusive
Option Agreement 1°), pursuant to which the WFOE 1 has a right to
require the respective shareholders to transfer any or all the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong they hold to the WFOE 1 and/or a third party
designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time,
at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration
regulations at the time of transfer.

The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long as
Beijing Lianzhong exists, and cannot be terminated by either Beijing
Lianzhong or its shareholders. The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 can
be terminated (i) by the WFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days’ advance
written notice to Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders; or (i) upon
the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to the WFOE 1

and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1.
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Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, among other things, have

covenanted that:

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Beijing Lianzhong, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its

registered capital in other manners;

. they shall maintain Beijing Lianzhong's corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and

handling its affairs;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Beijing Lianzhong (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Beijing Lianzhong, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any

security interest;

J without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts

incurred in the ordinary course of business;

. they shall always operate all of Beijing Lianzhong's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Beijing Lianzhong and refrain from any action/omission

that may adversely affect Beijing Lianzhong's operating status

and asset value;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 1 at its sole discretion], except the

contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to provide any person with any loan or
credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

o they shall provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing
Lianzhong's business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 1;
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if requested by the WFOE 1, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate
similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause or permit Beijing Lianzhong to merge, consolidate with,

acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence
or possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's

assets, business or revenue;

to maintain the ownership by Beijing Lianzhong of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and

appropriate defences against all claims;

they shall ensure that Beijing Lianzhong shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 1, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s), provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such
distribution;

at the request of the WFOE 1, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as the directors and/or executive
directors of Beijing Lianzhong;

they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Beijing Lianzhong to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE 1; and

unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Beijing
Lianzhong shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior
written consent by the WFOE 1.
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Share Pledge Agreement 1

The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong and the WFOE 1 entered into a
share pledge agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Share Pledge
Agreement 1°]. Under the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong unconditionally and irrevocably
pledged all of the shares of Beijing Lianzhong that they own, including
any interest or dividend paid for such shares, to the WFOE 1 as a
security for the performance of the obligations by Beijing Lianzhong
and its shareholders under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the Exclusive Option
Agreement 1 and other agreements to be executed among Beijing
Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 from time to time
(collectively the “Principal Agreements 17).

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the Principal Agreements 1
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 1 or all of the
Principal Agreements 1 have expired or been terminated.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of
default (as defined in the Share Pledge Agreement 1), the WFOE 1
shall have the right to require Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to
immediately pay any amount payable by Beijing Lianzhong under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, repay any loans and pay any
other due payments, and the WFOE 1 shall have the right to exercise
all such rights as a secured party under any applicable PRC law,
including without limitations, (i) to sell all or any part of the pledged
shares at one or more public or private sales upon three days’ written
notice to the pledgor, and [ii) to execute an agreement with Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders to acquire the pledged shares based on
their monetary value which shall be determined by referencing the
their market price.
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Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1

Beijing Lianzhong, each of its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered
into a proxy agreement and power of attorney on 28 January 2014 (the
"Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1°). Under the Proxy
Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1, each shareholder irrevocably
appointed the WFOE 1 [as well as its successors, including a
liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 1] as its attorney-in-fact to
exercise on its behalf, and agreed and undertook not to exercise
without such attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any and all right
that it has in respect of its shares in Beijing Lianzhong, including

without limitation:

o to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the

shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

o to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on

shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of

any or all of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;

o to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in

Beijing Lianzhong;

. to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and
senior management of Beijing Lianzhong when necessary;

o to oversee the economic performance of Beijing Lianzhong;

. to have full access to the financial information of Beijing
Lianzhong at any time;

o to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Beijing Lianzhong's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Beijing Lianzhong or its

shareholder(s);
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. to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;
o to manage and dispose of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;
. have the full rights to control and manage Beijing Lianzhong's

finance, accounting and daily operation [including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of

government taxes and duties);

o to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and any other
rights conferred by the articles of association of Beijing
Lianzhong and/or the relevant laws and regulations on the

shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1 that Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders enter into for the benefits of the WFOE 1 or
its affiliate, the WFOE 1 shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the

Exclusive Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1.

The Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1 shall remain effective
as long as Beijing Lianzhong exists. Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders
shall not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 1 and
Power of Attorney 1 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-

fact without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1.

Save as disclosed above, there were no new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced among Beijing
Lianzhong and its shareholders, and the WFOE 1 during the year
ended 31 December 2022. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements 1 and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Contractual
Arrangements 1 has been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual

Arrangements 1 has been removed.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS (B)

Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 1

The revenue, loss for the year and total assets subject to the
Contractual Arrangements 1 are set out as follows:

GRZFIETHRAREE

BRRIATHERARA  BELREE
EFHWT

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Bz BHZE
—E-C = —
t=ZA=+—-R +ZH=+—H
LFEE EFE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BT T ARBFT
Revenue PN 23,723 10,402
Loss for the year FAEE (9,253) (33,645)
As at As at
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
S S
—E-CF —_EF_-—
t=B=+-8 +-A=t-~
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BT T ARBFT
Total assets BEE 416,810 442,407

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue and loss for the
year subject to the Contractual Arrangements 1 amounted to
approximately 10.9% (2021: 7.2%) and 12.0% (2021: -17.3%) of the
revenue and profit/loss for the year of the Group respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 1 amounted to approximately 53.9% (2021: 54.6%) of
the total assets of the Group.
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In the opinion of our PRC legal advisor King & Wood Mallesons ("PRC
Legal Advisor”] dated 26 January 2016, the Contractual Arrangements
1 are valid, binding and are in compliance with and enforceable under
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, except that the Contractual
Arrangements 1 provide that the arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators
may award remedies over the shares or land assets of Beijing
Lianzhong, relief or winding up of Beijing Lianzhong, and that courts
of competent jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim injunctive
relief or other interim relief in support of the arbitration when
formation of the arbitral tribunal is pending or under appropriate
circumstances, while under PRC laws, an arbitral tribunal or the
arbitrators has no power to grant injunctive relief or provisional or
final liquidation order to preserve the assets or any shares of Beijing

Lianzhong in case of dispute.

VIE Structure 2

On 9 February 2017, the Board announced that the Group was
conducting a series of reorganisation steps that involve, among other
things, (i) the Group establishing a new VIE structure by entering into
new VIE agreements [(collectively, the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Proxy
Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2, and the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2} among Tianjin
Lianhzhong Lequ Technology Development Co., Ltd. (the "WFOE 2")
and Beijing Lianzhong Tiandi Technology Development Co., Ltd
("Lianzhong Tiandi") (formerly known as Beijing Guangyao Hudong
Technology Development Co., Ltd), a limited liability company
established in the PRC which was owned as to 100% by Mr. Liang Jie,
and (i) Beijing Lianzhong entering into asset transfer agreements
with Lianzhong Tiandi, pursuant to which Beijing Lianzhong would
transfer certain assets relating to the eSports, sports e-commerce
business and other non-card-and-board games new internet
businesses of the Group ("eSports Business’] to Lianzhong Tiandi.
Lianzhong Tiandi will principally be engaged in the eSports Business.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 February
2017 for further details.
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On 31 May 2018, Mr. Liang Jie and Mr. Ping Yan entered into a share
transfer agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Liang Jie transferred 1%
of the shares of Lianzhong Tiandi to Mr. Ping Yan (the “Share
Transfer”’]. Upon closing of the Share Transfer, Mr. Liang Jie and Mr.
Ping Yan are the nominee shareholders of Lianzhong Tiandi holding
its equity interest as to 99% and 1%, respectively. The Group has thus
established the New VIE Structure due to the addition of Mr. Ping Yan
to Lianzhong Tiandi by entering into the New VIE Agreements with Mr.
Liang Jie, Mr. Ping Yan and/or Lianzhong Tiandi. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2018 for further details.

On 10 March 2022, Mr. Liang Jie and Mr. Ping Yan entered into a
share transfer agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Liang Jie and Mr.
Ping Yan agreed to transfer 99% and 1% of the equity interests of
Lianzhong Tiandi to Mr. Yang Huichao and Ms. Tuo Ying (collectively
the "Nominee Shareholders”], respectively. A new set of VIE
agreements (the “Contractual Arrangements 2°) including the
business cooperation agreement, the proxy agreement and power of
attorney, the exclusive option agreement and the share pledge
agreement was entered into in light of the change of registered
shareholders of Lianzhong Tiandi. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 10 March 2022 for further details.

After the signing of the Contractual Arrangements 2, the financial
results of Lianzhong Tiandi is accounted for and consolidated in the
accounts of the Group. Lianzhong Tiandi is therefore accounted for as
if it is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company [(the “VIE Structure 2").
Mr. Yang Huichao, being the substantial shareholder of Lianzhong
Tiandi, will become a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
2 constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Reasons for entering into the Contractual Arrangements 2

As disclosed in the Prospectus, due to applicable laws and regulatory
restrictions on foreign ownership in the telecommunications industry
(including online games and other internet related businesses) in the
PRC and restrictions on foreign investors conducting value-added
telecommunications services, the Group operates its businesses in
the PRC through Beijing Lianzhong, and the Group has in place a
series of contractual arrangements with Beijing Lianzhong that are
designed to allow the Company to exercise control over the operations
of Beijing Lianzhong and enjoy the economic benefits generated by
Beijing Lianzhong. Detailed reasons as to why our businesses are
required to be carried out by way of contractual arrangements from a
perspective of compliance with PRC laws are set out in the section
headed “Contractual Arrangements” on page 130 to 132 of the
Prospectus.

The reason for changing the registered shareholders of Lianzhong
Tiandi is that Mr. Liang Jie and Mr. Ping Yan are no longer employees
of the Group and to further enhance the Company’s internal control
and management system. From the perspective of administration
purposes, the Company is of the view that nominee shareholders of
Lianzhong Tiandi should be employees of the Group who are able to
perform related responsibilities of registered shareholders of
Lianzhong Tiandi (including signing any documents relating to
Lianzhong Tiandi).

The VIE Structure 2 will remain in place for the Group’s management
of its investments, most of which are in the telecommunications
industry, and the investments are restricted on foreign ownership and
investors in the PRC.

The Group believes that such added flexibilities and focus will be
instrumental to nurturing and growing the various investments while
continuing to maintain a healthy growth in the Online Games
Business. Further details of the reasons for entering into the
Contractual Arrangements 2 are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 March 2022.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements 2
We believe the following risks, among others, are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements 2:

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected.

o The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements 2 to control
and obtain economic benefits from Lianzhong Tiandi, which may
not be as effective in providing operational control as equity
ownership.

o The shareholders of Lianzhong Tiandi may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our

business and financial condition.

. Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 2 may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by
Lianzhong Tiandi that are important to the operation of our
business if Lianzhong Tiandi declares bankruptcy or becomes
subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

J The Contractual Arrangements 2 be subject to scrutiny of the
PRC tax authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and
additional tax may be imposed, which may adversely affect our

results of operations.

. The Group's exercise of the options to acquire equity interests
of Lianzhong Tiandi may be subject to certain limitations and

the ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

. The Contractual Arrangements 2 between the WFOE 2 and
Lianzhong Tiandi may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that we or Lianzhong Tiandi owe
additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net
income and the value of our Shareholders’ investment.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 March
2022 for further details.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company
The same mitigation actions as that for the VIE Structure 1 have been
and will be taken for the VIE Structure 2:

o The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements 2. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual
Arrangements 2.

o The Company’s public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board
on a regular basis.

o Legal advisers and other professionals have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements 2,
and the auditor of the Group will be engaged to provide annual
confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements 2.

Contractual Arrangements 2

The Contractual Arrangements 2 under the VIE Structure 2 are on
substantially the same terms as those currently in place under the
VIE Structure 1, save as to the identity of the operating vehicle, the
identity of the wholly foreign owned enterprise, and the identity of the
registered owners of the respective operating vehicle.

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the Contractual Arrangements
2 comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, (b) the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, (c] the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2, (d) the Share Pledge Agreement 2, (e]
the Proxy Agreement 2 and (f] the Power of Attorney 2.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements 2 under the VIE Structure
2, the Company will fulfill and comply with the same conditions as
those imposed on the contractual arrangements under the VIE
Structure 1 as disclosed on pages 150 to 152 of the Prospectus,
mutatis mutandis.
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The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from

TREMREEOREE2

iR R M AR R

Lianzhong Tiandi to our Group under the Contractual Arrangements 2: EEBEROLCENE
(1) Covenants not to materially affect Beijing Guangyao's assets and business
and right to appoint directors and officers (Note 1)
(2)  Power of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights in Beijing Guangyao
(Note 2)
(3)  Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Beijing
Guangyao (Note 3]
(4)  First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Beijing
Guangyao (Note 4]
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Notes:
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Please refer to the section headed "Business Cooperation Agreement 2"
for details.

Please refer to the section headed "Proxy Agreement and Power of
Attorney 2" for details.

Please refer to the section headed “Exclusive Option Agreement 2" for
details.

Please refer to the section headed "Share Pledge Agreement 2" for
details.

Please refer to the section headed “Master Exclusive Service Agreement
2" for details.

“—" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
and "--->" denotes contractual relationship.

Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2

Lianzhong Tiandi entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 2 on 9 February 2017 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2"), pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service

fee, Lianzhong Tiandi agreed to engage the WFOE 2 as its exclusive

provider for the following services:

providing technology development and transfer, and technical
consulting services;

providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

providing public relation services;

providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

providing human resource management and internal
information management;

providing network development, upgrade and daily

maintenance;
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o providing sale services of self-produced products;
. licensing of software;
o providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

. providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the
online games;

o providing training services in respect of online game and

eSports technology and operations;

. providing research and development services in respect of
online game software and maintenance of the system;

o selling and authorising Lianzhong Tiandi to license software;
and
o other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 2

according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 2
and its designated affiliates.

The service fee is equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of
Lianzhong Tiandi. The WFOE 2 may adjust the service fee at its sole
discretion with reference to the working capital requirements of the
WFOE 2 and in accordance with several factors relating to the
services provided, including (i) technical difficulty and complexity of
the services; [ii] time spent in providing the services; (iii] contents and
commercial value of the services; and [iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Our PRC Legal Advisor is of the opinion
that such payment of service fees is not subject to any legal or
regulatory requirements in the PRC and does not violate any PRC
laws.

Any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 2, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WEFOE 2. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Lianzhong Tiandi, Lianzhong Tiandi shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 2 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 2 has the right to recover all

of its losses from Lianzhong Tiandi for liabilities to any third party.
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The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 can be terminated by the
WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days” written notice to Lianzhong Tiandi.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 shall also terminate upon
the transfer of all the shares of Lianzhong Tiandi to the WFOE 2 and/
or a third party designated by the WFOE 2 pursuant to the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2.

Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders and the WFOE 2 entered
into a business cooperation agreement on 10 March 2022 (the “Business
Cooperation Agreement 2”). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, Lianzhong Tiandi and the Nominee Shareholders, jointly
and severally, agreed and covenanted that, without obtaining the
written consent of the WFOE 2, Lianzhong Tiandi shall not, and the
Nominee Shareholders shall cause Lianzhong Tiandi not to, engage in
any transaction which may materially affect Lianzhong Tiandi's asset,

obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

. any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

o merger, reorganisation, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any

other form;

o offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any
third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary
course of business;

o engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior
management officer;

o selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible

assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

J incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its

assets;
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making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered
capital in other manners;

making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Lianzhong Tiandi shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and unconditionally
pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such distribution;

executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 2 may define a material contract at its sole
discretion);

selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or

allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;

dissolution or liquidation and distribution of residual assets; or

causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of
the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other
legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the
foregoing.

In addition, Lianzhong Tiandi agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 2

that Lianzhong Tiandi shall, and the shareholders of Lianzhong Tiandi

shall cause Lianzhong Tiandi to:

accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 2 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Lianzhong
Tiandi, and Lianzhong Tiandi shall strictly abide by and perform

accordingly;

maintain Lianzhong Tiandi's corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its

affairs;
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o conduct Lianzhong Tiandi's businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Lianzhong Tiandi and
refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect
Lianzhong Tiandi's operating status and asset value;

o provide the WFOE 2 with information on Lianzhong Tiandi's
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 2;

J if requested by the WFOE 2, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Lianzhong Tiandi's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;

o immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Lianzhong Tiandi's assets, business or

revenue; and

o execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by

Lianzhong Tiandi of all of its assets.

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Nominee
Shareholders shall only appoint persons designated by the WFOE 2 as
directors, the general manager, the chief financial officer and other
senior management members of Lianzhong Tiandi, and the Nominee
Shareholders shall dismiss any such directors or senior management
members upon the request of the WFOE 2. Lianzhong Tiandi and the
Nominee Shareholders also jointly and severally covenanted that
Lianzhong Tiandi shall seek appropriate approval from the WFOE 2
prior to entering in to any material contract.
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Furthermore, the Nominee Shareholders agreed that, unless required
by the WFOE 2, they shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any
shareholder’s resolution to, or otherwise request Lianzhong Tiandi to,
distribute profits, funds, assets or property to the Nominee
Shareholders, or to issue any dividends or other distributions with
respect to the shares of Lianzhong Tiandi held by the Nominee
Shareholders.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long
as Lianzhong Tiandi exists, unless the WFOE 2 terminates it upon 30
days” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares in
Lianzhong Tiandi held by the Nominee Shareholders to the WFOE 2
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 2.

Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Lianzhong Tiandi and the Nominee Shareholders entered into an
exclusive option agreement with the WFOE 2 on 10 March 2022 (the
“Exclusive Option Agreement 2], pursuant to which the WFOE 2 has
a right to require the Nominee Shareholders to transfer any or all the
shares of Lianzhong Tiandi they hold to the WFOE 2 and/or a third
party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to
time, at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration

regulations at the time of transfer.

Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders, among other things,
have covenanted that:

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Lianzhong Tiandi, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its
registered capital in other manners;

o they shall maintain Lianzhong Tiandi's corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and
handling its affairs;

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Lianzhong Tiandi (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Lianzhong Tiandi, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any
security interest;
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without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts

incurred in the ordinary course of business;

they shall always operate all of Lianzhong Tiandi's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Lianzhong Tiandi and refrain from any action/omission
that may adversely affect Lianzhong Tiandi’'s operating status
and asset value;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause Lianzhong Tiandi to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 2 at its sole discretion], except the
contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause Lianzhong Tiandi to provide any person with any loan or

credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

they shall provide the WFOE 2 with information on Lianzhong
Tiandi’s business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 2;

if requested by the WFOE 2, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Lianzhong Tiandi's assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate
similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause or permit Lianzhong Tiandi to merge, consolidate with,
acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Lianzhong Tiandi's
assets, business or revenue;

to maintain the ownership by Lianzhong Tiandi of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and
appropriate defences against all claims;
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o they shall ensure that Lianzhong Tiandi shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 2, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s], provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Lianzhong Tiandi shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and unconditionally

pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such distribution;

. at the request of the WFOE 2, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 2 as the directors and/or executive

directors of Lianzhong Tiandi;

o they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Lianzhong Tiandi to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE 2; and

o unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Lianzhong
Tiandi shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior written
consent by the WFOE 2.

The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long as
Lianzhong Tiandi exists, and cannot be terminated by either Lianzhong
Tiandi or the Nominee Shareholders. The Exclusive Option Agreement
2 can be terminated (i) by the WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days’
advance written notice to Lianzhong Tiandi or the Registered Owner;
or (i) upon the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to
the WFOE 2 and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 2.

Share Pledge Agreement 2

The Nominee Shareholders entered into an share pledge agreement
with the WFOE 2 on 31 May 2018 (the “Share Pledge Agreement 2").
Under the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the Nominee Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to pledge all of the shares of
Lianzhong Tiandi that they own, including any interest or dividend paid
for such shares, to WFOE 2 as a security for the performance of the
obligations by Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and other
agreements to be executed among Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee
Shareholders and the WFOE 2 from time to time (collectively the
“Principal Agreements 2").
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The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the Principal Agreements 2
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 2 or all of the
Principal Agreements 2 have expired or been terminated.

Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2

Lianzhong Tiandi, the Nominee Shareholders entered into a proxy
agreement and power of attorney with the WFOE 2 on 10 March 2022
(the “Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2"). Under the Proxy
Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2, the Nominee Shareholders
irrevocably agreed to appoint the WFOE 2 (as well as its successors,
including a liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 2] as their attorney-
in-fact to exercise on their behalf, and agreed and undertook not to
exercise without such attorney-in-fact's prior written consent, any
and all right that they have in respect of its shares in Lianzhong

Tiandi, including without limitation:

. to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Lianzhong Tiandi,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the
shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

o to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on
shareholders” meetings of Lianzhong Tiandi, including without

limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of

any or all of the assets of Lianzhong Tiandi;
. to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in
Lianzhong Tiandi;

o to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and

senior management of Lianzhong Tiandi when necessary;
. to oversee the economic performance of Lianzhong Tiandi;

o to have full access to the financial information of Lianzhong

Tiandi at any time;
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EEZRS (B8)

o to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Lianzhong Tiandi's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Lianzhong Tiandi or its

shareholder(s):

. to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;
o to manage and dispose of the assets of Lianzhong Tiandi;
° to have the full rights to control and manage Lianzhong Tiandi's

finance, accounting and daily operation [(including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of

government taxes and duties);

o to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and

. any other rights conferred by the articles of association of
Lianzhong Tiandi and/or the relevant laws and regulations on
the shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2 that the
Nominee Shareholders enters into for the benefits of the WFOE 2 or
its affiliate, the WFOE 2 shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2.

The Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2 will remain effective
so long as Lianzhong Tiandi exists. Lianzhong Tiandi's shareholders
will not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 2 and Power
of Attorney 2 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-fact
without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS(B)

Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2

The revenue, profit/loss for the year and total assets subject to the
Contractual Arrangements 2 are set out as follows:

GRRZI2ETHRAREE

BRRB2ETHERNKRA &M BB
NEEESINMT

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Bz H=E

—_E=-= —EF - —4F

+=—BA=+—H +—-A=+—H

IEFE LEFE

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AREF R ARBT T

Revenue PN 164,042 103,154
Profit/(Loss) for the year FREF, (E18) 14,489 (5,935)
As at As at

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

R-E-Z RZFTZ—F

+=—BA=+—H +-A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%EF R ARBT T

Total assets BEE 106,507 93,183

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue and loss for the
year subject to the Contractual Arrangements 2 amounted to
approximately 75.3% (2021: 71.7%) and -18.8% (2021: -3.1%) of the
revenue and profit/loss for the year of the Group respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2 amounted to approximately 13.8% (2021: 11.5%)] of
the total assets of the Group.
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In the opinion of our PRC legal advisor, namely Commerce & Finance
Law Offices dated 10 March 2022, the Contractual Arrangements 2
are valid, binding and are in compliance with and enforceable under
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, except that the Contractual
Arrangements 2 provide that the arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators
may award remedies over the shares or land assets of Lianzhong
Tiandi, relief or winding up of Lianzhong Tiandi, and that courts of
competent jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim injunctive
relief or other interim relief in support of the arbitration when
formation of the arbitral tribunal is pending or under appropriate
circumstances, while under PRC laws, an arbitral tribunal or the
arbitrators has no power to grant injunctive relief or provisional or
final liquidation order to preserve the assets or any shares of

Lianzhong Tiandi in case of dispute.

Confirmation from Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements 1 and the Contractual Arrangements 2 (collectively the
“Continuing Connected Transactions”) and the independent auditor’s
report, and confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions
have been entered into (i} in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group, [ii) on normal commercial terms or better, and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing each of the
Continuing Connected Transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Directors also confirmed that no dividends or other distributions
have been made by Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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Confirmations from the Company’s Independent
Auditor

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that
with respect to the Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in
the year ended 31 December 2022:

(a)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the Continuing Connected Transactions have not
been approved by the Board; and

(b]  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Continuing Connected Transactions governing such
transactions.

A copy of the auditor's letter on the Continuing Connected
Transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 has

been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

We believe that there are certain risks involved in our operations,
some of which are beyond our control. The principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing are as follows:

Risks Relating to the Business and Industry of the
Company

If the Group fails to continuously strengthen its existing games and
launch new games, or if its games lose their popularity, the Group
may not be able to retain existing players and attract new players,
which will adversely affect the business and results of the operation
of the Group. The Group relies on third-party channels to distribute a
substantial number of our games, and our business and results of
operations may be adversely affected if these third-party channels
breach their obligations to us, or if we fail to maintain relationships
with a sufficient number of channels, or if our commercial
arrangements with these third-party channels become less favorable

to us, or if these channels lose popularity among internet users.
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Since 2018, the Company encountered intensified competition and
challenges in its China domestic card and board games business,
both from intense competition from new apps that provide online
game room functions, as well as adverse payment policy changes in
the Company’'s main mobile carrier payment partners. The negative
impact on both PC and mobile China domestic card and board game
businesses of the Company, particularly in the beginning of 2018,
consequently caused a fairly substantial downturn on revenue and
profitability of the Company. During the year ended 31 December
2022, given the regulatory environment and market conditions within
China, the Group’s online card and board games business in China
continued to face the highly challenging conditions together with

unexpected and regulatory headwinds in the same business.

Risks and Uncertainties Related to Various PRC
Laws and Regulations

We face risks and uncertainties relating to the applicability of certain
PRC laws and regulations to our card and board games, and we
cannot assure that such laws and regulations will not be interrupted
in ways unfavorable to us. As electronic publications that provide
telecommunication services and Internet culture services, online
games are subject to various PRC laws and regulations of multiple
government authorities including the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the PRC, National Radio and Television
Administration of the PRC, National Press and Publication
Administration of the PRC, National Copyright Administration of the
PRC, Ministry of Culture and Tourism of the PRC. There is no
assurance that our online games will not further be deemed to violate
any applicable PRC laws in the future. Similarly, there is no assurance
that our game business will not be challenged or subject to any
regulatory actions in the PRC. If we are forced to discontinue any of
our existing games or if we are unable to offer any new games in the
PRC due to regulatory restrictions, our business and growth

prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, our operation may be affected due to inappropriate
personal behavior by our players and employees. We have adopted
policies and implemented measures to comply with applicable laws
and regulate players’ and employees’ behaviors. Our virtual game
points and virtual goods can only be used in our games and have no
monetary value outside our games. We prohibit players or employees
from engaging in transfers of virtual currency between themselves.
We actively monitor such transfers and other offensive player
behavior on our online game platform. However, we cannot assure
that all our players or employees will comply with applicable laws and

our policies or that we will not be held liable for their violations.
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Risks Relating to Preferential Tax Treatment

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the current statutory
enterprise income tax rate is 25%. Our PRC operating entity, Beijing
Lianzhong, has been qualified as a High and New Technology
Enterprise since 2008. Under the relevant PRC tax regulations, as a
High and New Technology Enterprise, Beijing Lianzhong is entitled to
a preferential tax rate of 15%. Beijing Lianzhong renewed this
qualification in August 2020 for a three-year period commencing from
December 2020. In addition, Beijing Lianzhong was respectively
accredited by the National Development and Reform Commission, the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC, the
Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and the
State of Taxation as a Key Software Enterprise within National
Planning Layout for the Years 2013 to 2017. As a result, Beijing
Lianzhong is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 10% for the
year ended 31 December 2017. As Beijing Lianzhong recorded a loss
for the years 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021, we were unable to apply for
the renewal the recognition for the Key Software Enterprise within
National Planning Layout for the Years 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and
2022. If Beijing Lianzhong continues to record loss in future, it will
still fail to renew the qualification as a Key Software Enterprise within
National Planning Layout, its applicable enterprise income tax rate
will be 15% when its qualification as a High and New Technology
Enterprise remains valid.

Risks Relating to our Corporate Structure

We rely on our contractual arrangements to control and obtain
economic benefits from the PRC operating entities, Beijing Lianzhong
and Lianzhong Tiandi, which may not be as effective in providing
operational control as equity ownership. Meanwhile, the shareholders
of Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition. Furthermore, if the PRC government
finds that the contractual arrangements that established the
structure for operating our business in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to
severe penalties and our business may be materially and adversely
affected.
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Risks Relating to Litigations

We may from time to time involve in disputes with parties including
but not limited to governmental entities, customers, suppliers,
contractors, employees and other third party service providers and
legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business.
Claims and/or enforcement of judgement are or may be brought
against members of the Group based on a number of causes such as
infringement of intellectual property rights, breach of contracts or
employment agreements or other reasons. If the disputes or claims
are not resolved or settled through negotiation or mediation, the
Group may be involved in lengthy and costly litigation or arbitration
proceedings, which may divert the Group’s financial and managerial
resources. In the event that the Group prevails in those legal
proceedings, there is no assurance that the judgement or awards will
be effectively enforced. The actual amounts that need to be paid by
the Group could differ from the provisions made by the Group, if any.
Any material charges associated with claims brought against the
Group and material write downs associated with the Group’s claims
could have adverse impact on our financial condition, results of

operations and cash flow.

For PRC, the ultimate customers are individual players paying
through payment channels. As such, our Directors consider that it is
not practicable to identify the five largest customers for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and we did not rely on any single customer
during the year. For instance, only one of our customers accounted
for 5% or more of our revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022.
For AGAE, the five largest customers accounted for approximately
52.0% of the AGAE's revenue and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 17.0% of the AGAE's revenue for the year ended
31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for a total of approximately
67.7% of the Group’s total purchases from all of the suppliers. The
purchases from our top supplier in 2022 accounted for approximately
44.1% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s Shares) had an interest in any of the major customers or
suppliers noted above.
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The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group
and discussed the Group’s internal controls and financial reporting
matters with the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Arbitration Proceedings against Beijing Lianzhong
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Lianzhong”) and Tianjin Zhongqi
Weiye Sports Development Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Zhongqi”)

Reference is made to the voluntary announcement of the Company
dated 31 May 2015, in which Beijing Lianzhong entered into a
cooperation agreement as supplemented by a supplemental
agreement to the cooperation agreement dated 30 June 2016 with
Tianjin Zhonggi and the Board and Card Games Administrative Center
of the General Administration of Sport of China* (FZREE B 42 B p2:E
EEIRF L) in respect of the Board and Card Integrated Business
Internet Management Project (if84R & E B HEE L EZIER).

In November 2021, Beijing Lianzhong and Tianjin Zhonggqi received a
notice of arbitration from the Beijing Arbitration Commission (15 F 1
#FZ E9) enclosing an application for arbitration dated 22 October
2021 filed by the Applicants with the Beijing Arbitration Commission
against Beijing Lianzhong (as the first respondent) and Tianjin
Zhonggqi (as the second respondent] for a claim of damages in respect
of the arbitration proceedings and the aggregate amount of damages

claimed by the Applicants is approximately RMB90 million.

On 15 February 2023, Beijing Arbitration Commission made an
arbitral award (the "Beijing Arbitral Award’), ruling that Tianjin
Zhonggi should pay approximately RMB3.6 million damages in
aggregate to the applicants, and Beijing Lianzhong did not need to
bear any joint liability for the damages.

Further details of the arbitration proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 3 December 2021 and 9 March
2023.
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Loan to Fast Express Trading Limited (“Fast Express”)

During the period from 30 January 2018 to 6 February 2018, the
Company provided loans in an aggregate amount of HK$62,484,799 to
Fast Express for a loan term of 30 days from the date of provision of
such loan. Subsequent to the maturity of such loans, Fast Express
failed to repay the loans as scheduled. After that, a loan agreement
dated 30 June 2018 with Merit Horizon Limited ("Merit Horizon") (the
“Merit Horizon Loan Agreement’) was signed, pursuant to which
Merit Horizon agreed to repay the loans of Fast Express and all
accrued interests since 1 July 2018 (the “Merit Horizon Loan”). On
the even date, Ms. Fu Qiang ("Ms. Fu"), the then non-executive
Director, executed a letter of guarantee in favour of the Company in
respect of the Merit Horizon Loan Agreement (the “Guarantee’),
pursuant to which Ms. Fu has provided a guarantee to the Company
on her joint and several liabilities with Merit Horizon for the
performance of the Merit Horizon Loan Agreement. As Merit Horizon
and Ms. Fu failed to honour their respective contractual obligations
under the Merit Horizon Loan Agreement and the Guarantee and
therefore the Company took relevant legal actions against Merit

Horizon and Ms. Fu as follows:

On 10 January 2022, the Company as the plaintiff filed a civil complaint
(the “Civil Complaint”) at the Fourth Intermediate People's Court of
Beijing Municipality BE RN HARERT) against Merit Horizon
and Ms. Fu as the defendants in relation to the breach of a loan
agreement and a letter of guarantee, respectively. On 7 February
2022, considering relevant factors, the Company applied to the Fourth
Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing Municipality for withdrawal of
the Civil Complaint, which was approved on 17 February 2022.
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On 7 February 2022, immediately after the Company applied for the
Civil Complaint to be withdrawn, the Company further initiated an
arbitration before the Hong Kong Arbitral Tribunal (the “Tribunal’) in
relation to the breach of the Merit Horizon Loan Agreement, claiming
against Merit Horizon for an aggregate amount of no less than
HK$97,948,090.47, being the principal, accrued interests and
liquidated damages and arbitration costs as at 31 December 2021, for
breach of the Merit Horizon Loan Agreement. Merit Horizon then
added Glassy Mind Holdings Limited (2551 H R A R]) ("6MHL") as
a party to the said arbitration case, and proposed six reliefs or
remedies against GMHL. According to the disclosure of interest form
filed by GMHL, it holds 290,690,848 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 26.97% of the issued share capital of the
Company. GMHL is also an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Irena
Group Co., Ltd. (BB Z&ELIRMHBMRAF]) (IRENA"). On 22 July
2022, the Company received a consent interlocutory award (the
“Consent Interlocutory Award”) from the Tribunal, which decided
and held that, having considered the available evidence, it appeared
from the prima facie evidence that the Tribunal has jurisdiction over
the case. As at the date of this annual report, the arbitration
proceedings are still in progress and no final arbitral award has been

made.

On 16 September 2022, the Company (as plaintiff) has further lodged
a civil litigation (the “Litigation”] at the Court of First Instance of the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region (the “High
Court”) against GMHL, Ms. Fu, a former Director and a shareholder
and the chairman of iRENA, and Mr. Gao Hong ("Mr. Gao"], a former
Director and a shareholder and a director of iIRENA, respectively. In
the Litigation, the Company has made a claim against GMHL and Ms.
Fu pursuant to the undertakings made by GMHL and Ms. Fu to the
Company, requesting them to repay the unpaid principal and accrued
interests under the loan agreements executed in the name of Fast
Express and/or Merit Horizon Limited, and has applied to the High
Court for a permanent injunction that Glassy Mind shall not breach its
undertaking on exercising its Shareholder’s rights. Meanwhile, the
Company formally sought damages from Ms. Fu and Mr. Gao for their
breach of respective fiduciary duties as former directors of the
Company. As at the date of this annual report, the Litigation

proceedings are still in progress and no judgment has been made.
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Further details of the aforesaid arbitration and Litigation proceedings

were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 11 January
2022, 10 July 2022, 24 July 2022, 15 September 2022, 16 September
2022 and 28 November 2022, respectively.

Arbitration Proceedings against Spoville Co., Ltd.
(“Spoville”)

On 14 March 2022, the Company filed an arbitration application to the

ICC International Court of Arbitration (the "ICC Court”) in respect of a

convertible bond subscription agreement entered into between

Spoville, Mr. Seung-Hwan Oh, its major shareholder, and the

Company, and a supplemental agreement entered into between the
same parties. On 20 March 2023, the ICC Court handed down the final
judgment (the "ICC Arbitral Award") in respect of the said arbitration,

the main contents of which are set out below

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Spoville and Mr. Seung-Hwan Oh shall immediately pay to the
Company jointly and severally the principal of the convertible
bonds and its interests as of 18 August 2019 in aggregate of
KRW2,184,541,667;

Spoville and Mr. Seung-Hwan Oh shall immediately pay to the
Company jointly and severally the interests corresponding to
KRW?2,184,541,667, calculated at 1% per annum from 19 August
2019 to 18 March 2023;

Spoville and Mr. Seung-Hwan Oh shall immediately pay to the
Company jointly and severally all legal fees and translation fees
in aggregate of RMB727,468;

Spoville and Mr. Seung-Hwan Oh shall immediately pay to the
Company jointly and severally the arbitration costs incurred by

the Company in aggregate of US$85,000; and

For the amounts determined in clauses 1 to 4 above, Spoville
and Mr. Seung-Hwan Oh shall pay to the Company the interests
accrued from 20 March 2023 to the day of full settlement of the
above amounts at the prescribed rate as stipulated under the
Arbitration Ordinance (Chapter 609 of the laws of Hong Kong].

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 March
2023 for further details.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group was not involved in
any material legal proceedings or other arbitration during the year
ended 31 December 2022. Nor were the Directors aware of any
material legal proceedings or claims that were pending or threatening
against the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.

No contracts, other than a contract of service with any Director or any
person under the full employment of the Company, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights

under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 175 employees, 98 of which
were responsible for games development and operation or general
administration and live broadcast business in the PRC [including
Hong Kong), and 77 for AGAE. The total remuneration expenses
lincluding employee related share-based compensation expense) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 were RMB75.7 million,

representing a decrease of 1.9% as compared to the year of 2021.

We provide various employee benefits and social insurance to our
employees. We also provide share options and Shares under the
Share Award Scheme to better motivate our employees.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS (B)

29.

30.

31.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the publication of this annual report, the Directors confirm
that the Company has maintained the amount of public float as
required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditor of the Company for the coming year will be proposed at the
AGM.

There have been no change of the auditor for the preceding three
years.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's
securities.

On behalf of the Board
Lu Jingsheng
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

31 March 2023
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EXEERS

The Board of Directors is hereby to present the corporate governance report
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance policies. The principle of the Company’s corporate
governance is to promote effective internal control measures and to
enhance the transparency and accountability of the Board to all
Shareholders.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company
for the purpose of complying with the Corporate Governance Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of the

Company.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules to govern securities transactions by its Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they
have strictly complied with the required standards as set out in the Model

Code during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board currently comprises one executive Director, seven non-executive

Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2022 and

up to the date of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Director

Mr. Lu Jingsheng (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Xueming (acting Chairman)"

Mr. Li Yangyang

(2)

Mr. Liu Jiang®
Ms. Gao Liping

Mr. Hua Yumin
Ms. Yu Bing"
Ms. Wang Ruyuan®

Mr. Wang Runqun'”
Ms. Xiao Yundan"”

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Shaohua
Mr. Zhang Li
Mr. Guo Yushi
Mr. Dai Bing"

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as the acting chairman of the Board with effect
from 30 September 2022.

Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect
from 31 March 2022, and resigned as a non-executive Director and Chairman
of the Board with effect from 30 September 2022.

Mr. Liu Jiang resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 30

September 2022.

Ms. Yu Bing was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

Ms. Wang Ruyuan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

Mr. Wang Runqun was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

Ms. Xiao Yundan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

Mr. Dai Bing was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 18 November 2022.
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors” on pages 41 to 46 of this annual report. As at 31 December 2022,
there was no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s]) between the Board members under the

Corporate Governance Code.

Board Meetings and General Meetings Held in 2022

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board convened ten
meetings, one annual general meeting and one general meeting. A
summary of the attendance record of the Directors is set out in the table
below:

EERERBHINAFRENAEEIAN
(|- R_E-_—_&F#+=-A=+—8H"
RECEXEARTA EFEXE ZHA YL ERH
B(REME %% REXEMLEKRHHE
BR)

RZB__FBETNESTSZHE
RIERKE

REZE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE
W -ZEFTC2EEMAtTRERE —ABREEFK
eh—ABREAE - EFEHFELHEBEEEHT
RTE:

Number of Board Number of general
meetings attended/ meetings attended/

Name of Directors eligible to attend eligible to attend
HETHE HE T E
Espng EESERAE BRAGRE
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Lu Jingsheng B A SR A 10/10 1/2
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Liu Xueming (acting Chairman)" 2B (REERE)" 10/10 1/2
Mr. Li Yangyang” EH5 Rk E 9/9 1/2
Mr. Liu Jiang" 25T K £ 9/9 0/2
Ms. Gao Liping =BTt 8/10 0/2
Mr. Hua Yumin EFZRELE 10/10 1/2
Ms. Yu Bing" Fokzz " 2/2 N/A TER
Ms. Wang Ruyuan Thmi £ 2/2 N/A - AiE A
Mr. Wang Runqun' TEE LA 2/2 N/A  TiEMA
Ms. Xiao Yundan"" HES=L" 2/2 N/A  TiEH
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAUFHTES
Mr. Ma Shaohua BoEgERLE 10/10 0/2
Mr. Zhang Li Z Nk 10/10 0/2
Mr. Guo Yushi ERKE 10/10 0/2
Mr. Dai Bing"® kgL N/A A N/A i@
(1) Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as the acting Chairman of the Board with effect (1) AEPRLERZTAEESEREETF B

from 30 September 2022.
(2) Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect

from 31 March 2022, and resigned as a non-executive Director and Chairman
of the Board with effect from 30 September 2022.

(3) Mr. Liu Jiang resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 30
September 2022.
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(4) Ms. Yu Bing was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(5) Ms. Wang Ruyuan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(6) Mr. Wang Runqun was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(7] Ms. Xiao Yundan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(8) Mr. Dai Bing was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with

effect from 18 November 2022.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13

of the Listing Rules and considers each of them to be independent.

The term of office of our independent non-executive Directors is three years
with effect from the date of their letters of appointment or until the third
annual general meeting of the Company since the date of their letters of
appointment (whichever is sooner] and subject to the terms and conditions
specified therein. Mr. Ma Shaohua has been appointed as independent non-
executive Directors commencing from 30 June 2020. Mr. Zhang Li has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director commencing from 6
May 2021. Mr. Guo Yushi has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director commencing from 4 November 2021. Mr. Dai Bing has
been appointed as an independent non-executive Director commencing
from 18 November 2022. Each of them is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company at least once

every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Following the election of the Directors at the general meeting of the
Company held on 16 September 2022 and the resignations of Mr. Li
Yangyang and Mr. Liu Jiang with effect from 30 September 2022, the
Company was not in compliance with (i) Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
which stipulates that the independent non-executive directors shall
represent at least one-third of the board, and (ii] Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules, which provides that an issuer must establish a nomination committee
chaired by the chairman of the board or an independent non-executive
director. Mr. Dai Bing was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 18 November 2022 and immediately following the
appointment of Mr. Dai Bing as an independent non-executive Director, the
Company has complied with the Rule 3.10A and Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules since then.
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The Board has established mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board. The current composition of the Board has a
strong independence element and provides sufficient balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives in leading the Company to achieve
its goal. The independent non-executive Directors also provide independent
judgment in the Board's overall decision making process. The Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board independence
mechanism for the year ended 31 December 2022 and considered it to be
effective.

Each of the non-executive Directors has separately been appointed for a
term of three years with effect from the date of their letters of appointment
or until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the date of
their letters of appointment (whichever is sooner) and subject to the terms
and conditions specified therein. Mr. Liu Xueming has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company commencing from 6 May 2021. Ms. Gao
Liping and Mr. Hua Yumin have entered into letters of appointment with the
Ms. Yu Bing, Ms. Wang

Ruyuan, Mr. Wang Runqun and Ms. Xiao Yundan have entered into letters of

Company commencing from 4 November 2021.

appointment with the Company commencing from 16 September 2022. Each
of them is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company at least once every three years in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors,

executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business

including non-executive Directors and independent non-

experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and

effective functioning.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has developed
measures for implementing good corporate governance policies and
practices and has delegated to the Board committees various

responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of
our business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation,
business development, finance and marketing.

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’'s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors will be continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Company secretary of the Company updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all Directors, namely Mr. Lu
0 @ Mr. Liu Jiang”, Ms. Gao
Liping, Mr. Hua Yumin, Ms. Yu Bing"”, Ms. Wang Ruyuan®, Mr. Wang
Runqun®, Ms. Xiao Yundan'”, Mr. Ma Shaohua, Mr. Zhang Li, Mr. Guo Yushi
and Mr. Dai Bing"® have participated in continuous professional training to

Jingsheng, Mr. Liu Xueming"’, Mr. Li Yangyang

develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their

contribution to the Board.
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Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and refreshed

by, inter alia, the following means:

(1)

participation in continuous professional training seminars and/or
conferences and/or courses and/or workshops on subjects relating
to, inter alia, corporate governance, directors’ duties and legal and
regulatory changes organised and/or arranged by the Company and/
or professional bodies and/or lawyers;

EEFB(ERBEUTHIARBERRRTE
37 A R A

(1)

DEARBRFEERBERREM
BWE /IR ER(EhBE)LEE
A EBEERAREZREREEHORE
EEBIBERAHITERHRE
R/ RTAEY

(2)  reading materials provided from time to time by the Company to (2] ARXATHRAESREGSEELEENEE
Directors regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of 2y UREFRTHBENEBEFE
relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their duties; and MEEER &

(3)  reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials (3] BEBHEEEZELBEESH UNEERE
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to TEBREMBSENTE BT %S
the Directors in the discharge of their duties. NS E BBV A

Name of Directors Training received

EEgA FrEZ il

Executive Director HITES

Mr. Lu Jingsheng B A SR A (1), (2], (3)

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Liu Xueming (acting Chairman)" 2l (REERE)" (1), (2), (1)

Mr. Li Yangyang” =HEEE? (2, (3)

Mr. Liu Jiang® 2T k4 (1), (2], (3)

Ms. Gao Liping BEFR L (1), (2], (3)

Mr. Hua Yumin EFRELE (1), (2), (3)

Ms. Yu Bing" Fokzz " (1), (2), (1)

Ms. Wang Ruyuan® FTiiri£® (1)

Mr. Wang Runqun® ToEE kL (1], (2], (3)

Ms. Xiao Yundan"” HEHzL" (1), (2), (3)

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Ma Shaohua BLEgERLE (2, (3]

Mr. Zhang Li ENEAE (2), (3)

Mr. Guo Yushi FERLE (2), (3

Mr. Dai Bing® Bk k£ (2), (3)

(1) Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as the acting Chairman of the Board with effect (1) JERELEEZTAESSAREER 8=
from 30 September 2022. TZ—FAA=Z+HBER-

(2 Mr. Li Yangyang was re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect  (2) ZFHH AL AT HEATESE g -_T-—

from 31 March 2022, and resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from
30 September 2022.
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(3) Mr. Liu Jiang resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 30
September 2022.

(4) Ms. Yu Bing was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(5) Ms. Wang Ruyuan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(6) Mr. Wang Runqun was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(7) Ms. Xiao Yundan was elected as a non-executive Director with effect from 16
September 2022.

(8) Mr. Dai Bing was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with

effect from 18 November 2022.

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee, and the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management
Committee (formerly known as the Risk Management Committee), for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs. Each of these
committees is established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group, review and
approve connected transactions and provide advice and comments to the
Board.

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee consisted of three members:
Mr. Zhang Li, Mr. Ma Shaohua and Mr. Liu Xueming. Mr. Zhang Li and Mr.
Ma Shaohua are independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Liu Xueming
is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhang Li is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held four
meetings. The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set
out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

REBEE_ZE_—_F+_RA=+—HIFE "
ERLZESERTHNAIATHE BERLZEZK
EMeztEoEaEN TR :

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

ZEERENE HE AHESREAH
Mr. Zhang Li EhRE 4/4
Mr. Liu Xueming 212\ EE 4f4
Mr. Ma Shaohua BAESE 4/4

During the meetings, the Audit Committee met with the external auditor to
consider, among other things, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and reviewed the financial results and reports of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the six months ended
30 June 2022.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management, to establish a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy, to evaluate the
performance of Directors and senior management, to review and/or approve
the terms of and/or matters relating to share schemes (including the share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (as amended from time to
time)) and Directors’ service contracts, and to recommend the remuneration

packages of Directors and senior management.

As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee consisted of three
members: Mr. Guo Yushi, Mr. Zhang Li and Mr. Lu Jingsheng. Mr. Guo Yushi
and Mr. Zhang Li are independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Lu
Jingsheng is an executive Director. Mr. Guo Yushi is the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting to discuss and recommend to the Board for approval the
remuneration scale of all Directors and the remuneration of the new
Directors appointed during the year. There was no material matter relating
to share schemes that was reviewed and/or recommended to the Board by
the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December 2022.
The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is set out
in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

REBEEZZ-_F+A=1+—HLEFE"
FMNZEEERMT AR THRILERS
EEMERNFEEZBESNTFN I RLTAT
BEEFHN-REZE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—
BEFE FHZESU BB EBKRNE
EMEREER SR MESGIREES -
FNZEeNEBEFEREHENT X :

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

ZESHENRS HE AHESBEARH
Mr. Guo Yushi BEALLE n
Mr. Zhang Li EhRE 11
Mr. Lu Jingsheng'" BE R A S e Al
Mr. Ma Shaohua" BEEL Y N/A  TNER
(1) Mr. Lu Jingsheng was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee (1) MERA LA EEZETAGHEEERE B =
with effect from 18 November 2022. T+ AT N \BREREXR-
(2) Mr. Ma Shaohua resigned as a member of the Remuneration Committee with (2] BLELERITMEESEKXE BT =

effect from 18 November 2022.

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established a Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and
management of Board succession. In recommending candidates for
appointment to the Board, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee considers candidates on merit against objective criteria and with

due regards to the benefits of diversity of the Board.

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee consisted of three members: Mr. Ma Shaohua, Mr. Guo Yushi
and Mr. Liu Xueming. Mr. Ma Shaohua and Mr. Guo Yushi are independent
non-executive Directors, and Mr. Liu Xueming is a non-executive Director.
Mr. Ma Shaohua is the chairman of the Nomination and Corporate

Governance Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee held two meetings to recommend to the Board the
appointments of the new Directors during the year and to review the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined hereinafter). The attendance record of the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee members is set out in
the table below:

Name of Committee Member

REBEEZZ-_F+A=1+—HLEFE"
REMCEEARAZECERITMATH M
EESHEBETATNEENEZMH TEBES
LT BRR(EER T - BRBEREBEER
ZEEKNEMNERERECSHERN TR

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

ZEERENSR HFEATHEEEAE
Mr. Ma Shaohua'" B EE s gl 2/2
Mr. Liu Xueming 2|28 s £V N/A - i A
Mr. Guo Yushi® HFEAKE" N/A i F
Mr. Li Yangyang' 545 H 4 1/1
Mr. Zhang Li® ZhHe4El 2/2
(1) Mr. Ma Shaohua was re-designated as the chairman of the Nomination and 1) ELEEADHTAREARNCETEE

Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

(2) Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as a member of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

(3) Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as a member of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

(4) Mr. Li Yangyang resigned as the chairman of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 30 September 2022.

(5) Mr. Zhang Li resigned as a member of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management
Committee

The Company has established a Risk Prevention and Digital Assets
Management Committee (formerly known as the Risk Management
Committee). The primary duties of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets
Management Committee are to assist the Board in providing leadership,
direction, and oversight with regard to the Group’s overall risk appetite and
tolerance and risk management framework, including risk policies and
process and controls, and in managing and supervising the Group’s digital
assets [(including but not limited to all digital IT tangible and intangible
assets developed and used by the Group, such as product backends, IT
intangible assets, data assets, information databases, and digital

currencies).
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As at 31 December 2022,
Management Committee consisted of three members: Mr. Dai Bing, Mr. Lu

the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets

Jingsheng and Mr. Wang Runqun. Mr. Daibing is an independent non-
executive Director, Mr. Lu Jingsheng is an executive Director and Mr. Wang
Rungun is a non-executive Director. Mr. Dai Bing is the chairman of the

Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Risk Prevention and Digital
Assets Management Committee held one meeting to discuss how to
strengthen internal control systems and the assets management. The
attendance record of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management

Committee members is set out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

RZEZZF+ZA=+—R0 ERBHER
%(%ﬁ?fﬂii,\am Pk B AR Bk
Sk BEREXERTHEBEEE HKEER
BYFATEST ERELTERVTEER
THBEERIERITEST - BREERAR
hiERBFTEEEEZEG LR -

EA*E%E_?::EJr_ﬂ:Jr*EUtEF'
BB ELREFTEEEREZESEBIT X
/SE% E A s N BEERERREE
ER-RRMELRBTEEERLZESENE

VEEHEREER TE

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend

ZEEHENRE HE AHESBERE
Mr. Dai Bing" ok el N/A  TERA
Mr. Lu Jingsheng” BE R A e AV 11
Mr. Wang Runqun® TEBF LY N/A A
Mr. Ma Shaohua"” BoEg LY Al
Mr. Liu Jiang" %‘J/I?EE[E' 171
(1) Mr. Dai Bing was appointed as the chairman of the Risk Prevention and Digital (1) #/kE4BEZEARBRHERBEFTEESIE

Assets Management Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

(2) Mr. Lu Jingsheng was re-designated as a member of the Risk Prevention and
Digital Assets Management Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

(3) Mr. Wang Runqun was appointed as a member of the Risk Prevention and
Digital Assets Management Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

(4) Mr. Ma Shaohua resigned as the vice chairman of the Risk Prevention and
Digital Assets Management Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

(5) Mr. Liu Jiang resigned as a member of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets
Management Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules stipulates that a policy concerning diversity
of board members should be adopted. The Company adopted the Board
diversity policy [the "Board Diversity Policy’] on 27 March 2015. The
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee also reviewed and
agreed on measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board.
The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The measurable objectives identified by the Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee include: a material number of Board
members should have served as senior management with companies;
certain Board members should have experience with listed companies; and
certain Board members should have experience with conducting businesses
in the telecommunications industry. The Company targets to maintain a
Board with female representation, and gender diversity is achieved in
respect of the Board. The Company is conscious of gender diversity when
considering potential successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.
The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy during the year ended 31 December 2022 and is satisfied

that the composition of the Board is sufficiently diverse.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board's composition under
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Educational background

Z=db =
B AR

Bachelor &+

Gender
=]
Age group
FHAER|
Industry background
TERES
Position background
R A =
Experience with listed company
LR ARER : : D

Male 55

31-40

Telecom Industry Bl %

ESETMEITILER
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BZTEOEE - RRABER T -—HF=
A-ttRARMEFEXNES TLRR(E
EEHEZREE]) REREEERZER
ENCEMMAEETESEENEZ LILN
AFERB - ARASKEBERZHRE
REDEFEeXNEZ T ZEREXEHE
TRAER Fik XEREEES Bk
BEERR RERNE-REREEXRERZE
SEIHMAMEERERE  EEEAMMOK
BERNRZEAFAEEISAEERE  ETES
EREERABNRLET AR IENER: KE
TEZENERABRNEARAEMREBNL
B ARAREEERALUERRGFENES
€ YEBEFETEERMERNZ T - AAF]
EEEEFTENERETER BIMNZ
T RERUERZTE - REBEE-FT——
TZA=1T-BLFE REREEERZ
BER@CENESEZLLRE LEMES
gHEKERAZ T -

RAERBY BE2eEZTbAETHA
Aot aan T -

Master 151 PhD &=
Female &

51-60

Others £ A

Senior Executive AT TIRA B

No #&
1 1 1 1 1 J

0 1 2 3 4 5

Notes:
PhD : Doctor of Philosophy

Master : Master’s Degree
Bachelor : Bachelor's Degree
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The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance
duties as required under the Corporate Governance Code:

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practice on

corporate governance;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

. to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

U to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the Corporate Governance

Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
reviewed and discussed the following nomination and corporate governance

matters:

. the re-appointment of Directors;

o the appointment of new Directors;

o the composition of the Board;

. the assessment of the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

o the draft reports of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and the Corporate Governance Report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Diversity in Workforce

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has a total of 175 employees, with a
male-to-female ratio of approximately 2:1. Due to the particularities of the
industry, most of our employees tend to be in their young adulthood,
however, the Group thinks highly of employee diversity and avoids
discrimination and unfairness in any aspects, including age and location.
The Company welcomes all genders to join. The recruitment strategy is to
employ a right staff for a right position regardless of the gender. The
Company commits to providing equal opportunities to its staff in respect of
recruitment, training and development, job advancement, and remuneration
and benefits.
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The Corporate Governance Code stipulates that a nomination policy should

be formulated and adopted, and the Company adopted a nomination policy

accordingly on 29 March 2019. The main contents of the nomination policy

are set out below:

Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following

criteria (among other things) should be considered:

(a)

(b)

(c]

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

Character and integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy

that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board.

Requirement for the Board to have independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules, and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity.

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as

a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted
and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee from time to time for nomination of Directors
and succession planning.

Annual Report 2022
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Nomination Procedures

(a)

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment
of new Director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate with reference
to the criteria as set out above to determine whether such

candidate is qualified for directorship;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or the
Board should rank them by order of preference based on the
needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate

(where applicable);

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee should
then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate

candidate for directorship, as applicable;

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election
as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or the
Board should evaluate such candidate with reference to the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate

is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination and Corporate Governance

Committee and/or the Board should make recommendation to

Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the

general meeting.

RBES
(a) EEHES

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting
(] The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should review the overall contribution and service to
the Company of the retiring Director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board;

(il The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should also review and determine whether the

retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as set out above;

(i) The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should then make recommendation to Shareholders
in respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the general

meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/
or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or

applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will conduct regular
review on the structure, size and composition of the Board and this policy
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

Considering the current development situation of the Company, the
compensation level of directors of similar companies and the overall market
situation, subject to discussion and approval by the Board, the remuneration
of any Director (including executive Director, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Director] shall be adjusted to an annual salary
of HK$100,000 with effect from 18 November 2022, unless the special duties
of a certain Director need to be discussed on a case-by case basis. The
Chairman of the Board or the chairman of each Board committee shall be
entitled to an additional remuneration of HK$50,000 per year. If a Director
holds two or more chairman positions, he shall only be entitled to an

additional chairman’s remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee will regularly review the Directors’
remuneration structure and this policy and where appropriate, make
recommendations on the adjustment of Directors’ remuneration to

complement the development of the Company.

Annual Report 2022
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The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to enhance the
awareness of internal corporate justice and regard this as a kind of internal
control mechanism. This policy provides assistance to individual employees
to disclose internally and at a high level, information which the individual
believes showing malpractice or impropriety. It is not designed to further
any personal disputes, question financial or business decisions taken by the
Group, nor should it be used to report any employment-related matters
which have been addressed under the grievances procedure already in
place. Whistleblowing matters may include but are not confined to:

o Breach of legal or regulatory requirements;
. Criminal offences, breach of civil law and miscarriage of justice;
o Malpractice, impropriety or fraud relating to internal controls,

accounting, auditing and financial matters;

. Endangerment of the health and safety of an individual;
. Damages caused to the environment;
o Violation of rules of conducts applicable within the Company or those

of the Group;

. Improper conduct or unethical behaviour likely to prejudice the
standing of the Group; and

o Deliberate concealment of any of the above.

It is the Company's policy to protect employees from any form of
intimidation, reprisal, retaliation or adverse reaction organizationally as a
consequence of reporting a concern about any of the above matters. The
Company will make every effort to treat all disclosures in a confidential and
sensitive manner. The identity of the individual employee making the
allegation will not be divulged without the employee’s consent unless the
Company is legally required or obligated to reveal the employee’s identity.
Harassment or victimization of a genuine whistleblower will be treated as
gross misconduct, which if proven, may result in dismissal. Individual
employees should exercise due care to ensure the accuracy of the
information. If the employee is mistaken, he/she will not be at risk of losing
his/her job or suffering any form of retribution provided that he/she is acting
in good faith and reasonable manner. On the contrary, disciplinary action
including dismissal will be taken against an employee who is proven to raise

false and malicious allegations deliberately.
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Initially, employee who has a legitimate malpractice concern should inform
the respective Head of Department or General Manager and the Head of
Department or General Manager shall report the matters to the Directors.
In case the concern involves the Head of Department or the General
Manager or the employee considers the Head of Department or General
Manager should not to be told, the employee may raise the matter directly
to the Directors. The Directors may designate any appropriate persons or

set up an inquiry to investigate the matter.

Employees should ensure all necessary evidences are enclosed with the
complaint letter. The Company will hold it a serious disciplinary offence for
any person who seeks to prevent a communication of malpractice concern
reaching the appropriate party, or to impede any investigation which he/she
or anyone on his/her behalf may make. If there is evidence of criminal
activity, activity on solicitation and acceptance of advantages or breach of
legal and regulatory requirements, the party responsible for the internal
investigation may legally be obliged to inform the relevant public or
regulatory bodies, as appropriate. Depending upon the nature and particular

circumstances, the investigation of each complaint may:

. be investigated internally;
o be referred to the relevant public or regulatory bodies;
o be referred to the external auditor of the Company; and/or

form the subject of an independent inquiry.

The Directors or the person designated to investigate the complaint will
write to the complainant wherever reasonably practicable of the concern
being received:

o acknowledging that the concern has been received;

o telling the complainant whether any initial enquiries have been made

and the related results, where appropriate and if available;

o advising whether or not the matter is to be investigated further and if

so what the nature of the investigation will be and the estimated

duration; and

. providing the justification if no further investigations will take place.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

The Company appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited ("Grant
Thornton”] as the external auditor for the year ended 31 December 2022. A
statement by Grant Thornton about their reporting responsibilities for the
financial statements is included in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 123 to 129 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to Grant Thornton in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to RMB1.7 million and RMB0.26 million, respectively. The non-
audit services mainly include the review of the consolidated interim financial
statements of the Group and the reporting accountant's work on the
Group's disposal of the entire equity interest of CSI.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has engaged RSM
Consulting (Hong Kong] Limited, an independent consultancy firm, to
provide consulting services to the Company. RSM Consulting (Hong Kong)
Limited has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control system which covers the aspects of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control system and procedures, and will make
recommendations to the Board to address and rectify the weaknesses
identified.
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The Company has established internal control policies and documents in
respect of information and communication, monitoring, anti-cheating
programs, revenue and receivables, purchase and payables, information
security and intellectual property rights, financial management, financial
reports, fixed and intangible assets, human resources, taxation, investment,
legal management and research and development. The Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate.

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibilities and
authority. On 30 June 2020, the Risk Management Committee was renamed
as the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management Committee to review
and manage the assets of the Company, assist the Board in providing
leadership, direction, and oversight with regard to the Group’s overall risk
appetite and tolerance and risk management framework.

The Company also has an Internal Audit Department which primarily
performs internal audit and reviews the internal control system of the
Group on a quarterly and annual basis to ensure the effectiveness of
internal control procedures and strict compliance with different standards
and policies across different businesses and operations of the Group. The
Company is of the view that the existing risk management internal control
systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

To manage the risks regarding inside information, we have adopted the
Model Code as the Company’s own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all members of the Board complied
with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2022. Senior
management, executives and staff who, because of their offices in the
Company are likely to possess inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance with the Model Code by such employees was noted by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Directors are of the view that procedures, systems and controls should
be strengthened and improved to make a proper assessment of the financial

conditions and prospects of the Group on an ongoing basis.
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Ms. Ng Sau Mei, the director of the Listing Services of TMF Hong Kong
Limited (a company secretarial services provider), serves as the company
secretary of the Company. Her primary contact person at the Company is
Ms. Xiao Yundan, the non-executive Director and head of the legal
department of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Ng Sau Mei has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene extraordinary general meetings. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the

Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of a
Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s] themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to them by the Company.
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The Company has adopted the shareholders” communication policy with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors are
provided with convenient, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with the

Shareholders as follows:

(]  Corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports
and circulars are issued in printed form and are available on the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company's

website at www.lianzhong.com;

(i) Periodic announcements are published on the respective websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company;
(i) Corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;

(iv)]  Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for the
Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the

Directors and senior management; and

(v} The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company serves the
Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment (if

any) and related matters.

The general meetings are valuable forums for direct communications
between the Board and the Shareholders. The Directors and members of
various Board Committees will attend the general meetings of the Company.
Shareholders can raise questions directly to the Board in respect of the
performance and future development of the Group. At other times,
Shareholders and investors can put enquiries by writing to the Company by
way of letter or email. The Company regularly reviews its shareholders’
communication policy and evaluates its implementation and effectiveness.
In view of the above, the Company considered that its shareholders’
communication policy is relevant and effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has reviewed the

effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and considered it

to be effective and adequate.

Annual Report 2022
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For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send

written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with

verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to

the following:

Address: 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
For the attention of the Board of Directors of Ourgame
International Holdings Limited

Email: fawubu@ourgame.com

Code provision F.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that a

dividend policy should be formulated and adopted, and the Company

adopted a dividend policy accordingly. The main principles and guidelines of

the dividend policy are set out below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders subject to the requirements of the Articles of the
Association, Cayman Islands law and other applicable laws and
regulations and the dividend policy.

The Board shall have regard to the factors of the Group, including
past financial results, past and forecasted cash flows, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans, interests of Shareholders, any
restrictions on payment of dividends (including contractual
restrictions, i.e. from financing-related agreements) and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant, when considering the

declaration and payment of dividends.
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(d)  Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the principles and factors set out herein, dividends may be
proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period
in the form of an interim dividend, a final dividend, a special dividend
and/or any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders” approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

(e)  Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the

Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

(ff  Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval.

(g The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip

or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

For the avoidance of doubt, there is no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount for any given period notwithstanding the adoption
of this policy. If the Board decides to recommend, declare or pay dividends,
the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the situation and
applicable factors at the relevant time. The Board will review this policy as

appropriate from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company did not make any
significant changes to its constitutional documents. The latest version of the
Company’'s memorandum and articles of association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Company will
propose to amend the existing memorandum and articles of association of
the Company in order to conform to the current requirements of the Listing
Rules, including but not limited to the Core Shareholder Protection
Standards as set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules before the deadline
for the transitional arrangements for existing issuers.

Annual Report 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIREEIRS

Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Ourgame International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ourgame
International Holdings Limited [the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”] set out on pages 130 to 276, which comprise the consolidated
December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,

statement of financial position as at 31

the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing ("ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) ("IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BUZHENRS (&)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Impairment assessment of properties, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets

Refer to notes 2.6, 2.15, 2.21, 4.1(c), 1
RIEE M| RM 2.6 215 2.2
Key Audit Matter

BRETEE

~4(c) > 11

A
= 5F B

FEFTHERNERE

nE BERREREMERE
B9 5% 5P 1

AAEEBAET

1,17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
~ 1718 °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEHEERONEEEBESE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has property, plant and
equipment of RMB18,429,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB51,318,000 and right-of-use assets of RMB21,207,000
(net of impairment loss of RMB27,981,000).

The management performed impairment assessment by
measuring the recoverable amount of cash generating
units ("CGUs") to which the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets belong, based on value-in-use of
the CGUs supported by future discounted cash flows.

We identified the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as key audit
matter because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the level of subjectivity associated
with the assumptions used in estimating the recoverable
amount of the CGUs, including cash flows forecast, growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows and the rate at
which they are discounted.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of CGUs to which the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets belong included:

— reviewing the cash flow forecast of the CGUs prepared
by the management and comments provided by client’s
finance advisors after reviewing of the cash flow
forecast prepared by the management;

— assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
lincluding operating margins, long-term growth rate
and discount rates] based on our knowledge of the
business and industry and taking into account of the
accuracy of previous forecasts and historical
information; and

—  testing the management’'s sensitivity calculations by
applying our own sensitivity analysis to the cash flows
forecast, long-term growth rates and discount rates to

ascertain the extent to which reasonable adverse

changes would, either individually or in aggregate
require an impairment of either the property, plant and

equipment or right-of-use assets.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) MAREFZHEm@

Provision for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of financial E£MEENEHRESBE([FEH
assets EEEBEE]) &BRF

Refer to notes 2.10, 2.11, 4.1(a), 11, 24, 27 and 41(e) to the consolidated financial statements.
B AMBHRMFE210 211 4.10@) ~ 1124~ 27K 41(e) °

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEREETRONEEEBESE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised ECL on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables) amounting to RMB1,446,000.

ECL are based on management’s estimation by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
receivables, debtors’ repayment history and debtors’
financial position and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions, all of which
involve a significant degree of management judgements.

We identified the ECL assessment of financial assets as a
key audit matter because the assessing ECL of financial
assets is a subjective area which requires the
management’s judgement and uses of estimates.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the ECL on financial assets
included:

— reviewing and assessing the application of the Group's
policy for calculating the ECL;

— evaluating techniques and methodology in the ECL
model against the requirements of IFRS 9;

— assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information used
by management to form such judgements, including
testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward- looking information and
examining the actual losses recorded during the current
financial year and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising loss
allowances; and

— evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls which govern
credit control, debt collection and estimation of ECL.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2022 annual report of the
Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors assisted by the audit committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

From the matters communicated the audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

31 March 2023

Kan Kai Ching
Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
EREMEZENRE

Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 & %=

2022 2021
—=E=-_= —ET-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5F AR¥T T ARET T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: FREREER:
Revenue A b 217,712 143,815
Cost of revenue W AR A (133,797) (87,670)
Gross profit EF 83,915 56,145
Other income H U = 7 21,566 10,547
Selling and marketing expenses HERTHEREER (21,520) (21,981)
Administrative expenses TR 2 (121,725) (128,876)
Share-based compensation expense ARG REHR e R X 36 (11,983) (18,686)
Research and development expenses mEER (18,778) (24,141)
Finance costs Eﬁﬁ&zﬁ 8 (4,749) (6,441)
Share of loss of associates, net DG E AR BRI 21 (260) —
Fair value changes of financial assets ?ﬁ@/"ﬁ@ﬁ)\?ﬁ e ol
at fair value through profit or loss EBEZANEE 1(g) (1,285) (14,218)
Fair value changes of investment properties REWMEZ DR BEES - 150
Gain on disposal of associates HEE ARz e 21 - 7,608
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of financial assets HERARBEFAER
at fair value through profit or loss ZEMmEEZ (FE)/
Wz (44) 110
Gain on conversion/redemption of EinTEE AR R R
convertible notes & - 6,453
Impairment of assets BEERE 11 (2,551) (2,021)
Loss before income tax from continuing FEREXKZ
operations BRETIBRATE B (77,414) (135,351)
Income tax credit FriSHiif 9 = 34
Loss for the year from continuing operations R EFE KL X7
ZEREER 10 (77,414) (135,317)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: BRIREET:
Profit after tax for the period from discontinued EfAZR B B 4R |F 48 & 275
operations B B A 12 0% A 43(a) — 329,643
(Loss)/Profit for the year ER(EE)BR (77,414) 194,326
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMEEKE(ER)
for the year
ltem that may be subsequently reclassified HEgr sz
to profit or loss: WIEE
Currency translation differences Gk = 5E 51,292 (28,689)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FRE2ME(BAR),WEHEHE
for the year (26,122) 165,637

Ourgame International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
REBRBREMETENER ()

Fortheyear ended 31 December2022 HEZE T -+ -_A=+—BItFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B ARET T ARETT

(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to: THATEEER
(E18), %7
Equity holders of the Company ZN/NSIE- EESES N
— Continuing operations —RBEREER (29,609) (74,367)
— Discontinued operations —ERIEEEER = 100,871
(29,609) 26,504
Non-controlling interests FEFEARHE &
— Continuing operations —RHEREETR (47,805) (60,950)
— Discontinued operations —ERIEEEER = 228,772
(47,805) 167,822
(77,414) 194,326
Total comprehensive (loss)/income TIHALTEEFEFRNRZE
for the year attributable to: (FF1R) W HE5E:
Equity holders of the Company RATERFBA
— Continuing operations —FEREER (1,313) (94,995)
— Discontinued operations —ERIEEEER = 100,871
(1,313) 5,876
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR =
— Continuing operations —RHBEEED (24,809) (69,011)
— Discontinued operations —ERIEREER - 228,772
(24,809) 159,761
(26,122) 165,637
(Loss)/Earnings per share SR(EER) 2R
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (AERARESFIT) 13
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BRER(EB) BT
From continuing operations REFEKLEET (2.76) (7.05)
From discontinued operations KEDRIEREET — 9.56
(2.76) 2.51
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SGREE (B8R AT
From continuing operations REFBEREET (2.76) (7.05)
From discontinued operations HKEBRIEEEER = 9.56
(2.76) 2.51

The notes on pages 138 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial FIBE22I6EWM T R ARG I BT — &

statements. 7 e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fm S B RRE

Asat31December2022 R=—ZE -+ -_A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-C8F —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B E AR%ET R ARBT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BER&E 17 18,429 29,640
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 21,207 20,527
Investment properties wEME 19 2,900 2,900
Interests in associates REE R A= 21 1,240 —
Digital assets HFEE 22 344 —
Intangible assets mREE 23 1,879 2,411
Financial assets at fair value through BRAgEFAEBRZ
profit or loss EREE 25 45,846 48,615
91,845 104,093
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 549 565
Trade and other receivables B 5 KEMEWHIE 27 74,701 53,823
Loans to third parties KBTYE=—ZAZER 24 — —
Financial assets at fair value through BRASEFABRZ
profit or loss TRMEE 25 - 7,577
Certificate of deposits FE 26 484,602 —
Restricted bank balances 2R B SR 1T 45 84 28 34,614 34,897
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBE2EEY 29 87,289 609,070
681,755 705,932
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5Kk EAMENRE 30 46,368 48,091
Deferred revenue PR FE A 31 1,289 16,571
Lease liabilities HEafE 32 11,128 7,457
Bank loan RITER 33 1,000 —
Income tax liabilities FrigHiatE — 188
59,785 72,307
Net current assets RBEEFE 621,970 633,625
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRSERS 713,815 737,718
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

REMBEBRRE (B)

Asat31December2022 R—_E-_—_F+_-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-C8F —ET-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B E AR%ET R ARBT T
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Lease liabilities HERE 32 47,599 49,731
Net assets EEFE 666,216 687,987
EQUITY =
Share capital N 34 335 335
Reserves Exr 35 283,150 279,256
Equity attributable to equity holders RAREREE AEGEER
of the Company 283,485 279,591
Non-controlling interests FEVE S HE = 382,731 408,396
Total equity B 666,216 687,987

Liu Xueming

2|28
Director

EE

The notes on pages 138 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

Lu Jingsheng
BER 4
Director

EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mOERBER

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 HE T -_—F +_A=+—HIFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANARERAAEEES
Shares held Non-
Share Share  Statutory  Translation  Share option Other  under the Share  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve®  Award Scheme* losses  Sub-total interests  Total equity
RER D RE
Bx RGEET ARRAT AEEE BRERRT AUEE HRBRL 2aER Nt FERER oS
RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR  ARETL ARBTL ARETR ARBTT ARETR
(Note 34 Note 35(al) ~ (Note 33(b)]  (Note35(cl  [Note35(dl)  [Note 35lel) [Note 3¢

(i) (Mrsxalel) (FaEsolo)) (HfREaslcl)  (BYREssla)) — (HtaE3slel) (GERY)

Balance at 1 January 2021 R-B--E-A-Az&R 33 1,023,563 36,837 18,008 115935 16,754) (17,010 919,964) 240,950 246,936 487,886
Total comprehensive loss for FRREFRAE
the year
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - 26,504 26,504 167822 194,326
Other comprehensive loss for FNEMLZERE
the year
Currency translation differences ~ EHBREZE - - - (20,628) - - - - 20,628 (8,061) (28,689)
- - - 20,628) - - - 26,504 5876 159,761 165,637
Transactions with owners HEEARS
Share-based compensation IRHAERNHHS
Note 36(c] and Note 3¢[7) (B E36c) BB 2 3el) - - - - - 5721 12,965 - 18,686 - 18,686
Transfer upon forfeiture of share R R M IRIER B &
options - - - - 1,194) - - 119 - - -
Deemed gain on dilution of interest R {ER BN B A AER
in subsidiaries # - - - - - 28275 - - 23275 1,699 246974
Purchase of shares for Share Award  §t k1) Bzt 2B E R 17
Scheme [Note 35(cl] (B 36lc)) - - - - - - [9,196) - 9.196) - (9,19
Total transactions with owners HEEARZAE - - - - [1,194) 289% 3769 119 0,765 1699 34464
Balance at 31 December 2021 RZB=-F+ZB=1-B
&t 33 1,023,563 36,837 [2620) 114,741 12,62 (13.241) (892,268] 279501 408.3% 687,987
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
ROERBBR (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

AAARERAARERR
Shares held Non-
Share Share  Statutory Translation Share option Other under the Share Accumulated controlling
capital  premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve*  Award Scheme* losses  Sub-total interests  Total equity
RERHEBH
Ra  ROEE* AERE* AERE BRERR: HtRf B5EZRH*  RHER Nt FERER BRE
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARRTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARMTT ARMTR ARETR
(Note 34 (Note 35(al] (Note 35(b)) (Note35(c)] ~ (Note 35(d))  (Note 35(e)) (Note 36)

(HaEs)  (WaEdsal) (MfaE3s(b)) (MHaEaslc)) (MFsEas(d)  (My&asle)) (W3t 3e)

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZB--E-A-Az&R 335 1,023,563 36,837 (2,620) 14,761 12,262 (13,241) 892,266) 279,591 408,396 687,987
Total comprehensive loss for ER2EFEEE

the year
Loss for the year EREE = = = - - - - (29,6090 (29,609) 47,805) (77,614)
Other comprehensive income for ~ £RE M2 EW

the year

Currency translation differences EBREEE - - - 28,296 - - - - 28,296 22,99 51,292

- - - 28,29 - - = (29,609) (1,313) (24,809) (26,122)

Transactions with owners HEEARS
Share-based compensation IRHAERNHHE

Note 36(c] and Note 3¢[7) (B E361c) BB 2 3elf) = - - - - 6,458 3,525 - 9,983 2,000 11,983
Transfer upon forfeiture of share R R BB IR AER B

options - - - C) (2,41 = = 241 - - -
Deemed loss on repurchase of a RiEWERBRARRGZ

subsidiary’s shares BB - - - - - (1,251) - - (1,251) (2,856) (4,107)
Purchase of shares for Share Award 313 B3t BB E R (D

Scheme [Note 35(cl) (B 36lc)) = = = = = - (3,525) - (3,525) = (3,525)
Total transactions with owners HEEARZAE = - - - (2611 5,207 - 2611 5,207 (856) 4,351
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZZBZZE+ZB=+-H

&t 335 1,023,563 36,837 25,676 112,330 17,649 (13,241) 919,464) 283,485 382,731 666,216

*

The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of RMB283,150,000 (2021: Z BEEEAENGATERNED AL

NEN=]

RMB279,256,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. HEEARM2315000T(ZE=—F: AR
#5279,256,0007T) °

The notes on pages 138 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial 55138 F 276 E Wit ARG A B IEHE — 25 o
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
TOREMER

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 HE T -_—F +_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B = ARET T ARETT

Cash flows from operating activities RETHABZEESRE
Loss before income tax & PRAS B AT ES 18
— Continuing operations —RBELEETL (77,414) (135,351)
— Discontinued operations —BERIEEEER 43(a) = 329,643
(77,414) 194,292
Adjustments for: AT HIBELFAE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% - HE KRBT E 15,587 21,586
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEENE 5,389 3,426
Amortisation of intangible assets | A EEE 1,392 1,653
Finance cost A& KA 4,749 6,441
Interest income FE WA (5,478) (2,057)
Dividend income Az 2 A (23) (77)
Impairment of assets BEERE 2,551 2,021
Revenue from sale of non-fungible tokens FERE AR (TNFTI)
("NFT") #HE KA (1,683) -
Transaction costs of NFT sale settled by N FEEAEEBNFT
digital assets TG 519 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWME  BEREB
and equipment &5 18 874 —
Loss on early termination of lease agreement 32 84& || 1 & 17 2 ~ 518 49 _
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of financial assets HERANBEFAEBRZ
at fair value through profit or loss CMEEZEE /(W) 44 (110]
Fair value changes of financial assets BAREFABmZER
at fair value through profit or loss BEZAREZY 1,285 14,218
Gain on conversion/redemption of it /8 0] A 0 AR 22
convertible notes 2 Wa — (6,453
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, HEBRIEEEED
net of tax Z W Es (R BIE) 43(b) = (319,033
Gain on disposal of associate & — B E & QR IR ER — (7,608)
Gain on forgiveness of PayCheck HEREHEER
Protection Program loans and interest KA E TR = (5,888)
Fair value changes of investment properties KREWMEZ AREE = (150)
Share of losses of associates ShEEE A REE 260 -
Share-based compensation expense AR 9 7% BT BY
i & B < 11,983 18,686
Written back of other payable 85 B b FE A FRA (8,583) -
Bad debt recovery from loan to third party KFEZHERZEE
L gEl (6,500) —
Exchange difference ME N =5 (1,427) (18,426)
Operating loss before working capital changes & i8 & & % B Al 2 £ & 518 (56,426) (97.479)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FER L, 16 (142)
Increase in trade and other receivables H 5 N E At fE YR IE I A0 (17,768) (29,098)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K E b JE A FRIAIE AN 6,860 9,340
(Decrease)/Increase in deferred revenue WA ORt2),/ 38 hn (15,282) 1,882
Cash used in operations KEMACH® (82,600) (115,497)
Bank interest received BUERITRE 922 2,057
Income tax paid ERNPTEH (188) (1,718)
Net cash used in operating activities KRETHMAZESTE (81,866) (115,158)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
HeRERER(B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B = ARET T ARETT

Cash flows from investing activities REZTBRBZRERE
Increase in certificate of deposits TFIEE (484,602) —
Decrease/(Increase) in restricted bank balances = [R #l|3R 1745 82  2~
(&) 3,045 (2,275)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BEIEME (3,418) (3,399)
Purchase of digital assets BEHTEE (276) —
Purchase of intangible assets HEERLEE (847) (2,814)
Purchase of investment properties BEREMHE = (2,750)
Purchases of financial assets BARAREFABRZ

at fair value through profit or loss TREE (1,500) (9,000
Acquisition of an associate W g B 2 A 7 (1,500) —
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE—fHEEAEZ

Fr 1S 3k 18 — 11,858

Proceeds from disposal of discontinued PEBKRIELEEB

operation, net of transaction expenses FrigsE {1 S KA 43(b) — 668,381
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAREBEFABRZZ

at fair value through profit or loss CREEMGTIE 10,517 8,460
Receipt of dividend income from financial assets W R IZ AR BT AEBEZ

at fair value through profit or loss TREEZREMBA 23 —
Receipt of repayment from loans to third party WEIBRFE=ZFERZEX 6,500 -
Repurchase of a subsidiary’s shares BE—FAMEAG 2 KkH (4,107) —

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities REZH(FA), Bz

REFE (476,165) 668,461

Cash flows from financing activities MEITBHMEZRERE
Finance cost & PR A (4,749) (6,441)
Repayment in loan payable BEEMNER — (9.170)
Proceeds from bank loan RITERATERE 1,000 -
Payment of redemption of convertible notes fE B AT AR R 2 R = (12,905)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBRNK (7,791) (8,249)
Purchase of shares under Share BRERMDZEBAZBERSD

Award Scheme (3,525) (9,19¢)
Net cash used in financing activities METEHARSFE (15,065) (45,961)
Net [decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBEEEEY

cash equivalents (RA),/ & inEE (573,096) 507,342
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof year £ HE KRB EZEEY 609,070 103,122
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExggyevE 51,315 (1,394)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERZRERBESZEY 29 87,289 609,070

The notes on pages 138 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial 5138 E 276 E i st BARG A T EHREK — 2D °
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S BmETMEE

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 HE T -_—F +_A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ourgame International Holdings Limited [the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 December 2013 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2013
Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's
registered office is P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 30 June 2014 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”] are principally engaged in the development
and operation of online card and board games, organising and
broadcasting online to offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV
shows and contents [collectively, the “Online Games Business”)
primarily in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"/"Lianzhong
Group”) and the United States (the "US"/"AGAE Group”). The Group is
expanding the eSports, sports e-commerce business and other non-
card-and-board games new internet businesses [(collectively, the

“eSports Business”) globally.

Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations, foreign
investors are prohibited from holding equity interest in an entity
conducting online game business and are restricted to conduct value-
added telecommunications services. In order to enable investments
be made into the restricted businesses, the Company established
subsidiaries, Beijing Lianzhong Sports (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (Bt REE A
(It =) BB AR, "WFOE 17) formerly known as Beijing Lianzhong
Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd. (4t REt RR B H 4K BB R
HE2A7F]) and Tianjin Lianhzhong Lequ Technology Development
Co., Ltd. (RIRBRE BB KR ERABR A7, "WFOE 27] (together,
the "WFOEs"]), which are wholly foreign owned enterprises
incorporated in the PRC. The WFOEs have entered into a series of
contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”] with
Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. [t REEREBMERH B R QD 7,
“Beijing Lianzhong”) and Beijing Lianzhong Tiandi Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (1t F Bt R R s B 5 88 B B BR 2 &), “Lianzhong
Tiandi”), and their respective equity holders, which enable the WFOEs
and the Group to:

= exercise effective financial and operational control over Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi;

— exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi;

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

—RER

ERERERERAB (AR ADRKRZ
Z—="F+_ANBRERA=SHS QA
E(CE-—=ZFEIRER=HEEM
R RERREAERAR - AR ZFEM
#F = pE # 3k A P.0. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman KY1-1104,Cayman Islands °
RARABBRMBE-ZTE-—HFEAA=THRE
RERBBMERZAAR A (B
EREWTETD

AR AE—REEERRARLENB R
A(GHAIAERDEEEFEARHK
MBE(PR]THRER]) RER(E
B/ TAGAE. B ) BRI % k&L E &R
HEREE EEBRERR EETE NE
B HELRERGERABR (LB ARG
EHEEES]) AEBEEEZKERSE
THE BEERNEBUREMIEEE
ERETASER(RBARIE FHREFE
%) e

REBEERZHBEZERER IBEREE
EIRHARERLBEREBER 2 RE
ARETEEEEREITEZIIRS -
BERENZRBIER - NAB KK E
REBREE QR ERAF(INEE
EZ1 AiERltRBERRXEMER
RERBMERR) R RZERLEBR K
ZRARABD(IIEBELE2) (B
RINEBELE] ARPBEEMAKL
ZIEBELE) HEBELEEHEIL
SRR EEBAE DB R R A (16
R RAC R R R B ERB R QA
(BRRE)DAREEEEEHE AR
Y—RINAHNRHTEARE]  &A&
MRS EBECERARERERN

- HUAERBRRBRXMWITEAEN
B B 755 % ‘2 0 P IR

- ITEERERAE AR XER R
MR IR ZHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

— receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and their
subsidiaries in consideration for the business support, technical
and consulting services provided by WFOEs, at WFOEs’
discretion;

— obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part
of equity interest in and/or assets of Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi from the respective equity holders at a
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws and
regulations. WFOEs may exercise such options at any time until
it has acquired all equity interests and/or all assets of Beijing

Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi;

= obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi from their respective equity
holders as collateral security for all of Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi’s payments due to WFOEs and to secure
performance of Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi's

obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

The details of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the
prospectus issued by the Company dated 18 June 2014 [the
“Prospectus”] and the announcements issued by the Company dated
9 February 2017, 31 May 2018 and 10 March 2022.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi and its subsidiaries. However, as a result of the
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns
from its involvement with Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and is considered to control Beijing
Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi and hence the Beijing Lianzhong and
Lianzhong Tiandi Group. Consequently, the Company regards the
Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group as consolidated
structured entities under International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”). The Group has consolidated the financial position and
results of the Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group in the

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the
Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Beijing Lianzhong and Lianzhong Tiandi Group. The directors of the
Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC laws

and regulations and are legally enforceable.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approved for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) on 31 March
2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs which collective term includes all applicable
individual International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and include
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

On 19 January 2021, the Company's non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Allied Gaming and Entertainment, Inc. ("AGAE”) formerly known as
Allied Esports Entertainment, Inc. entered into a Stock Purchase
Agreement ("SPA”), as amended on 19 March 2021 and 29 March 2021
SPA respectively, to sell 100% of the capital stock of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Club Services, Inc. ["CSI”). CSI owns 100% of each of the
legal entities that collectively operate or engage in the Company’'s
poker-related business, commonly known as the World Poker Tour
("WPT"). WPT is an internationally televised gaming and entertainment
company that has been involved in the sport of poker since 2002 and
created a television show based on a series of high-stakes poker

tournaments.

®‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

On 12 July 2021, AGAE and the buyer consummated the transactions
contemplated by the SPA, pursuant to which, among other things,
AGAE sold 100% of the outstanding capital stock of CSI to the buyer.
CSI is AGAE's indirect wholly-owned subsidiary that directly or
indirectly owns 100% of the outstanding capital stock of each of the
legal entities that collectively operate or engage in AGAE's WPT
business.

The details of the discontinued operations are set out in Note 43.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended IFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial

statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties, certain financial
assets and liabilities which are stated at fair values. Non-current
assets and disposal group held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The measurement

bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’'s best knowledge and
judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are

disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power over the entity, only substantive rights relating
to the entity (held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the
consolidated financial statements from the date it gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on
sales of intra-group asset are reversed on consolidation, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’'s
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of
subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure

consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from the equity
attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests

and the owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no

adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between [i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii] the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill], and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are
measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets (i.e., reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to
retained earnings). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under I[FRS
9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held
for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect
changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of

investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date. All
dividends whether received out of the investee's pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is

recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and considered as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during the
measurement period about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one year
from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounting for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates at fair value with corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity before the
acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group

obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence, which is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint

control of those policies.

In consolidated financial statements, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the
equity method. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent Lliabilities of the associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within
the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment. The cost of acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the
Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in the associate is
carried at cost and adjusted for the post-acquisition changes in the
Group’'s share of the associate’s net assets less any identified
impairment loss, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The profit or loss
for the year includes the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the associate for the year, including any impairment
loss on the investment in associate recognised for the year. The
Group’s other comprehensive income for the year includes its share

of the associate’s other comprehensive income for the year.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associates.
Where unrealised losses on assets sales between the Group and its
associate are reversed on equity accounting, the underlying asset is
also tested for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Where the
associate uses accounting policies other than those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments
are made, where necessary, to conform the associate’s accounting
policies to those of the Group when the associate’s financial

statements are used by the Group in applying the equity method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest in the associate is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate.

After the application of equity method, the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the
Group’s investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the
Group determines whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in associate is impaired. If such indications are identified,
the Group calculates the amount of impairment as being the
difference between the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) of the associate and its carrying
amount. In determining the value in use of the investment, the Group
estimates its share of the present value of the estimated future cash
flows expected to be generated by the associate, including cash flows
arising from the operations of the associate and the proceeds on
ultimate disposal of the investment.

The Group discontinues the use of equity method from the date when
it ceases to have significant influence over an associate. If the
retained interest in that former associate is a financial asset, the
retained interest is measured at fair value, which is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with
IFRS 9. The difference between (i) the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the
associate; and (i) the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the equity method was discontinued, is recognised in the profit or
loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would have been required if the
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by the investee would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the entity
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint MR EERNANIREK AR L ERN
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does not BRE AEBBEBEEREREIM IS

remeasure the retained interest.

2.5 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and

liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated [i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the
transaction date). When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also

recognised in other comprehensive income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group's presentation currency, have been
converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have been translated into
RMB at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into the RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the translation

reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign operation have been treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated into RMB at the closing rates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of
that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or
loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e., no loss of control) of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e., of associates not involving a change of
accounting basis], the proportionate share of the accumulated

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in progress
as described below) are initially recognised at acquisition cost or
manufacturing cost, including any cost directly attributable to bringing
the assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group’'s
management. They are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other
than construction in progress, less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, as follows:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining term of the
lease and the estimated useful
lives of the assets
Computer equipment 3to S years
Furniture and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles S years

Production equipment S years

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to profit or loss

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

2.7 Investment properties

Investment properties are buildings which are owned to earn rental

income and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost, and
subsequently at fair value, unless fair value cannot be reliably
determined at that time.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed
investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour,
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment
property to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised

borrowing costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Goodwill

Set out below are the accounting policies on goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary. Accounting for goodwill arising on
acquisition of investment in an associate is set out in Note 2.4.

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset
at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is
measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’'s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually

for impairment (see Note 2.21).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of
goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of
gain or loss on disposal.
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M B R RMEE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Digital assets, intangible assets (other than
goodwill) and research and development
activities

Digital assets

Digital assets held as the result of the purchase of Ether
cryptocurrency or receipt of Ether as a form of payment for its sale of
NFT are accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets. The digital
assets are initial recorded at cost and are subsequently remeasured,
net of any impairment losses incurred since the date of acquisition.

The recoverable amount of the digital assets is determined by its fair
value less costs of disposal and its fair value is categorised under
Level 1 fair value hierarchy and determined based on the quoted bid
prices in an active market.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are available for
use. The following useful lives are applied:
Computer software 1 to 5 years
Game intellectual properties, trademark and licenses 2 to 10 years
Unfinished contracts 1to 10 years

Customer relationships 5years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets” amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are tested for
impairment as described below in Note 2.21.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit or
loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to development
activities are recognised as intangible assets provided they meet the
following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product
for internal use or sale;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.
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2.9 Digital assets, intangible assets (other than 29 BFEE EBREEE(B
goodwill) and research and development ZRIN) RARE S (@)
activities (continued)

Research and development costs (Continued) A (|)

(i)  there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or i) BEETKZERAEELFEBSxH
sell it; ENEE:

(i)  the Group’'s ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits

through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available
for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be

reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. The
costs of development of internally generated software, products or
knowhow that meet the above recognition criteria are recognised as
intangible assets. They are subject to the same subsequent

measurement method as acquired intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.10Financial instruments 210/ T 8
Recognition and derecognition R RRILER

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial

instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are transferred. A
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component and are measured at the transaction price in
accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at
fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss ["FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments, are classified into the following categories:

— amortised cost; or

—  FVTPL.

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset;

and
— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within “finance costs” or
“other income”, except for expected credit losses ("ECL") of financial

assets which is presented within “impairment of assets”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.10Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet

the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL]:

— they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold

the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in “other income” in profit or loss. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's
bank balances and cash, restricted bank balances, trade and other
receivables and loans to third parties fall into this category of financial
instruments.

Einancial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other

than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorised at
FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets
whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.10Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the
equity investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment, the Group elects to designate the
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in “fair
value reserve — non-recycling” in equity. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s

perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss in “fair value reserve — non-
recycling” will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the

equity investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’'s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included

in the “other income” in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,

loans payable and lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease Lliabilities] are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments

that are designated and effective as hedging instruments).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
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2.10Financial instruments (Continued) 210/ T2 @)
Financial liabilities (Continued) T BB @E
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities [Continued) EHEENSBEREE (£)

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are included

within “finance costs” or “other income”.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.15.

[rade and other payables and loans payable
Trade and other payables and loans payable are recognised initially at

their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using

the effective interest method.
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Offsetting financial instruments BHEEMTAR
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported EEETRREHMITENIKEEERS
in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a H OHEERAFAEEENRFER

legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or

bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking information
to recognise ECL — the "ECL model".
included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at

Instruments within the scope

amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing
credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events, current
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the

expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition or that have low credit
risk ("Stage 1) and

—  financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is
not low ("Stage 27).

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of
impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime
ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

@;4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

M BRI (8)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in
contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any
point during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables equal
to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of default

occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default
occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available] or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

(Continued)

— existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, business,
financial, economic conditions, or technological environment
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the
borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow

obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in Note

41(e).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated cost of completion and
applicable selling expenses. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out ("FIFQ") method.

2.13Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant

risk of changes in value.

2.14Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see
Note 2.19). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding

receivable would also be recognised (see Note 2.10).

2.15Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a contract is,
or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a
contract, that conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset] for a period of time in exchange for consideration'.
To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

— the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to the

Group;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope

of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use. The Group assess whether it has
the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used

throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component

on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net

of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-Lline basis
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end
of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group’'s incremental borrowing
rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments] less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating a lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for
lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease
liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

—  there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of

reassessment.

—  the lease payments changes due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease

payments using the initial discount rate.

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of modification. The only
exception is any rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 “Leases”. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of IFRS 16 and recognised the change in consideration
as if it were not a lease modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)
When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-

use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and
lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or

less.

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

2.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Group, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the

probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination which are
present obligations at the date of acquisition are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably measured. After
the initial recognition at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that
would be recognised in a comparable provision as described above.
Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that cannot
be reliably fair valued or were not present obligations at the date of

acquisition are disclosed as per above.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet
meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered as contingent

assets.

2.17Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is recognised
at the amount of consideration of shares issued, after deducting any
transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of any
related income tax benefit] to the extent they are incremental costs

directly attributable to the equity transaction.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's
own equity instruments.

Shares held for share award scheme

Share awards granted under share award scheme are satisfied by
shares acquired by the trustee from the market. Where the
Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the trustee under
the share award scheme, the total consideration of shares acquired
from the market (including any directly attributable incremental
costs) is presented as “shares held for share award scheme” and
deducted from total equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the
vested shares for share award scheme purchased from the market
are credited to “shares held for share award scheme”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale. The component
comprises operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income comprising the total of: (i) the post-tax profit or loss of
discontinued operations and [ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognised
on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on the disposal
of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from provision of online gaming services, in-
person services, multiplatform content services and interactive
services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step
process:

(1) Identifying the contract with a customer

(2)  Identifying the performance obligations

(3)  Determining the transaction price

(4)  Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

(5)  Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are
satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract
excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or
as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the
promised goods or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest
income is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under
that contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.

The Group reports the revenue on a gross or net basis depending on
whether the Group is acting as a principal or an agent in a transaction.
The Group is a principal if it controls the specified product or service
before that product or service is transferred to a customer or it has a
right to direct others to provide the product or service to the customer
on the Group’s behalf. Indicators that the Group is a principal include
but are not limited to whether the Group (i} is the primary obligor in
the arrangement; (i) has latitude in establishing the selling price; [iii)
has discretion in supplier selection; (iv] changes the product or
performs part of the service, and [v] has involvement in the
determination of product or service specifications.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(1)  Online gaming income

The Group is engaged in the development and operation of online card
and board games that consist of PC and mobile games. Games
include self-developed games, licensed games and third-party
operated games. The Group also organise and/or hosts online/offline
tournaments.

The Group's revenue is principally derived from the sale of ingame
virtual goods. Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and net of related
surcharges. Substantially all of the Group’'s games are free to play
and players can pay for virtual goods for better in-game experience.
Players purchase our virtual currencies for PC games or mobile
games (collectively, the “Virtual Currencies”), through third-party
payment channels or the purchase of pre-paid game cards. The
Virtual Currencies can be used to exchange for virtual goods such as
personalised avatars and membership plans. Paying players usually
exchange their Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after
purchase. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be

measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:

(a] PCgames

Self-developed games and licensed games

The Group has integrated online game platforms with multiple
distribution channels. The Group distributes locally installed PC
games and provides services through our proprietary PC client
portals, such as Ourgame Hall. The Group also offers web games
playable on web pages served by the Group on ourgame.com,
worldpokertour.com and by third-party distribution channels, which
include websites and web-based portals such as Baidu, Sina Weibo

and Qihoo 360.

For self-developed games and licensed games, the Group is
responsible for hosting the games, providing on-going updates of new
contents, technical support for the operations of the games, as well
as preventing, detecting and resolving in-game cheating and hacking
activities. Third-party distribution and payment channels are
responsible for distribution, marketing, platform maintenance, payer

authentication and payment collections related to the games.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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M BRI (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)  Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games [Continued,

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels collect the
payments from the paying players and remit the cash to the Group,
net of commission charges which are pre-determined according to
the relevant terms of the agreements entered into between the Group
and the third-party distribution or payment channels.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the services which enable the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies to be displayed or used
in the games. As a result, the proceeds received from sales of Virtual
Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue. With the pre-paid game
cards, paying players can credit their user accounts with Virtual
Currencies and exchange for virtual goods in the same way. Proceeds
received from the sale of pre-paid game cards are recorded as
deferred revenue. The attributable portion of the deferred revenue
relating to values of the virtual goods consumed are immediately or
ratably recognised as revenue only when the services are rendered to
the respective paying players.

For the purposes of determining when services have been provided to

the respective paying players, the Group has determined the

following:
— Consumable virtual goods represent items (i] that have a
predetermined service period; or (il where no service is

rendered by the Group for the virtual goods immediately after
purchase by the paying players. Revenue is recognised (as a
release from deferred revenue) when the goods are consumed
and the related services are rendered, or ratably over the
predetermined service period of the respective consumable
virtual goods.

— Durable virtual goods represent items that have no
predetermined service period and are accessible and beneficial
to paying players over an extended period of time. Revenue is
recognised ratably over the expected life of the respective
durable virtual goods ("Player Relationship Period”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games [Continued,

For self-developed games and licensed games, the computer systems
of the Group captures all player data, such as log-in data, purchase
and delivery records for the Virtual Currencies sold and the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies. The Group estimates
the Player Relationship Period based on an overall game by game
basis and platform by platform basis and reassesses such periods
annually. If there are insufficient data to determine the Player
Relationship Period, such as in the case of a newly launched game,
the Group estimates the Player Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by the Group or by third-party
developers until the new game establishes its own patterns and
history. The Group mainly considers the paying players’ spending and
consumption behaviour in estimating the Player Relationship Period,
which typically represents the time interval between paying players’
consecutive recharges of their user accounts with additional Virtual
Currencies and represents a reasonable estimate of the average
expected life of the durable virtual items for the applicable game.

If the Group does not have the ability to differentiate revenue
attributable to durable virtual goods from consumable virtual goods
for a specific product, item or game, the Group recognises revenue
from both durable and consumable virtual goods ratably over the
average life of the durable virtual products or goods, or over the
Player Relationship Period.

For revenues relating to self-developed games and licensed games,
the Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group,
the game license holders and the third-party distribution and payment
channels in the delivery of game experience to the paying players and
concluded the Group takes the primary responsibilities in rendering
services. The Group is determined to be the primary obligor and,
accordingly, the Group records revenue on a gross basis, and
commission charges by game license holders and third-party

distribution and payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)  Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Third-party operated games

The Group also distributes games developed and operated by third-
party developers on the Group’'s own web proprietary platform
including the Group’s client portal and websites. The Group’s revenue
mainly consists of pre-determined portions of total player payments
according to the relevant terms of the agreements entered into
between the Group and the game developers.

The games distributed on the Group’s platform are hosted,
maintained, operated and updated independently by the game
developers, and the Group mainly provides players with access to the
Group's platform to download the third-party developers” games and
limited after-sale basic technical support to the paying players. The
Group has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor in
the services rendered to the paying players as a platform. Accordingly,
the Group records its revenue net of the portion of sharing of

revenues with the game developers.

As the Group provides merely the first contact point by the players to
gain access to download the third-party developers’ games, the Group
believes that its implied obligation to the game developers do not
correspond to the game developers” implied obligation to provide the
service which enables the virtual goods to be displayed and used in
the games. Given that games are hosted, managed, administered and
operated by the game developers, the Group does not have access to
the data on the consumption details and the types of virtual goods
purchased by the paying players. The Group only maintains individual
paying player’s purchase history of the Virtual Currencies which are
used to exchange for virtual goods in the third-party operated games.
As such, the Group has adopted a policy to recognise revenue when
the paying players exchange the Virtual Currencies for consumable or
durable virtual goods for the relevant games.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

(b)  Mobile games

The Group distributes mobile games and provides services mainly for
Android and i0S operating systems through third-party distribution
and payment channels, including mobile operators in the PRC ("Mobile

Operators”).

Self-developed games
For revenue derived from self-developed mobile games, the Group

follows the policies of PC games—"Self-developed games and
licensed games” as the operations of the two types of games are
similar. The Virtual Currencies can be used to exchange for virtual
goods such as symbol and membership plans. Paying players usually
exchange their Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after
purchase.

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels collect the
payments from the paying players and remit the cash to the Group,
net of commission charges which are pre-determined according to
the relevant terms of the agreements entered into between the Group
and the third-party distribution or payment channels.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the services which enable the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies to be displayed or used
in the games. As a result, the proceeds (net of allowance for ECL
assessed by Mobile Operators, if applicable) received from sales of
Virtual Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue. The attributable
portion of the deferred revenue relating to values of the virtual goods
are recognised as revenue (as a release from deferred revenue) when
the goods are consumed and the related services are rendered, i.e.
ratably over the predetermined service period of the respective virtual
goods.

For revenues relating to self-developed mobile games, the Group has
evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group, and the third-
party distribution and payment channels in the delivery of game
experience to the paying players and concluded the Group takes the
primary responsibilities in rendering services. The Group is
determined to be the primary obligor and, accordingly, the Group
records revenue on a gross basis, and commission charges by third-
party distribution and payment channels are recorded as cost of

revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)  Online gaming income (Continued)

[b)  Mobile games (Continued)

Third-party operated games

For revenue derived from third-party operated mobile games, the
Group follows the policies of PC games— Third-party operated
games” as the operations of the two types of games are similar. The
games distributed on the Group’s and third-party distributors’
platform are hosted, maintained, operated and updated independently
by the game developers, and the Group mainly provide players with
access to the Group's platform to download the third-party
developers’ games and limited after-sale basic technical support to
the paying players. The Group has evaluated and determined it is not
the primary obligor in the services rendered to the paying players as a
platform. Accordingly, the Group has adopted a policy to recognise
revenue when the paying players purchase the virtual currencies for
consumable or durable virtual goods for the relevant games and
records its revenue net of the portion of sharing of revenues with the

game developers.

(2) In-person revenue
The Group’s in-person revenue is comprised of event revenue,

sponsorship revenue, merchandising revenue and other revenue.

In-person revenue also includes revenue from ticket sales, admission
fees and food and beverage sales for events held at the Group's
esports properties. Ticket revenue is recognised at the completion of
the applicable event. Point of sale revenues, such as food and
beverage, gaming and merchandising revenues, are recognised when

control of the related goods are transferred to the customer.

The Group also generates sponsorship revenues for naming rights
for, and rental of, the Group’s arena and gaming trucks. Sponsorship
revenues from naming rights of the Group's esports arena and from
sponsorship arrangements are recognised on a straight-line basis
over the contractual term of the agreement. The Group records
deferred revenue to the extent that payment has been received for
services that have yet to be performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(3) Multiplatform content revenue
The Group’'s multiplatform content revenue is comprised of NFT
revenue, sponsorship revenue, music royalty revenue, online
advertising revenue and content revenue.

NFT revenue is generated from the sale of NFT. The Group's NFT
exist on the Ethereum Blockchain under the Group's EPICBEAST
brand, a digital art collection of unique beasts inspired by past and
present e-esport games. The Group uses the NFT exchange,
OpenSea, to facilitate the sale of NFT. The Group, through OpenSea,
has custody and control of the NFT prior to the delivery to the
customer and records revenue at a point in time when the NFT is
delivered to the customer and the customer pays. The Group has no
obligations for returns, refunds or warranty after the NFT sale. The
Group also earns a royalty of up to 10% of the sale price when an NFT
is resold by its owner in a secondary market transaction. The Group
recognises this royalty as revenue when the sale is consummated.

Sponsorship revenue is generated through the sponsorship of the
Group’s TV content, live and online events and online streams. Online
advertising revenue is generated from third-party advertisements
placed on the Group’s website. Music royalty revenue is generated
when the Group’s music is played in the Group’s TV series both on TV
networks and online. The Group recognises sponsorship revenue
pursuant to the terms of each individual contract when the Group
satisfies the respective performance obligations, which could be
recognised at a point in time or over the term of the contract. The
Group records deferred revenue to the extent the Group has received
a payment for services that have yet to be performed or products that
have yet to be delivered.

Music royalty revenue is recognised at the point in time when the
music is played.

(4) Online advertising services income

The Group provided advertising services to companies in the
information technology industry. The Group’s online advertising
service arrangements involve providing the Group’s own online game
platforms to customers to display advertisements and other media
insertions over the stated display period.

According to contractual terms, the Group charges the customers a
fee mainly per number of hits on the advertisements and per number
of download by viewers via the links during the display period. The
Group recognises its revenue generated from online advertising
services based on direct measurements of the contractual pricing
model.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

2.

SXREE PR E @

2. 19U B8 58 ()

(3) DEEARABTKA
REBEMZEalRABENFTRA - &
BA - EZEFKA - B EESKRA
FARWA o

NFTUZA 2R B FANFT 855 o 2S5 B /I NFT
7@ R BE T £ 55 5 BR(EPICBEAST) A f& LA
ABEiRE  PEFERAE—RIABHE
SRETHBREBABERAIENE &
“HPER TR FTEMER AL EE
BINFTAZ 5 F & OpenSea it TTNFT§5 & o
NEBERERFE R A B O0penSea ff
ENFT WRANFTRF SR EF BEREFE I
BB RIZHRERRA - NFT— R E&E - A&
EHMEAERE ERIREEL &
BEARBMBERZPHENFTE
AEBNAESES AEE10%HE F)
B o AEBNHEETKEHZEF B R
RBEUWNA o

EPHBANEBEDAEENERAR
BB I 4% £ 08 B DA R AR £ &R0 77 U R
ReREBEERABRERA BB
ME=ZNDESNTARN - FLEMNRK
ABREENZEREARERRLE
PRH) 7R 55 B B AR B 5= 0 D02 B R
AEBRBEENENG QNGRS

SEEMSENBONEEREREDK
A B AR — B R B SRR A A F
RoASERECHHRBEONRE K
#1232 AN Y 2E 9 SRR B MRER BURE A BR
EIEWA -

FREMNWARER T R 25 E R
7]

(4) REBSRBEA
AEFEREAHMRTENARRTES
G - REBOR EREERB LT R
EIHRSHRAAREPRRHAEEB
BRLEBERTERANRTES REME
BERA °

REBEANGSR AEEXZRENET
HABRSHHERBELBERBBEEN
THREATFPKE AEEERALY
EEEANEEFERIAARLESR
BEEWWA -



SMBREME (&)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(4) Online advertising services income (Continued)
Trade receivables are recorded when the Group has unconditional
rights to payments of online advertising service which are due

according to the contract terms.

The Group has the ability to determine the pricing of the online
advertising service and to take responsibility for monitoring the
quality of advertising service provided and to negotiate the service
terms. The Group is regarded as the primary obligor.

(5) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost [(i.e. gross
carrying amount net of ECL allowance) of the asset.

(6) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is
established.

2.20Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under
“other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. RESTBURBIE @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.21Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:
— Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary;

—  Other intangible assets (including digital assets);
= Property, plant and equipment;

— Right-of-use assets;

— Interests in associates; and

—  The Company’s interests in subsidiaries

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life or
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are
impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever there
are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of money and the

risk specific to the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and not

be larger than an operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro
rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit ("CGU"), except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if

determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no

impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group has various defined contribution plans in accordance with
the local conditions and practices in the municipalities and provinces
in which they operate. Defined contribution plans are pension and/or
other social benefit plans under which the Group pay fixed
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as labour costs when they are due. Under the defined
contribution schemes, forfeited contributions could not be used to

reduce the existing level of contributions.

(b) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a liability when
the Group has a present contractual or constructive obligation as a
result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus are expected to be
settled within twelve months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

(c) Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based

compensation plans under which the Group receives services from

employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the

Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the

grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the equity instruments granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions; and including the impact of

any non-vesting conditions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions (Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in

assumptions about the number of options and shares that are

expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting

period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be

satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options and shares that are expected to vest based on
the non-marketing performance and service conditions. The Group
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
the profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in

the previous paragraph.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs

are credited to share capital (nominal value] and share premium.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a
capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity (share option
reservel in the separate financial statements of the Company.

2.23Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the
acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when
incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended
use or sale are complete.

2.24Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current
or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for
the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised
as a component of tax expense in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if,

and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset

and settle the liability simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in
net if, and only if,

(a)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax

assets against current tax liabilities; and

(c)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(i)  different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled

or recovered.

2.25Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or Board, where appropriate.

2.26Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the board of directors of the Company for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s business components and
for their review of the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial information reported to
the executive director are determined following the Group’s major

product and service lines.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Segment reporting (Continued)

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the service lines requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s

length prices.

In 2021, AGAE has entered into a SPA to sell 100% of the capital stock
of its wholly-owned subsidiary, CSI, together with its subsidiaries,
which operates online card and board games of WPT business.
Accordingly, WPT business is being classified as discontinued
operation. The Group has identified the remaining reportable

segments as below for the year ended 31 December 2021:

Continuing operations
(i) Lianzhong Group — online card and board games business
carried out by Lianzhong Group

(i) AGAE Group — eSports businesses carried out by AGAE Group
The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment

results under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in its consolidated

financial statements prepared under IFRSs.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, segment assets
include all assets and segment liabilities include all liabilities from
the continuing operations.

2.27 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party
is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and if that person:

(i]  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

a person identified in (alli) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs 3. RiMFs] RICISFIERRES
IS AR
Amended IFRSs that are effective for annual RIEZ_F—F—B8HE.
periods beginning on 1 January 2022 LEEHRBEMEEZETE
PREZ PR S 2RI
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the RAFE AEBEEAERELAEER
following amended IFRSs, which are relevant to the Group’s SEMAE BEAEER T - —F—
operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial A—ARBRzZFEHB 2R HBERE
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2022: B2 & ETEE T EREERNT -
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BIRMBERERER 2ZHaER
Framework £ 35 (BFIA)
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment BIpR & 5t £ R ME - BERZE—
— Proceeds before Intended Use F165% (BRIARN)  (EBRERBRI 2B
;A
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of BIRR & 5t 22 Al BREAN-BITEH
Fulfilling a Contract EITHREFTR) ZHA
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRS B B 7S —E-N\ER-_T_TF
Standards 2018-2020 LRI (EFTA) BIPR BT HE ¥R S R 2
FELE
The adoption of the amended IFRSs had no material impact on how PR AN 41 5T B0 B8 B 76 3R 45 HE B £ 4R
the results and financial position for the current and prior periods BREFNEMRBEHEZ EE KT
have been prepared and presented. AR Z T REKERNTLE -
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs

3.

ER 37 5] B

%

1S 8] BIBRBg

HREE m)
EEMmEBEREBZE R

\¢

BIRSER

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial RAGETBRERERETIZBR &
statements, certain new and amended IFRSs have been published but FTHAIINKETHBY RS EL D &

are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

HEERAER BXAREREERE

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related Bl ot is s 2R RieE O RB#H
amendments' FN79R &5
Amendments to IFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets I?%—Eﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁifﬁ B _EFEHEBS
IAS 28 between an Investor and its F 1055 & BIpR NAREEDHE
Associate or Joint Venture? @E‘I‘ZEEU%ZS% ZEEEZEA
(&ETA) BE’
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and B ssR E R SEMEDNZHE
Leaseback’ F 1658 (BFTA) afE’
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities As B pR = 5t 2= Al BEIERTE
Current or Non-Current? F15 (BRI AN) BE Ik
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BB et Z£RE 15 HERZHZZIERE
Covenants’ (f§§T$> a8 &?
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies' Rt RIS 15R SETBUR ZIHE
IFRS Practice Statement 2 &l B B 75
@E'J,\ﬁ%iﬁ%
258 (BRI AN)
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' By b= EithE 2 EE"
EXLACCHIEN)
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and e —RGEED
Liabilities arising from a Single F125% (BT A) BEENMBEEA
Transaction' /Y IR IE A 18

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 ! R-ZE_=F— A —BHZ2EHKBZ
FJE B £

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 : RZZE-_HWNE-—A—-—HasizgRKBZ
F E B £

Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period beginning
on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on
new and amended IFRSs are not expected to have a material impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

’ 1#) 155 7 7€ £ 20 B HR

EEEE AERMZERGR

98 fp A

BMAMIZEHENEEAARRAKE

& 5 IR R R -
R ERTRYAE

1 BRI RS

BERABHTRE

B BERRELEATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

M BRI (8)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” and related
amendments

IFRS 17 was issued to replace IFRS 4
interim standard that allowed entities to use a wide variety of
accounting practices for insurance contracts, reflecting national
accounting requirements and variations of those requirements. IFRS
17 solves the comparison problems created by IFRS 4 by requiring all
insurance contracts to be accounted for in a consistent manner.
Insurance obligations will be accounted for using current values
instead of historical cost, ending the practice of using data from when
a policy was taken out.

“Insurance Contracts”, an

IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts an entity issues (including
those for reinsurance), reinsurance contracts it holds and investment
contracts with a discretionary participation features, provided the
entity also issues insurance contracts. The standard introduces
insurance contract measurement principles requiring:

— current, explicit and unbiased estimates of future cash flows;

— discount rates that reflect the characteristics of the contracts’
cash flows; and

— explicit adjustment for non-financial risk.

Besides, IFRS 17 also introduces the following changes:

— Day one profits should be deferred as a contractual service
margin and allocated systematically to profit or loss as entities
provide coverage and are released from risk.

— Revenue is no longer equal to written premiums but to the
change in the contract liability covered by the consideration.

— A separate measurement model applies to reinsurance
contracts held. Modifications are allowed for qualifying short-
term contracts and participating contracts.

— More extensive disclosure requirements.

IFRS 17 and related amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application is permitted.
The directors of the Group expect that the amendments have no
material impact on the financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback”

The amendments specify that, in subsequent measurement of the
lease liability arising from a sale and leaseback transaction (where
the transaction qualifies as a sale under IFRS 15), a seller-lessee
determines “lease payments” and “revised lease payments” in a way
that does not result in the recognition of a gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. It would reduce the lease liability as if the
“lease payments” estimated at the date of transaction had been paid.
Any difference between those lease payments and the amounts
actually paid is recognised in profit or loss. The amendments do not
prescribe a particular method of subsequent measurement. The
seller-lessee will need to develop and apply an accounting policy that

results in relevant and reliable information in accordance with IAS 8.

The illustrative examples to IFRS 16 have also been amended.
Example 24 now illustrates a sale and leaseback transaction with
fixed payments and above-market terms. A new Example 25
illustrates a sale and leaseback transaction with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate. The illustrative
examples also clarify that the liability, that arise from a sale and
leaseback transaction that qualifies as a sale applying IFRS 15, is a

lease liability.

Amendments to IFRS 16 are effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and are applied by seller-lessee
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after
the date of initial application (i.e. from the beginning of annual
reporting period in which the entity first applied IFRS 16). Earlier
application is permitted. The directors of the Group expect that the

amendments have no material impact on the financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs 3.

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” and Amendments to
IAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”
(“2022 Amendments”)

The amendments provide further guidance to clarify how to classify
debt and other liabilities as current or non-current which are
summarised as follows:

— It clarifies that a liability is non-current if an entity have a right (instead
of unconditional right as stated before the amendments) to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. This right has to be existed at
the end of the reporting period, regardless of whether the
lender tests for compliance at that date or at a later date;

— Any expectations about events after the reporting period do not
impact the assessment made at the end of the reporting period

as to the classification of the liability; and

—  “Settlements” are newly defined as a transfer to the
counterparty that results in the extinguishment of the liability.
The transfer could be of cash, other economic resources (e.g.
goods or services), or entity’'s own equity instruments. Thus, if
the counterparty conversion option is classified as liability
under IAS 32, the transfer of equity instruments by exercising
the conversion option constitute settlement of liability for the
purpose current or non-current classification of liabilities. One
exception to the definition is that if the counterparty conversion
option is classified as equity in accordance with IAS 32, the
transfer of equity instruments by exercising the conversion
option does not constitute settlement of liability and would be
disregarded when determining whether the liabilities is current
or non-current.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” and Amendments to
IAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”
(“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

2022 Amendments issued in 2022 clarified that only covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, which an entity must comply
with on or before the reporting date (even if the covenant is only
assessed after the reporting date) affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Those covenants to be complied
with after the reporting date do not affect the classification of loan

arrangements as current or non-current at the reporting date.

Besides, the 2022 Amendments required an entity to provide
additional disclosure when a liability arising from a loan agreement is
classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is
contingent on compliance with future covenants within twelve months.
The information provided should enable users of financial statements
to understand the risk that the liability could become repayable within

twelve months of the reporting period, including:
—  the carrying amount of the related liabilities;

— information about the covenants [including the nature of the
covenants and when the entity is required to comply with them);

and

— facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that an entity may
have difficulty complying with covenants. Such facts and
circumstances could also include the fact that the entity would
not have complied with the covenants based on its

circumstances at the end of the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also deferred the effective date of the 2020
Amendments to the annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024, in which both amendments are to be applied as a
package and apply retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
The directors of the Group expect that the amendments have no
material impact on these consolidated financial statements

®‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes accounting estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Provision for ECL of financial assets

The Group determines the provision for ECL of financial assets (Note
11). These estimates are based on the ECL to be incurred, which is
estimated by taking into account the credit loss experience, ageing of
overdue receivables, debtors’ repayment history and debtors’ financial
position and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions. All of which involve a significant degree of
management judgements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has trade receivable of
RMB12,185,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB1,089,000) (2021:
RMB6,283,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB943,000)) and other
receivables of RMB62,516,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB9,964,000] (2021: RMB47,540,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB9,739,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b) Current and deferred income taxes

As detailed in Note 9, the Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Significant judgement is required from the Group in
determining the provision for income taxes in each of these
jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in

which such determination is made.

(c) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment (Note 17), right-of-use assets (Note

18] and intangible assets (Note 23) with finite useful lives are

depreciated or amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated

useful lives of the assets, after taking into account the estimated
residual value, if any. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of
the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation
and amortisation expense to be recorded during any reporting period.

The useful lives are based on the Group's historical experience with

similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological

changes. The depreciation and amortisation expense for future
periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(c) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful

lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts of the assets have been
determined based on the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of

judgement and estimates about future cash flows and discount rates.

In the process of estimating expected future cash flows, management
makes assumptions about future revenues and profits. These
assumptions related to future events and circumstances. The actual
results may vary and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets within the next financial year. Determination of the
appropriate discount rate and growth rate and growth rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for assets
specific risk factors. Details of the estimates of the recoverable

amount of cash generating units ("CGUs") are disclosed in Note 17.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has property, plant and equipment
of RMB18,429,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB51,318,000) (2021:
RMB29,640,000 (net of impairment loss of RMB51,318,000)), right-of-
use assets of RMB21,207,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB27,198,000) (2021: RMB20,527,000 (net of impairment loss of
RMB27,981,000)) and intangible assets of RMB1,879,000 (net of
impairment: RMB1,035,000) (2021: RMB2,411,000 (net of impairment:
RMB1,035,000)).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(d) Impairment of interests in associates

The Group makes provision for impairment in its interest in associates
(Note 21) based on an assessment of the recoverable amounts of the
associates. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The assessment
requires the use of judgements and estimates and any changes to
these judgements and estimates could result in a material change to
the recoverable amounts of the associates.

(e) Estimation of fair value of properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market
for similar property in the same location and condition and subject to
the same lease or other contracts. In the absence of such information,
the Group determines the amount within a range of reasonable fair
value estimates. In making this judgement, the Group considers

information from a variety of sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for properties of different
nature, condition or location (or subject to different lease or

other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences;

(i} recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices;
and

(i) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of
future cash flows, derived from the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts, and (where possible] from external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties in
the same location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the

amount and timing of the cash flows.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of the Group’'s
investment properties carried at fair value are RMB2,900,000 (2021:
RMB2,900,000). Details of the fair value measurements are disclosed
in Note 19.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
M BRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BARSEHESIRA @

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s L2 ERERSEHBRZENK
accounting policies ¥ B

(a) Control over AGAE (a) ¥FAGAEBY#E

The Group holds 31.1% (2021: 30.6%) of the common stock and voting AREBEBEACAEEEM3N % (2T = —

rights in the AGAE Group. The remaining voting rights are held by a F :30.6%) F @Hx&? EiEe HspiRE

fund investment companies, certain directors of AGAE Group and RABRESRER & TAGAES B E

numerous of shareholders, none of which individually hold more than 1% ENZERERE ﬁ CE R EEREE

of the voting rights. There are no arrangements for the other HBH 1% R ZEHE o B fth AR BR 2 R IF #& B 4R

shareholders to consult one another or act collectively. The R EETHNTHE - B EED TG

management has assessed the proportion of voting rights, on the LERENLD - BEANEBEERGOH

basis of the absolute size of the Group’s holding and the relative size EHHBE REMBROMNBEEESE  KE

of the other shareholdings, and over 50% of board of directors are ERFHKERASEHIRZZRHERE -

nominated and recommended by the Group. The management ERERERRASEERECANEE

concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to MR EREAIEEACAEEBNEBIEE

direct the relevant activities of AGAE Group and therefore has control il £ AGAE & & 5 4% &l # - BNAGAES

over AGAE Group. Details of the interest in AGAE Group are set out in B EmaBEEH N RE20 -

Note 20.

SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. 2EEN

Segment result, assets and liabilities PHEE BEEREE

The board of directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker ("CODM"), has identified the Group’s operating and

reportable segments as below and further described in Note 2.26:

(i) Lianzhong Group — online card and board games business

carried out by Lianzhong Group

(il AGAE Group — eSports businesses carried out by AGAE Group

ARaEEg(AFTELERRE(E
= **Mi%ma% EAEBMEE
M 2o T (RMsE2.26 A # 5

%Jzﬁt):

l BIEE-dBEREEE
RS

17’ AR

(i) AGAESRE — HAGAEREIETTME
R

HREARSRERAT —E__FER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & &

—E-—F+_A=+—HILEE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. DEEN @
Segment result, assets and liabilities (continued) DEEE EEREEMm
2022
—E-—
Lianzhong AGAE
Group Group Eliminations Total
BREH AGAES B I &5 et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®Trn AR%BTRn AR¥Tx
Continuing operations: BELEER:
Revenue WA
— From external customers —RANEF 174,983 42,729 = 217,712
Impairment of assets (Note 11) BEME (1) (1,446) (1,105) - (2,551)
Reportable segment results 2D WEE (5,601) (71,813) — (77,414)
Loss before income tax BRETS R AT EE (5,601) (71,813) - (77,414)
Income tax credit FTiefife -
Loss for the year FREE (77,414)
Other information Hit &
Interest income 7 BUA 169 753 — 922
Finance cost B 7 B AR (335) (4,614) — (4,749)
Depreciation of property, plantand ¥ % - BE LXK EITE
equipment (1,745) (13,842) - (15,587)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FFHEEAENE 3,432) (1,957 = (5,389)
Amortisation of intangible assets B A B (1,366) (26) - (1,392)
Loss on disposal of financial assets at HEE AR B AEBREZ
fair value through profit or loss EREEZEHR (44) - - (44)
ASSETS 5E
Segment assets DHEE 139,270 634,330 - 773,600
LIABILITIES =R
Segment liabilities PHEE 44,331 63,053 - 107,384
Other information Hit &R
Non-current assets [other than FRBEE(ERIA
financial instruments), including: BroN) BLIE ¢ 18,342 26,417 - 44,759
Additions to non-current segment REFNERDOHBEE
assets (other than financial (BT ERBRIN)
instruments) during the year 12,347 2,463 - 14,810
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & &

—E-—F+_A=+—HILEE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued] 5. DEER @
Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) DEEE EEREEMm
2021
—T-—F
Lianzhong AGAE
Group Group  Eliminations Total
BREE AGAEL H 1 3 @t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRE ARETT ARETR
Continuing operations: BFRESEEL:
Revenue WA
— From external customers —RANTEP 111,836 31,979 — 143,815
Impairment of assets (Note 11) EERMEMEN) (2,021) - - (2,021)
Reportable segment results A2/ HWEE (47,109) (88,242 - (135,351)
Loss before income tax BAEEATEE (47,109) (88,242) - (135,351)
Income tax credit FIES T Ei%) 34
Loss for the year FABE (135,317)
Other information Hin &R
Interest income F B A 2,057 - - 2,057
Finance cost B 7 AR (87) (6,354) - (6,441)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE
equipment (410) (21,176) - (21,586)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FABEEENTE (1,523) (1,903) - (3,426)
Amortisation of intangible assets BREESH (1,627) (26) - (1,653]
Fair value changes of investment RENEZRREEE
properties 150 - - 150
Gain on disposal of associates & — R E QR 2 s 7,608 - - 7,608
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HEE QA BT ABZZ
fair value through profit or loss SREEzME 110 - - 110
Gain on conversion/redemption of i /BRI RRER Y
convertible notes W & - 6,453 - 6,453
ASSETS EE
Segment assets DA E 134,994 675,031 - 810,025
LIABILITIES =N
Segment liabilities Db EE 52316 69,722 — 122,038
Other information H & R
Non-current assets (other than FERHEE(ERIA
financial instruments), including: B oh) B 3E 15,871 39,607 — 55,478
Additions to non-current segment REFENERDHDBEE
assets [other than financial (BT AR
instruments) during the year 17,283 1,052 - 18,335

HREEERERAT "B _EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE 6. WA
The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to these AEEFEEBRREBENRLEG S M BHE
consolidated financial statements. The Group's revenue from external MsE1 o REBRFARABEINBE &
customers recognised during the year is as follows: JTZWART :
Continuing operations BFEKSEXEK
2022 2021
—E=-= —_ET-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTT
Revenue from contract with customers EEEHWA
Lianzhong Group BRER
— Online games revenue —fF EERWA 84,556 111,836
— Online advertising services income — 8 FEERBKA 90,427 -
AGAE Group AGAELE
— In-person revenue — @ ABEBUA 41,037 27,109
— Multiplatform content revenue —Z¥FaRBWA 1,692 4,870
217,712 143,815
2022 2021
—E=-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Timing of revenue recognition KAERNREEMNE
At a point in time P — I ] Bh 197,127 132,877
Over time B F 1 3B 20,585 10,938

217,712 143,815
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U I MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE (continued) 6. WA @@
Revenue from external customers recognised under discontinued RE RN T 43R B B R IELE %
operation in Note 43(a) during the year is as follows: BHETNIISEFESZIRADT
Discontinued operations ERIEEEER
2021
T —%F
RMB'000
ARBTT
Revenue from contract with customers EFAEHBA
AGAE Group AGAEAX &
— In-person revenue —EAEBIA 6,279
— Multiplatform content revenue —ZTFEATRA 26,275
— Interactive revenue — 58X KA 571,441
83,995
2021
T —%F
RMB'000
ARBTT
Timing of revenue recognition WA T 2R R B
At a point in time AR — B2, 26,862
Over time BE B 3 = 57,133
83,995
Online games revenue is derived from the development and operation R EMEBIARE S REEE EHE
of online card and board games that consist of PC and mobile games. PR (BIEPCIEEL K Fit) - R B IE R
Games include self-developed games, licensed games and third-party THBNEE REBEEBENMNBAEF=ZH&E
operated games. B B2 Y, o
In-person revenue is comprised of event revenue, sponsorship BAERKABEEZSH WA BBHIK
revenue, merchandising revenue and other revenue. A B a A R E A o

BRARDRERAT —E-"EER @



REVENUE (continued)

Multiplatform content revenue is comprised of distribution revenue,
sponsorship revenue, music royalty revenue, online advertising

revenue and content revenue.

Interactive revenue is primarily comprised of subscription revenue,
licensing, social gaming and virtual product revenue.

Details of revenue recognition are disclosed in Note 2.19 to these
consolidated financial statements.

Geographical information

The following illustrates the geographical analysis of the Group's
revenue from external customers, based on the country from which
the transactions are executed, and information about its non-current
assets (other than financial instruments), based on the location of
assets and the location of the operations to which they are allocated
in the case of the intangible assets and goodwill.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RO BRITME (BE)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. WA )

ZTERNBRABRERETRA BEBK
ABREMNBEA REESEARRA

N
EHARAZIZBEITERA BE-
A 22 3 B Ko FEE 46 S m A

N R B AR B TS R R
21945 5% -

TEGBAAEEKXRBIBEL KA
(REBEETRXZIMEBRKERE) WA
MEFRRHEE(ERTARIIN (RE
BEMAEMRERDBE 2 EEHE (G
BEVEERBEMT)AN)WERZH
& 247 o

Non-current assets (other than

Revenue financial instruments)
KA RBEE(EBI ERRM)
As at 31 As at 31
2022 2021 December 2022 December 2021
R=-EE=-— MN_EZ—F
=E== —T-—% +=H=+—-8B +=—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T AR¥T T ARET T
PRC i 174,983 111,836 19,582 14,914
USA* EE* 41,564 29,019 25,593 39,185
Others Hi 1,165 2,960 824 1,379
217,712 143,815 45,999 55,478
* Revenue from USA not including the revenue from discontinued 2 REERZBRATBEREE KRIEE

operation amounting to RMB83,995,000.

Information about major customers

The Group has a large number of game players, no revenue from any
individual game player or customer exceeded 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U I MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. EHMURZE
2022 2021
—E-—8F T —4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B &E ARET T AR¥ETT

Other revenue Hi g A
Bank interest income HRATH S WA 922 2,057
Interest income from certificate FREMSHA
of deposits 4,556 —
Net foreign exchange gain SN U A R 56 -
Dividend income % B WA 23 77
5,557 2,134
Other net income Hib s F 8
Bad debt recovery of loan to third party 44 FFE = H 2 EFHEE
(2021: Bad debts recovery) e (—ZE=-—F : E
Y [El) 6,500 1,536
Gain on forgiveness of PayCheck HEREHEER
Protection Program loans (TPPPER EFIEE
("PPP loans”) and interest W E= — 5,888
Written back of other payable M 85 B b, FE A FIR 30(b) 8,583 -
Sundry income HMIEUW A 926 989
16,009 8,413
21,566 10,547

BRARDRERAT —E-"EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMK
2022 2021
—E-—8F =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Interest charges and transaction cost on Al AR R A A B K
Convertible Notes R G - 602
Interest charges on bridge loan payables JERTPE R E SR 2 P 7 & — 806
Interest expenses FBEFX 12 326
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEEBBENMBER 4,737 4,707
4,749 6,441
9. INCOME TAX CREDIT 9. FTERIER
2022 2021
—E-_F T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Current tax BN A B 18
The PRC a3
— Current year —AREE = -
— Prior years —BAEE - (34)
Income tax credit FrEBliE % = (34)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BERETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 HE=-ZFT-_=—F+-—_A=+—HILFE

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 9. FIERNIE2m®m

CEEREEMTEREZRANERSG
HEBERLERERRNGIESHRAIERR
EEMERFESEOFEERN =S RN

enacted tax rate to loss before income tax can be reconciled as T

The difference between the actual income tax charge in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and the amounts which would result from applying the

follows:

2022 2021
—E2-_= T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Loss before income tax from continuing REFBBEREEBZ
operations bR PTG T AT 18 (77,414) (135,351
Profit before income tax from discontinued REE KR ILELEK 2
operations % P45 350 Al A = 329,643
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BT BiAT (B518), R A (77,414) 194,292
Tax on (loss)/profit before income tax, BRAETISELAT (B1B), SR AT E
calculated at the statutory rates (RHEBERS R AERER
applicable to profits in the tax HAEEEREAE)
jurisdiction concerned (21,927) 58,471
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses AR RBETE 4,395 4,838
Tax effect on non-taxable income ERBMUMANT TG B (1,832) (97,160
Tax effect on preferential income tax rates  EARH B R AINEZEH
applicable to subsidiaries BMENB BT E 263 3,187
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not MABREAREEE Y
recognised Hisg e (3,327) (5,708)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised MARBHIBABERZ RBEE 22,428 36,372
Over-provision in respect of prior year BEFEBRERE - (34)
Income tax credit FiEtiiEsR = (34)
I RERZERERA T

—=-—EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has not been
provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in the
PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated
assessable profits for the year based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The applicable income
tax rate is 25%.

According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim
150% of the research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that
year ["Super Deduction”). The Group made such claims for deduction for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

US profits tax

Subsidiaries operating in the US are subject to US federal and state tax
on its assessable profits. The applicable tax rate for federal tax is 21%
whilst the tax rate for state tax of California, the principal place of
business of the Company’s major US subsidiaries is 8.8% (2021: 8.8%).
US profits tax has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss for
taxation purposes for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

(f)

PRC withholding tax

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group is
also liable to a 10% withholding tax on dividends to be distributed from
the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC in respect of its
profits generated from 1 January 2008. If a foreign investor incorporated
in Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

As at 31 December 2022, no deferred tax liabilities had been provided for
the PRC withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of approximately RMB300,473,000 (2021: RMB282,630,000) of
certain subsidiaries because the Group controls the dividend policy of
these subsidiaries and it is not probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future.

Unrecognised tax losses

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
approximately RMB366,204,000 (2021: RMB379,122,000) to carry forward
against future taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under
current legislation except losses of approximately RMB155,144,000 (2021:
RMB240,458,000) that may be carried forward for 5 years from the year
it carry the loss.

9.

FTERIES @
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(e} HEEMH

(f)

BIEFBEBREEER  AEB AR
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SRR TSR T BER IR R E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING 10. REFEBEREEBLZEA
OPERATIONS B
Loss for the year from continuing operations is arrived at after REBBECEER 2 FRBELEMNR
(crediting)/charging: GEtA) AT HIEBES
2022 2021
—EBE-—F T —%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Lease charges related to short-term leases H/EHiFIEERINHEE R 568 662
Auditors’ remuneration % B0 B &

Audit services Eit R 4,139 3,745

Non-audit services FEFERE 263 260
Depreciation: E:

Owned assets (Note 17) P B E (M EE17) 15,587 21,586

Right-of-use assets (Note 18] = AEEE (Mis18) 5,389 3,426
Total depreciation eEEsE 20,976 25,012
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 23) %2 & /&= # $5 (FfI £ 23) 1,392 1,653
Net foreign exchange [gain)/loss HNEE (Mg 2k), B 18 F 5 (56) 253
Gain on disposal of an associates (Note 21)  H & — Bt & QA &) 2 U 2%

(FiF&E21) — (7,608)

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of financial assets at i & & A f EFT ABzE 2

fair value through profit or loss eMEEZEBR/ (W) 44 (110]
Gain on conversion/redemption of HER B O AR R R 2 ek

Convertible Notes — (6,453
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BEMEBEEE

equipment 874 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BERETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

11. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 1. EERE
2022 2021
—E-C—F T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B &E ARET T AR¥ETT

Trade and other receivables B 5 & H th fE W IR 27 1,446 1,980
Inventories FE — 41
Digital assets HTEE 1,105 —
Total @t 2,551 2,021
12. DIVIDENDS 12. BR
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for EETERRNBE-ZE-__F+=A
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). ZSt-BLEFEZRERE(ZF=—
FoE)-
13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. B8R (BR) &F
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share a) BREXR(EER) &BA
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on BREX(ER) /BN IEEARA
the (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company BEa AEN(EBR) SRR FE
and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in A E B AT B AR N R ST 18 BT
issue during the year. HGH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 HE=-—FT-_=—F+-—_A=+—HILFE

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(a) Basic [loss)/earnings per share (Continued)

13. B8R (B1E) BA @

(a) BREXR(BE) & @

2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
(Loss)/Profit attributable to equity holders ~ ANRA B S B A BN
of the Company for the year (RMB’000) FN(EE), & T
(AREFT)

— Continuing operations —FEREED (29,609) (74,367)
— Discontinued operations —ERIEEEER = 100,871
(29,609) 26,504

Weighted average number of ordinary

F 8 (Pl

shares in issue during the year (Note (i))

)

FACBITHEBRNE
( )

1,073,222,248

1,055,122,400

Basic (loss)/earnings per share

FERERER),/BF

(in RMB cents per share) (AEBERARBSE)
— Continuing operations — BB ER (2.76) (7.05)
— Discontinued operations —BRIEEEER = 9.56
(2.76) 2.51
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share from (b) Eﬁgﬁ?ﬁ‘ﬁ‘; EXHBRER
continuing operations and discontinued IR EXEENTRES

operation

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on
the (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has six
categories of potential ordinary shares, being the Company's
share option schemes, options, warrants, restricted common
shares, unit purchase options and contingent consideration
shares issued by a subsidiary of the Company. The impacts had
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts
presented.

@;4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
M BRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 13. R (BR) &R m

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share from (b) REFEBREEZEFRER
continuing operations and discontinued IEEXBNEREITR
operation (Continued) M (B8) @
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has six BE-_Z-_—4#+-_A=+—H
categories of potential ordinary shares, being the Company’s IHFEE  ARARBEANBEELE
share option schemes, options, warrants, restricted common f& - BIRRGE 2 BEIRERTE - A
shares, unit purchase options and contingent consideration AR — KRB QG BIT 2 B -
shares issued by a subsidiary of the Company. The impacts had RBEE FRE L@ B
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts EHELRIARERSD BHEFE
presented. BEUEMEI 2 BREREN G HE

ERREETE -

Note: B &

()  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (i) ERTEERMETHE
The calculation of weighted average number of ordinary shares in FARNB BT BRME TS HIZ
issue during the year is based on outstanding ordinary shares BEATAE SN A IROR B AR 10 SR B ET
less weighted average number of ordinary shares repurchase of &5 [ /Y X 38 A% A9 X 3m A% N #E
ordinary shares for the Share Award Scheme. HYEE -

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 14. EEREfIHX (BREES
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) B )

2022 2021
—E-= —ET-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETTT

Salaries, bonus and allowances Ha - {EA K2R 50,476 50,205
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAKE M T 2l 7,512 5,705
Severance payments EME 5,757 2,581
Share-based compensation expense VARR 1 72 B 5 6 B & 5 52 11,983 18,686

75,728 77,177

HREARSRERAT —E__FER .@



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 HE=-—FT-_=—F+-—_A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

15. ESREZITHRAEE M

Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments disclosed pursuant to HBE EHRA - FAD TED E383(1) &
the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies NERRI(BEESNaER) HHIE2
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information B EEREETHRAEMNTHEES
about Benefits of Directors) Regulations is set out below: A :
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-
Directors’ and benefits benefit based
fees inkinds contributions payment Total
) e 2R BUKEHN URGBH
EEHe REVAZ HY ERNGTR gt
Notes RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
M ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TR
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-2_—F
tZA=Zt+—-BLEE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Lu Jingsheng BERESE (1) 258 809 136 2,014 3,217
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Li Yangyang FHBEE (2) 482 - - - 482
Mr. Liu Jiang 2T %% (3) = = - — —
Mr. Liu Xueming TP (4) 239 — - 206 445
Mr. Gao Liping =BT EE (5) 98 — - — 98
Mr. Hua Yumin EFRALE (5) 98 - - - 98
Ms. Yu Bing Fik#&+ (6) 1" - - - 1"
Ms. Wang Ruyuan THELt (6) 1" — — - 1
Mr. Wang Runqun THELE (6) 1" - — 46 57
Ms. Xiao Yundan HEMZL (6) 1" 228 13 90 342
Independent non-executive directors: BY FHTES:
Mr. Ma Shaohua ShELL (7) 242 - - - 242
Mr. Zhang Li ENkE (8) 242 - - - 242
Mr. GUO Yushi BERTLE (9) 242 - - - 242
Mr. Dai Bing kL4 (10) 16 - — — 16
1,961 1,037 149 2,356 5,503
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_Z-_—F
TZA=+—BLEFE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Li Yangyang FHEEE (2) 659 - - - 659
Mr. Lu Jingsheng BERELE (1) 247 509 - 3,687 4,443
Mr. Gao Hong RERFE (11) - - - - -
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Liu Jiang FIxE (3) - - - - -
Mr. Chen Xian Rz e (12) - - - - -
Ms. Fu Qiang Bkt (11 - - - - -
Mr. Hu Wen XA (1) - - - - -
Mr. Liu Xueming 22 HEE (4) 21 - - 377 398
Mr. Gao Liping SBTEE (5) 16 - - - 16
Mr. Hua Yumin ERRILE (5) 16 - - - 16
Ms. Wu Libing [SBEkZt (13) 4 - - - i
Independent non-executive directors: %3 JEH 1T %E
Mr. Ma Shaohua FIEX (7) 250 - - - 250
Professor Huang Yong %ﬁﬂ&‘ (14) 125 — - - 125
Mr. Zhang Li ENEE (8) 102 - - - 102
Mr. GUO Yushi BERXE (9] 41 - - - 41
1,518 509 — 4,064 6,091

Ourgame International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

Mr. Lu Jingsheng, an independent non-executive Director was re-
designated as an executive Director, CEO of the Company and the
Chairman of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management
Committee with effect from 1 May 2021, and has resigned the position of
the Chairman of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management
Committee with the effect from 18 November 2022.

Mr. Li Yangyang, an executive Director has resigned from the position of
non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with effect from
30 September 2022.

Resigned on 30 September 2022.

Mr. Liu Xueming was appointed as a non-executive Director and the
acting Chairman of the Board with effect from 6 May 2021 and 30
September 2022 respectively.

Appointed on 4 November 2021.

Appointed on 16 September 2022.

Mr. Ma Shaochua was re-designated as the Chairman of the Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 18 November
2022.

Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as an independent non-executive Director

and the Chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from é May 2021.

Mr. Guo Yushi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 4
November 2021.

Mr. Dai Bing was appointed as an independent non-executive Director

and the Chairman of the Risk Prevention and Digital Assets Management
Committee with effect from 18 November 2022.

Resigned on 6 May 2021.

Resigned on 5 February 2021.

Appointed on 6 May 2021 and resigned on 24 September 2021.

Resigned on 14 May 2021.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the Company

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

15. ESREZITHRAEE M

(&)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

BH=E
.

=

BYANTESERELEECHATAE
HNITEE AR AT AR RERY
TR FTEEEHEZEEEIFE A%
——ERA-ARER BEITRBH
BEEBTEEEEZESEIE B %
——F+—At+t N \BEEK-

HITEETHHEADBEENTE
E EFTCFF REZESEERD
XEREZEBE®FRF BZT-__FhA
=tHRBEEK-

RZTZ—FAA=+THEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. EEREZTHAS F

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no retirement benefits
were paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of their services
as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking (2021: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no payments or benefits in
respect of termination of directors’ services were paid or made,

directly or indirectly, to the directors of the Company (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available the services of a
person as directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no consideration was
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available
directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there are no
other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors,
their controlled bodies corporate and connected entities.

Material interests of directors in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’'s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & &

FH-_A=1T—HLFE

16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL 16.

EMOLUMENTS

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group

for the year included one director (2021: one director] whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The

emoluments paid/payable to the remaining four (2021: four)

individuals during the year are as follows:

hBRaeFMAL

FARKELEREFMALO R EHE
—RER(CE-_—F: —KEF) H
MeEERBRREXASNF - FREMS
ENHTHR(ZEZ—F  ME) AL
ST

2022 2021
—E-C8F —ET-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET ARBT T
Salaries and other emoluments HeNEME S 6,615 19,788
Share-based payments VAR 1 7% B B0 A5 3K 421 12,889
7,036 32,677
The emoluments fell within the following bands: < 25 & > F A S4B Rl ¢

2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —4F

Emolument bands: B < 78 A1 -
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T & 2,000,000 7% 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t & 2,500,0007% 7T 2 —
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T 23,000,000 7T - —
HK$3,000,001 - HK$4,000,000 3,000,001% 7T % 4,000,0007% 7T — —
HK%$4,000,001 - HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 JT 25,000,000 7T —_ 2
Over HK$5,000,000 5,000,000/ 7T A —_ 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the

five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining

the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year ended

31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

REBEEZZE-__F+ZA=+—HLF
B AEEHERNIRNESIAE RS
FA T HERNMS A EAEEMAR
& & sk i A 7N £ B 12 /) 52 B ok R B R (R
(ZF=—F 8\)-

HREEERERAT "B _EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MR 5 (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BB R
Furniture
Leasehold  Computer  and office Motor Construction  Production
improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  inprogress equipment Total
BRR

BENERE SHIE ROZRE RE  EBIBR LERK EH
RMBOOD ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMBOOD  RMBO00  RMBIO0D  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARBTRT ARETT ARETR ARETT

At 1 January 2021 R-B--%-A-H
Cost AR 102,096 12,184 18,267 7590 - 51,164 191301
Accumulated depreciationand Rt ERIGERER

impairment losses (83,665) [11,845) (15,565) 4,230) - (27,273) (142,578)
Net book amount FHFE 18,431 339 2,702 3,360 23,891 48,723
Year ended BE-Z--%

31 December 2021 TZA=t+-BLEE
Opening net book amount FNEMFE 18,431 339 2,702 3,360 23,891 48,723
Additions NE 1,544 556 113 611 77 498 3,399
Depreciation e 8,226) [404) (1,071) 1,667) [10,218) (21,586)
Exchange differences EXER (331) 7 (59) (59) - (440) (896)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 11418 484 1,685 2,245 77 13,731 29,640
At 31 December 2021 R-B--#+-A=+t-H
Cost %S 58,377 12,660 18,068 8,047 77 50,449 147,678
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERNEER

impairment losses 46,959) (12,176) (16,383) 5,802) (36,718)  (118,038)
Net book amount EHFE 11,418 484 1,685 2,245 77 13,731 29,640
Year ended BE-Z-—fF

31 December 2022 TZAZt+-BLFE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 11,418 484 1,685 2,245 77 13,731 29,640
Additions NE 1,011 349 1,130 - 731 197 3,418
Disposal & (672) U]] (201) - - - (874)
Reclassification ENNE 131 - - - (131) - -
Depreciation & (1,737) (263) (745) (1,797) - (11,045) (15,587)
Exchange differences EXER 838 16 4 101 - 873 1,832
Closing net book amount FREEDFE 10,989 585 1,873 549 677 3,756 18,429
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-Z#+-A=+-8
Cost %S 62,315 12,6411 17,191 10,138 677 55,026 157,758
Accumulated depreciation and ZHAMERNERE

impairment losses (51,326) (11,826) (15,318) (9,589) - (51,270) (139,329
Net book amount FHFE 10,989 585 1,873 549 677 3,756 18,429
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U I MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 17. Y2 - BAE R R & @)

Depreciation charges of property, plant and equipment recognised is ERRVE BELREBHEERON
analysed as follows: wm
2022 2021
—E--F —F-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Cost of revenue NN 71 -
Selling and marketing expenses HELTBHEEER 95 26
Administrative expenses THAX 15,375 21,536
Research and development expenses iff 3¢ & 46 24

15,587 21,586

HREEERERAT "B _EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EREEE
eSports
Buildings arena Total
gF S5 i ot
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AR T T AR T T
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Fff £ (@) (FF 3£ (b))
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZB-_—%—HA—H
Cost B AR 4,008 26,200 30,208
Accumulated depreciation and RETERBESE
impairment losses (3,382) (14,630) (18,012)
Net book amount BREEE 626 11,570 12,196
Year ended 31 December 2021 ®BE-Z=-—fF
+TZA=+—-BLEE
Opening net book amount EYERE@EFEE 626 11,570 12,196
Addition nNE 9,372 — 9372
Depreciation e (1,523) (1,903) (3,426)
Modification EX) - 2,854 2,854
Exchange differences I 3, = 58 — (469) (469)
Closing net book amount FRIEMFE 8,475 12,052 20,527
At 31 December 2021 N-—EZ-—F
+t=A=+-—8H
Cost AR 13,380 28,216 41,596
Accumulated depreciation and ZEIE N BEEE
impairment losses (4,905) (16,164) [21,069)
Net book amount BREF(E 8,475 12,052 20,527
Year ended 31 December 2022 #HBE=-ZT ==
+ZB=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FYERMFE 8,475 12,052 20,527
Addition NE 8,586 —_ 8,586
Depreciation e (3,432) (1,957) (5,389)
Early termination RBE&IE (3,334) — (3,334)
Exchange differences fE o =% — 817 817
Closing net book amount FRE@ZFE 10,295 10,912 21,207
At 31 December 2022 R=-=2=-=
+=A=+—H
Cost D@ 13,151 30,491 43,642
Accumulated depreciation and  ZEEFHTE KIR{EE B
impairment losses (2,856) (19,579) (22,435)
Net book amount BREFE 10,295 10,912 21,207
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Depreciation charges of right-of-use assets recognised is analysed as
follows:

18. EREEE @

ERRAEREEENEERITOT

2022 2021

—E-—F T —4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Administrative expenses THRX 5,389 3,426
The details in relation to their leases are set out in Note 32. ERHEBEENFBEHAMES2 -

Notes:
(a) Buildings represent office premises in Hong Kong and PRC.
(b) eSport arena represent flagship gaming arena in Las Vegas, USA.

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B &L

(a) BFEUCREBERPENBAZTEM -

(b) 35 i e fir 70 5% B s i 4 0 H B9 BE
S 22 18 35 1 ©

19. IREWZE

2022 2021

—E-—F T —%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

Completed investment properties ERTIREWE 2,900 2,900

Changes to the carrying amounts presented in the consolidated

statement of financial position can be summarised as follows:

REBAMBRREFIIR 2 EEEED
AT R -

2022 2021

—E-—F = X —%E

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T ARBT T

At 1 January n—A—H 2,900 —

Additions — acquisition RNE — W = 2,750
Change in fair value of investment properties MBI R Z L EME AL E

recognised in profit or loss FE) — 150

At 31 December RNt+—-—A=+—H 2,900 2,900

BRABRZRERAT —R__EEH @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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M B R RMEE (8)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

19.

20.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group's investment properties were revalued at 31 December
2022 by independent professional qualified valuers who have the
recent experience in the location and category of property being
valued. The management performs valuations of the investment
properties for financial reporting purposes in consultation with the
valuers for complex valuations. Valuation techniques are selected
based on the characteristics of each property, with the overall
objective of maximising the use of market-based information. The
finance team reports directly to the chief financial officer and to the
audit committee. Valuation processes and fair value changes are
discussed among the audit committee and the valuation team at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties categorised
under Level 2 fair value hierarchy are determined using market
comparison approach by reference to recent sales prices of
comparable properties on a price per square basis using market data
which is publicly available and adjusted for specific conditions relating
to the properties.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal operating subsidiaries as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

19.

20.

REYE @

AEBEZEENMER=TE__F+=A
—t+—EABIUZESEKMGERME
BEMEEDEME RER 2 i HK
B)EH EEERVEREENERE
EETHE IRERGELZRGE
Bl - I ERMBESWEZ FEER
BESESABREMNBMWSER - B
EFEERNEEMEE REREE g
H-BREZESRHEEERS NS H
EEREBHTREERERAR

BH o

AEBOBRAARBEERE_ERZ
REMEERMBHLEAEEAAE "
ETRK2ENELBNERES T HER
(ERARARBTERIBELREZEY
EHEBZARBBATURAB)GFEZE
HISHE (B -

IS B B A BV e 25

R_BE-—_FR_F=-—FFt=-H=+
—HE2LEMBARFRET

Issued and paid in

Country/Place and date of capital/registered Principal activities and
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity capital Equity interestheld place of operation
BRAREAESR/
AAR HRAL/RINES/MERES EARH AREA KERE TEXBREERE
Directly held by the Company
FAAEREE
Lianzhong Holdings (Hong Kongl Limited Hong Kong/18 December 2013 Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100% ~ Investment holding
(2021:100%)
BRER(BEERDA FE/ZE-ZFTZAEN EREELA 100588 RK 0% REER
(225 :100%)
Primo Vital Limited BVI/13 February 2018 Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100% ~ Investment holding
2021: 100%)
Primo Vital Linited ABEBRER/"T-N\F BRERLA 100fk & @ 0% RERR
ZAt=H (ZFZ—%F:100%)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U B 5E (88)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 HE=-ZFT-_=—F+-—_A=+—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. KRB R IBVEZ (@)

Issued and paid in

Country/Place and date of capital/registered Principal activities and
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity capital Equity interestheld place of operation
BRARRMELR/
AAER HRAL/RINES/MWERES EARH &R RERE IZEXHREE4Y
Indirectly held by the Company
AREMERE
Lianzhong Sports (Beijing) Co,, Ltd. formerly known  PRC/21 January 2014 Limited liability company 1S$350,000 100%  Provision of computer related technical
as Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network (2021: 100%) support, in PRC
Technology Co., Ltd."
BREARERATAERIRER hE/Z2-RE-A-+-A BREALT B000ET 100%  RPEREHEREERIXE
FEBRHBBRALLR (Z22-F:100%)
Beijing Lianzhong" PRC/23 March 1998 Limited liability company RMBT2,000,000 100%  Development and operation of online
(2021: 100%) card and board games, in PRC
IrBR hE/-AANEZAZTZR EREARA ARET2L0000007 0% REERERELERERER
(ZEZ-F:100%)
Hainan Lianzhong Zhiqu Technology PRC/15 April 2015 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 59.4%  PC and mobile games development and
Development Co., Ltd." [2021:59.4%]  operation, in PRC
("Hainan Lianzhong )
BERREBHAHEARAR hE/“F-15RATIA BRERLT ARH1,000,0007 4% RBEREREEPCREDES
(remmzl) (ZBZ-%:504%)
Tianjin Lianzhong Yidong Technology PRC/11 November 2014 Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 59.4%  PC and mobile games development and
Development Co., Ltd." [2021:59.4%]  operation, in PRC
[Tianjin Lianzhong’)
REBTABHAHEARAR hE/ZF-RET-AT-8 EREALA AR¥10,0000007 4% RPBEREREEPCREDES
([REBR]) (ZBZ-%:594%)
Lianzhong Tiandi" PRC/7 December 2016 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% ~ Investment holding,
(2021:100%!  in PRC
BRXL hE/ZR-RETZALA BRERLA ARE10000007 00 RPEREER

Tianjin Shengyou, Shidai Technology
Development Co,, Ltd."
[Tianjin Shengyou’]

REBEERMRERARAA"

[RERE])

Beijing Huaxiang Intelligence Sports Technology

Co, Ltd."

 [Beijng Huariang’
TRERENERHEERD

(EREE)

Beijing Lianzhong Zhihe Technology Co,, Ltd."

("Beijing Lianzhong Zhihe')
TREREAHRERAA
(EreREal)

Beijing Lianzhong Zhijing Technology
Development Co,, Ltd."
['Beijing Lianzhong Zhijing’]
IRBRERNRERERAA
(ERBRER)

AGAE®

AGAE®

PRC/21 July 2015
hE/ZF-RFtAZT-H
PRC/8 October 2021
wE/-F--£1A0A
PRC/31 March 2022
hE/ZE-ZFZAZ1-H
PRC/27 October 2021
RE/ZF--F+t4A

US/5 November 2018

%B/-%-\5+-REH

Limited liability company

BREALT

Limited liability company

EREALA

Limited liability company

EREALA

Limited liability company

ERERLA

Limited liability company

EREALA

RMB1,000,000

AEH1,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000

AR 50000007

RMB2,000,000

AR E2,0000007

RMB1,000,000

AEH1,000,0007T

US$10,000

10000%7T

(ZF=—F1100%)

100%
(2021 100%)

100%
(ZFZ—F1100%)

60%
(2021 100%)

60%
(ZBZ-%:100%)

0%’
(2021 0%

0%’
(ZBZ-%:0%)

100%
(2021 100%)

100%
(ZEZ-F:100%)

31.1%*
(2021 30.6%I

31.1%*
(ZBZ-5:306%)

BRERERERAD

Investment holding,
inPRC

ReERARE
PC and mobile games development and
operation, in PRC

RPEREREEPCREDES

PC and mobile games development and
operation, in PRC

R EFHEREEPCRED T
Investment holding, in PRC

RPEREER

Investment holding,
inUS
REERERR

“ECFER
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fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

20. KRB R IBVEZ @)

Issued and paid in

Country/Place and date of capital/registered Principal activities and
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity capital Equity interestheld place of operation
BRARRMER/
AER HRAT/RINES/ HERRE EARH &R KERE IZXHREEAE
Indirectly held by the Company (Continued)
ARREEEE (R
Allied Esports International, Inc.” US/25 January 2017 Limited liability company - 31.1%* Qperation of eSports activities, in US
(2021 30.6%)
Allied Esports International, Inc.” %8/-%-+5-R-t1A LGN - 1% REELEERED
(Z22F:304%)
eSports Arena Las Vegas, LLC US/14 November 2017 Limited liability company - 31.1%* Qperation of eSports activities, in US
(2021: 30.6%
eSports Arena Las Vegas, LLC X8/-5-+Ft-AtEA BREFAA - 3% REBLEERED
(CB2—F:304%)
ELC Gaming GmbH" Germany/2 June 2018 Limited liability company EUR25,000 31.1%* Operation of eSports activities, in
(2021:306%]  Europe
ELC Gaming 6mbH" #8/-3-"5~AZA BREALA 25,008 T 1% RENEEERED

Please refer to note 36(e] for details.

These companies are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group even
though the Group has 31.1% (2021: 30.6%) equity interest based on the
factors explained in Note 4.2(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Beijing Lianzhong Zhihe is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group
even though the Group has 50% equity interest based on the fact that 2
out of 3 of the board of directors are nominated and recommended by
the Group. The Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct
the relevant activities of Beijing Lianzhong Zhihe and therefore has
control over Beijing Lianzhong Zhihe.

The English name of certain companies referred herein represent
management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English name has been registered.

* Increase in equity interest held was due to AGAE's repurchase of its own
shares during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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AAR - AEEEEEHNETEEHRE
ARSI RBREANE/EEE B
i ¥4t R R E A G I .

ABRFRANETFAANRX LR
NEEBREAZE AR
oh 3 % D S T 5+ R A 4 3
#7 -

PRI M Ty A RAGAER B E =T
T+ -A=t+—HLEFEBRHE
N 5 B4 BT B o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U I MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. R BRI BY S ()
The following table list out the financial information related to AGAE TREBVWEBHE_ZE-_—_F+=-A=
Group, of which the Group has material non-controlling interests T —BIEFEACAEE B (A EERER
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The summarised financial WEEANEZERES) MPBEER - TX
information presented below represents the amounts before any 2N BEERBMERERNEANEEARR
inter-company elimination. &) 5 85 AT O FRE o
AGAE Group AGAERE E
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Proportion of ownership interests IEIEBRBR R ENEEER

and voting rights held by IR RE LB

the non-controlling shareholders 68.90% 69.40%
Current assets BN E 607,870 634,750
Non-current assets ERBEE 26,417 39,608
Current liabilities nREEE (21,332) (36,189)
Non-current liabilities FRBAE (41,721) (45,000)
Net assets BEFE 571,234 593,169
Carrying amount of the non-controlling FEIERAR R AR TE

shareholders 393,580 411,659

BRARDRERAT —E-"EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. KRB R IABVELR =)
AGAE Group (Continued) AGAE% B (%)
2022 2021
—E=-= —F = —
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTTT

CONTINUING OPERATIONS: FEMEET -
Revenue WA 42,729 31,979
Total expenses, net Y BREFRE (114,567) (120,195)
Loss for the year from continuing operation K B FEL & X BN FRNEIB (71,838) (88,216)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: ERIEBERF -
Profit after tax for the year FARBERIEKLEER

from discontinued operations B R 25 15 % A - 329,643
(Loss]/profit for the year FN(EE), & 7 (71,838) 241,427
Other comprehensive income for the year & P E fth 2 E KA = 507
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for FRAEE(EER), R eE

the year (71,838) 241,934

[Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders ~ ANA AR B A fE15 (B1E),/

of the Company i Al (21,983) 73,877
(Loss)/profit attributable to non-controlling  JF3% J& A% B8 fE 1k (E518),
shareholders gl (49,855) 167,550
(71,838) 241,427
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit RAFIREREARBGEE
attributable to equity holders of (F518) & 7 5
the Company (22,342) 74,032
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit JEEBE R EN 2T (BB,
attributable to non-controlling gl EGE=E
shareholders (49,496) 167,902
(71,838) 241,934
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: HRESEXRE
Net cash flows used in operating activities & & EFBMAR S K EFE (73,775) (63,574)
Net cash flows (used in}/from investing BEFRY (A FERETE
activities FE (471,523) 674,364
Net cash flows used in financing activities BB EB AR SR EFE (4,107) (21,794)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows R (R RAFE (549,405) 588,996

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fm S B RER M (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

FH-_A=1T—HLFE

21. Rt ERTHERS

2022 2021

—E-—8F =4

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T AR T T

At 1 January Hn—A—H — 4,250

Addition NE 1,500 —

Disposals & - (4,250)
Share of losses of associates, net LB N RIEEBER (260)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 1,240

Share of net assets and goodwill DREEFELREE 40,724 39,484

Provision for impairment of interests in REERNR 2 R EREE
associates (39,484) (39,484)
1,240 -

Note: On 1 September 2022, the Group acquired 15% equity interests in Beijing
Huanchen Technology Co., Ltd. with a purchase consideration of RMB1.5

million.

Movement in the provision for impairment of interests in associates is

as follows:

=
I

TR-ZE-—FNA—H AEBEKREL

RIRRBHA R A B 15%MHE - WK

BRARBISBEET

REBERRNERRERBEDET :

2022 2021

—E-C—F —_ET-—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T ARET T

At 1 January n—A—H 39,484 43,059

Amount written off during the year RERMEZ &5 — (3,575)

At 31 December R+—A=+—8 39,484 39,484
HREARERERAD

—=-—EER @
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fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. RtE T8RS @)
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had interests in the following N_E-_—_F+-_A=+—H ' "&EH
associates, all of which are considered not individually material to the BELNTHEARAAEBHAER T AE K
Group: BB & A A i A
Attributable
Country of equity interest  Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Paid in capital held by the Group place of operation
DR BB B FERER BEARE AEBEANELRE FZXRREELE
Tianjin Zhonggi Weiye Sports Development PRC RMB10,526,320 40.6%  Mobile games development
Co., Ltd.* [2021: 40.6%) and operation, in PRC
(“Tianjin Zhonggi’) FE AE 10,526,320 7T 406% RPBERERZSELDEE
REPEEEEERRERAR" (ZZZ—5:406%)
(TREHHE])
Beijing Weichu Information Technology ~ PRC RMB1,538,460 35.0% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd." (2021: 35.0%) and operation, in PRC
("Beijing Weichu") FE AR 1,538,460 7T 35.0% RAPERERLERDER
ERMBERRMERAR" (ZBZ—F:350%)
(T b1 8 )
Zhike Zongheng Cultural Media (Beijing] ~ PRC RMB?289,465 20.0% Mobile games development
Co., Ltd." [2021:20.0%)  and operation, in PRC
(“Zhike Zongheng’) i AR 2894657 200% RAPEBEREERIER
BEAELERER)FRAF (ZZZ—5:200%)
(=% 21
Beijing Huanchen Technology Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC RMB10,000,000 15% Mobile games development
["Beijing Huanchen’) (2021: 0%) and operation, in PRC
ERBERBEERAR F A #10,000,00070 15% RPBEFREREEBHEM
(MERRE]) (ZB=—F:0%)
" The English name of certain companies referred herein represent 5 AFERARANE T RAMNEHTE

management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English name has been registered.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

PEEBBEAZENEREAAL
o 3 % D ST O+ R A 4 ) 3 X
#78 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BERETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

22. DIGITAL ASSETS 22. EFEE
During the year ended 31 December 2022, AGAE purchased Ether HE-_TZ -+ -_A=+—HIF
cryptocurrency amounted to US$41,026 (equivalent to RMB276,000) K AGAEBBELLABNEER ¢85
and accepted Ether as a form of payment for its sale of NFT amounted 41,0263 7T (18 & 7 A R #276,0007T )
to US$250,252 (equivalent to RMB1,683,000). NFT revenue was I &M AKEERENFTHE 2 3R
included in AGAE Group’s multiplatform content revenue (Note 6). N &EAE2D022ET(HERARK

1,683,0007T) e NFTU A 5 AAGAESE E 2
ZEERNBUWA (B FES) ©

The movement in the carrying amount of digital assets is as follows: HFEERAEZEHOT :
2022 2021
—=2== T —%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

At 1 January m—HA—H — —
Purchase BE 276 -
Receipt from sale of NFT U ER B NFT 88 & 1,683 -
Deduction for payment of transaction costs A& 2 5 A A& - 3 (519) —
Exchange difference PEH =58 9 —

1,449 -~
Provision for impairment of digital assets £k & 2 Jil (B & 1% (1,105) —
At 31 December R+-_A=+—H 344 —

HREEERERAT "B _EER @
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. MICEE
Game
intellectual
properties,
Computer  trademark Development Customer

Software and licenses costs  relationships Total
BEAH
Ef -BE

EREH REFAE EERN EFE% #st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETRE ARBTT AR®BTRT ARBTE ARETR

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE--%-A-H
Cost B A 14,345 163,773 32,785 47,357 258,260
Accumulated amortisation and R BERREESE

impairment losses (14,168 (162,697) (32,785) (47,357) (257,007)
Net book amount FHEE 177 1,076 - - 1253

Year ended 31 December 2021 BEZ_E_-F%

+=-A=+-H

LEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 177 1,076 - - 1,253
Additions NE 74 2,740 — — 2814
Amortisation B (180) (1,473) - - (1,853)
Exchange differences EHZEH 2 (5) - - (3]
Closing net book amount FREMEE 73 2,338 — — 2,411
At 31 December 2021 R-B--%

t=A=1-H
Cost KA 14,421 166,507 32,785 47,357 261,070
Accumulated amortisation and ZHBERREBSE

impairment losses (14,348 (164,169) (32,785) (47,357) (258,659]

Net book amount RHEE 73 2,338 - - 2,411

Year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE-_C-F

tZA=+-H

HEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 73 2,338 - - 2,611
Additions NE - 847 - - 847
Amortisation 1 4y (7) (1,385) - - (1,392)
Exchange differences ERZE - 13 - - 13
Closing net book amount FREEFE 66 1,813 - - 1,879
At 31 December 2022 R-—BE-Z

+=ZRA=+-H
Cost B 14,621 167,354 32,785 47,357 261,917
Accumulated amortisation and 2N BERAESSE

impairment losses (14,355) (165,541) (32,785) (47,357) (260,038)

Net book amount REEE 66 1,813 - - 1,879
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 23. MLBE @)
Amortisation charges of intangible assets recognised is analysed as EHRRABEVEELRFEERITWOT :
follows:
2022 2021
—EBE-—F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Cost of revenue W AR AR 7 180
Administrative expenses THHEX 1,385 1,473
1,392 1,653

24. LOANS TO THIRD PARTIES 24. SoFPE=PZER
2022 2021
—E-—&F —E - —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B o AR®T T ARETTT

Current portion BN HA 3 &

Loans B (a) 41,737 48,237

Interest receivables JE W B 1,843 1,843
43,580 50,080

Less: ECL allowance B EHEEBERE (b) (43,580) (50,080

Total @t — —

BRABRZRERAT —R__EEH @
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

24. LOANS TO THIRD PARTIES (continued)

24. BFE=P2ER @)

(a)  As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loans to third parties of a) RZCFBE-—_—_F KR _ZT=- —F+
RMB41,737,000 and RMB48,237,000 are due within next 12 —“A=+—"8B &KFEFE=ZF2Z2E
months and are included in current portion respectively. The ®A R ®41,737,000 & A R &
amount comprises of: 48,237,0007C 73 Bl A R 2R + = f& A

NEIH B AREE S  ZRIBEE
7
[()  RMB26,452,000 loan secured by a personal guarantee of )  AR®26452,00070 0 E 3K A
Ms. Fu Qiang, a non-executive director of the Company, AARIEMITESTFERL LT
with interest rate of 5.5% per annum:; RERNEAEREKR RFE
FIE55%5 8
(i) RMB13,285,000 unsecured loan with interest rate of 1%
annum; (i) AR ™13285,0007T Y £ 1K 3
BERAF RN E1%E R
(i)  RMB2,000,000 (2021: RMBS8,500,000) were secured by i) A R #2000000c( =% =
unlisted equity interest in companies of the debtors — F: A K %8,500,0007T )
incorporated in the PRC and interest-free (2021: of which A BT EREA
RMB4,000,000 were with interest rate 4.75% per annum RAMIELETMERERY B
and RMB4,500,000 were interest-free). BE(ZEZ—F: AR
4,000,000 7T 4% 4F F| % 4.75% &t
B i A R ¥4,500,0007T &
BB o
(b)  The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows: b) BEHEEBHEREZZZHOAT :
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBT T
At the beginning of the year R E ) 50,080 50,080
Bad debt recovery during the year R ERERKE (6,500) —
At the end of the year R E R 43,580 50,080

(c)]  During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no c) REBEE-_ZE-_—_FK_ZT=-—F

impairment was recognised in “Impairment of assets”. +ZA=+—RLtFE BMER
[&ERE]HERME -

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25.

BRARESAREZEM
BE

2022 2021
—E-C—F =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Included in non-current assets STAERBEE
Unlisted equity investments FELEMBRAKZE 45,846 48,615

Included in current assets FTARBEE

Unlisted equity investments FEETRAKRE — 7,577
45,846 56,192

The fair value of the Group’s investments have been measured as

described in Note 41(g).

26. CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2022, certificate of deposits of US$80,000,000
(equivalent to RMB553,831,000) (2021: Nill had a maturity of less than
one year. Among the total certificate of deposits, an amount of
US$10,000,000 (equivalent to RMB69,229,000) (2021: Nil) had a
maturity period of three months of less when purchased and was
included in cash and cash equivalents. Accrued interest receivable on
certificate of deposits of US$677,000 (equivalent to RMBA4,690,000)

(2021: Nil) was included in other receivables.

26.

KEBIEN A R EE W 41 it
st -

=

NR_—_ZE_-_—_F#+=-_A=+—H"'F
3% 80,000,000 T(HE RN AR
553,831.000t) (ZE=—F : T)R—F
ME|HY o ) 2 2B 77 & F - 10,000,000
T(HE R ARY69,2290007T) (=T =
—F :T)RBERNEHAE A=A K
AT Wt AR RBRSEEY - B
7R B EA F B677,0005 0 (B E B A
B#4,690000T) (B —4F: B)E A
H b fE U FRIA o

S
fak

=
5|

it
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. ES R EMEWRIE
2022 2021
—s=-= T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B &E ARET T AR¥ETT

Trade receivables EZEWRE (a)
From third parties REE= 13,274 7,226
Less: ECL allowance B THEBEEEERE (1,089) (943]
12,185 6,283
Other receivables H fih fE W R IE (b)
Deposits, prepayments and other e BNRIEREAMm
receivables JE W R T8 61,647 52,271
Advances to employees M {& 8 {E /24 5Kk 1,421 371
Loan to an ex-director of a subsidiary By —MKBRR—ZA
E=ZMER 4,722 4,637
Interest receivable from certificate of JE W 17 3R LB
deposits 4,690 —
72,480 57,279
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEEBREE (9,964) (9,739)
62,516 47,540
74,701 53,823
The directors of the Group considered that the fair values of trade and NREBEERAZE S REMEKZELD
other receivables are not materially different from their carrying AREHEARMETESAER )
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their HRZESENEEREHNEH -
inception.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 27.

(a) Trade receivables

The credit terms of trade receivables are usually 30 to 90 days.
Ageing analysis based on recognition date of the gross trade
receivables at the reporting dates is as follows:

B2 & H W FRIE &)

(a) BZEERIER

ZEHRBFENEFEESHRAE A0
F90H - RIE HHABIER FEIW
RIBHEENERBHENERE DT

mE
2022 2021
—EC-C8F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETT

0-30 days 0£30H 3,164 3,533
31-60 days 31&260H 8,232 1,073
61-90 days 61£290H 132 961
91-180 days 91£180H 744 756
181-365 days 1812365 H 148 300
Over 1 year HBiE1F 854 603

13,274 7,226

The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows:

BHREEEEREESHUT

2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

At the beginning of the year NG 943 544
ECL allowance recognised EMRAEHREEEBRRE 201 A
Amount written off during the year RERMEZ 258 (55) (45)
At the end of the year R E xR 1,089 943

The Group applies simplified approach to provide for ECL
prescribed in IFRS 9. Provision for ECL have been included in
“Impairment of assets” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2022, 78% (2021: 38%) of trade receivables
are due from three (2021: two) major distribution channels and
payment vendors in cooperation with the Group’s online card
and board games business.

AN £ | e A ML A Bt BB B A w22 B
FORMAI AN BEREEE R ERE -
BEHEERRBRACT ARSBRERE
fEERERO[EERE]

R_ZF=-—=—F+=_A=+—H"78%(=
T — 4 :38%)ME ZEWFKIETER
BE=XR(ZEZ—F M) ELEEEF
EREBERERAENEIEDHEER
R AR o

BREREREBAT —B__FFR
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. ES R EMEWFRIE @)

(b) Other receivables (b)

Other receivables included loan receivable of a principal
amount of RMB19,991,000 (2021: RMB19,951,000), prepaid
operating expenses of RMB20,761,000 (2021: RMB9,103,000);
advance to share repurchase scheme of RMB167,000 (2021:
RMB49,000), rental deposit of RMB3,553,000 (2021:
RMB2,689,000), advances to employees for various expenses to
be incurred in the ordinary course of business and advances to
related companies. These advances are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. The loan receivable is secured
by properties in the PRC, interest-free and repayable within one
year.

The movement of gross balance of other receivables (excluding

non-refundable prepayments) is as follows:

HthfEWHBEBE—S24XSHEA
AEM 19,991,000 M FEW E S/ (=
T —F: AR%19951,0007T) °
A& E R AR #20761,000
(=T = —F: AR %9,103,000
L) BNBROBELOGEARE
167000c( — & = — F: AR
900w ) HeEe AR
3553000 (=T = —F: ARK
2,689,00070) A R K B & %1
BEPEANZERAIMAES
ERZ 2R KRB ARELZ
SR REENAERT 2EAR
BIRBEREE ZERBEFRABNM
REEMYERE 28 BER
FREE -

Hfth & WK IR 2 B R AR B B (1
BRETAE@IEN KB AT

Stage 1 Stage 3 Total
%E— MR E=PEER 5t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTFT ARETT
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F
—R—BZ#&# 34,498 19,458 53,956
New amounts originated EAXZHe8 19,333 — 19,333
Amounts recovered or repaid during & I8 [ 54 18 &
the year JEH (15,394) (286) (15,680)
Amount written off during the year ~ RERME 2 & 5B - (9,433) (9.433)
Balance at 31 December 2021 and 1 WZ-ZT=—%&F
January 2022 +ZA=+—-8XK
—A—Bz&# 38,437 9,739 48,176
New amounts originated EEZHEER 8,767 - 8,767
Transfer R (3,001) 3,001 -
Amounts recovered or repaid during & N8 [E 5 18 &
the year ZEH (2,448) (1,756) (4,204)
Amount written off during the year ~ RERME 2 & 5B = (1,020) (1,020)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-B=-ZF+=A
=t+—-Bz#&E&% 41,755 9,964 51,719
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fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 27.

(b) Other receivables (Continued)

The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables (Stage
3] is as follows:

BESREMEWRIE @

(b) EfEWIRIE @)

{4 K78 ) T8 £ B 0
BRHEZBDWT :

2022 2021
—E=-= —_EF-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTTT

At the beginning of the year REH] 9,739 17,636

ECL allowance recognised EmREREEEBRE 1,245 1,936

Amount written off during the year EFE A E 2 & 5 (1,020) (9,433)

At the end of the year RER 9,964 9,739
28. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES 28. = PR &R 1T i &R

As at 31 December 2022, the restricted bank balances primarily
represented US$5,000,000 (equivalent to RMB34,614,000) (2021:
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to RMB31,852,000)) placed into an escrow
account to be used for developing integrated eSports experience
venues at mutually agreed upon shopping malls owned and/or
operated by Brookfield or any of its affiliates, that will include a
dedicated gaming space and production capabilities to attract and to

activate eSports and other emerging live events.

As at 31 December 2021, the remaining restricted bank balance of
RMB3,045,000 represented cash at a bank account which was frozen
by the court. As at 31 December 2022, there was no such restricted
bank balance as Beijing Lianzhong won the legal case and the Court
withdrew the restriction on the bank balance of RMB3,045,000.

R—ZE-—&#+=-_A=+—8 B
HIRTTEHREEHEEFTATERLEN
5,000,000 7t (18 & ® A R # 34,614,000
L) (== — — £ :5000,000% T (4 &
AR #31,852,0007T)) © E# B R &
Brookfield 3¢ E (Al Bt B A L Fr i B &~
REENBYRLOEAREERRLEAE
BHERISE ZSHEEEE—EEM
RpEEi e W EERERE D - LR 3
MBE B R E M EIRISES -

RZFEZ—F+=ZA=+—H #HTX
PR Il 8R 17 & &% A X % 3,045,0007T ¥ A
FERREZRITEFRES R -
E+_F=+—H0 BRLZRBIRE
FERERERERBERITESKARE
3,045,0007T #Y PR ) + # I A& PR Hl 3R 17
Kgho o

HREARSRERAT —E__FER @
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fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 29. RERREEEY
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR¥ETT

Cash at bank and on hand RITEFERS 18,060 609,070
Certificate of deposits with maturity period  EIHA B & 1218 A s LA T &Y
of 12 months or less (note 26) T aE (M sE26) 553,831 —
571,891 609,070
Less: Certificate of deposits with maturity — J& - ZIHi B #8 @3 AE L
period exceeding 3 months but 1218 A 8917 /7
less than 12 months (484,602) —
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEED 87,289 609,070

Included in bank balances and cash of the Group is RMB9,423,000
(2021: RMB19,303,000] of bank balances denominated in Renminbi
("RMB”) placed with banks in the PRC. The conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. As of 31
December 2022 and 2021, other than the restriction from exchange
control regulations, there is no significant restriction on the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U I MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EZ R EMENMRIE
2022 2021
—E-—8F T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B &E ARET T AR¥ETT

Trade payables — to third parties ESEARE
ERE=7 (a) 13,679 10,053
Other payables H fth FE {3 TR E
Other payables and accrued charges H e I R g B A (b) 17,471 20,472
Staff costs and welfare accruals B T A K& FE:H a7 15,218 17,566
32,689 38,038
46,368 48,091
All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of trade FeEcEBREANRIE RZTE-__FK
and other payables as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were considered R F+ZA=+—HWEBESZRH
to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values. EMRENERERMERBSEAR
BENEEHL -

HREEERERAT "B _EER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S R B M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

30. EZ R EMBENARIR @)

(a) Trade payable (a) BEZENMRIE
The credit terms granted to the Group are usually 30 to 90 days. AEEERNEEHRBET RINE
90H °
The ageing analysis of trade payables to third parties based on ENE=ZTWNEFENKIERE
recognition date is as follows: REHHNRESTOT
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T T
0 -30days 0&30H 7,804 5,271
31 - 60 days 31E260H 2,360 534
61 -90 days 61E90H 222 600
91 - 180 days 91£180H 237 288
181 - 365 days 181&365H 501 720
Over 1 year BiE1F 2,555 2,640
13,679 10,053
(b) Other payables and accrued charges (b) EtiEfNRIBERESTER

The balance mainly consisted of deposits from third parties,
sundry payables and other accruals. During the year ended 31
December 2022, other payables of RMB8,583,000 was written
back as the Group was legally released from primary
responsibility for the liabilities of RMB7,540,000 and the
obligation of the remaining other payables of RMB1,043,000 was
expired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

31. DEFERRED REVENUE 31. BEEWA
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR¥ETT

Contract liabilities arising from billing in BARMBEMEENEHNERE

advance of performance

At 1 January R—A—H 16,571 13,493
Recognised as revenue R AWK A (16,571) (13,493)
Addition RE 1,289 16,571
At 31 December W+=—A=+—8 1,289 16,571

Deferred revenue represented service fees prepaid by the game
players for the Group’s online games in the forms of prepaid game
cards, virtual currencies and virtual goods, for which the related
services had not been rendered at the reporting dates.

When the Group receives in advance before the services rendered,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract until
the revenue recognised for the services exceeds the amount of the
receipt in advance.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's deferred revenue is expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year. As a practical expedient,
this amount does not need to be considered for the effects of a
significant financing components.

IR FE YA 4R 7S SR B AR b e B e 2 B B 5K
NENERR EREERERD D
FABRNHREE mMAEERHRSE A
H 1A R B AR A AR 75 -

BN & B R R AR 75 AT T8 5T WO GRR
B BEEREOFARKELESGDE
& B E 5t IR R WA B B TR MR
HEBSLE -

RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H A&E
ZETEWMATERHR —FRABERBBA -
EATITRERE  eBBAREXR
BERLD 2 HETUNER -

HREARSRERAT —E__FER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 & & =T = —

32. LEASE LIABILITIES

FH-_A=1T—HLFE

32. HERE

2022 2021
—s=-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Total minimum lease payments: RIRHE N AEEE
Due within one year R—FREH 15,463 11,786
Due in the second to fifth year REZ_EZRFANIHEH 51,554 46,824
Due after the fifth year 2 A F 1% 5 B 5,191 14,892
72,208 73,502
Future finance charges on leases liabilities FfAE BB ARG E W E (13,481) (16,314)
Present value of leases liabilities HEBENRE 58,727 57,188
Present value of minimum lease payments: &K & ZHAIRE
Due within one year A — & A EI| Hf 11,128 7,457
Due in the second to fifth year NG e s E 42,527 35,774
Due after the fifth year RERFIEENH 5,072 13,957
58,727 57,188
Less: Portion due within one year included J&& : BT ARBBEN R —FA
under current liabilities S ER B 9 (11,128) (7,457)
Portion due after one year included under B it AFERTEBEHRN % 5|
non-current liabilities EREE > 47,599 49,731
The lease liabilities arising from leases of buildings and eSports HEBFREHRSEELEERR
arena.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash outflows for BHE-_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—HLHF

the leases are RMB8,359,000 (2021: RMB13,618,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 & & ==

——#+-A=+-ALEE

= __

32. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 32. HEEEm
Details of the lease activities HEFHFE
As at 31 December 2022, the Group has entered into leases for offices R-_EBE-_—_F+-A=+—H A&EH
and eSport arena. MPEREREFRISEITHEE -
Financial statements
Types of items of right-of-use Range of remaining
right-of-use assets assets included in Number of leases lease term Particulars
SFATSREZERE
EREEERE ZEENBHRRER HEYRE #HTHEHEE 15
Office Buildings in 9 1.2t06.9 years *  Nooption to renew the lease after the end of the
“right-of-assets” [2021:4)  (2021: 1.6 to 3 years) contract
MER [(EREEEIP 22T 9 12E69F o TREBENRANERRESEE
(ZBZ—F:4) (ZBZ—F 1623F)
eSport arena eSports arena in 1 5.dyears o Contains an option to renew the lease for
“right-of-assets” (2021:1) (2021 6.4 years) additional 5 years after the end of the contract
by giving notice to landlord no earlier than 15
months and no later than 9 months prior to the
expiration of the initial term of the contract
BHRAH [(EREEEITZER 1 B4%F s RE-BEBETRANERRESZEES
588 (ZB=-F:1) (ZBZ—F:64F) S5 TERRANNSABRERIRT 15E
ARBEIEAmMELIZELAN
1= =
33. BANK LOAN 33. RITERM
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFTT
Current portion BN ER 3 &
Bank loan RITER 1,000 —

As at 31 December 2022, the bank loan was unsecured interest-

bearing at a fixed rate of 3.65% per annum and repayable within one

year. The amount is denominated in RMB.

The bank loan was guaranteed by an independent third party, which

charged the Group a guarantee fee and a review fee of 0.8% and 0.7%

per annum respectively based on the loan principal amount.

R-_TE-——F+_-_HA=+—H RITE

RAEEMETRE - BEEFHNEB3.65%
WAR—FAREER - ZHRBANANARE
=

RITEFXEBYF = HER TERE
RASEEE T H Bl [ 2 & B Y E0.8% &
07%MERERAREHNER

BREREREBAT —B__FFR
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL

The movements in the share capital of the Company are as follows:

34. B

KARIRANEEIAT :
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number value of value of
of shares shares shares
RGEE ROHE RONZEHS
US$000 RMB'000

TEL AR¥TR

Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares: ERil e
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 RZE-—F]
—E--F+-A=+—H 10,000,000,000 500
Issued and fully paid: ERTRME:
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZEZ-%—-f—H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E--5+ZA=+-H"
“EF-A-BR
—E-_-F+ZAZ=+—H 1,077,799,887 55 335

35. RESERVES

(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the shares of the Company over its par value, less
any dividends paid out of the share premium account and any
premium paid for the repurchase of shares of the Company.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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35. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

(c]

(d)

(e

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations for the
Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, it is required
to appropriate 10% of its annual net profit determined in
accordance with China Accounting Standards for Enterprises
issued by the Ministry of Finance of PRC, after offsetting any
prior years’ losses, to the statutory reserve. When the balance
of such a reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
respective company, any further appropriation is at the
discretion of shareholders. The statutory reserve can be used to
offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into
share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholding or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that
the remaining balance of the reserve after such an issue is not
less than 25% of registered capital. The statutory reserve is
non-distributable.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
for the translation of financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy in Note 2.5.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share options
granted by the Company to employees recognised and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.22.

Other reserve

Other reserve represent (i) capital reserve arises from capital
contribution by the controlling shareholders; and (i} the
difference between the consideration and the carrying amount
of the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of
interests in companies comprising the Group being acquired
from and disposed to non-controlling equity holders
respectively.

35. @l

(b)

(c]

(d)

(e)

A TE 5t s

BEBBERER  NAFRHEH
= i Ak 37 B9 BT B A 7] FE 3K 8 (A
BEFEEER  AHEREBEHREH
B B 2B 2B 45 B P B 1 ¥ 2 5t % Al
EEHFEFMNN10%5REE
T ExREEBRES AR
it & R #)50% » A% B A] B 1558 E
E—THHRE - EEFBET AR
HAERATFEBE(WNE) B R
B MR R IE A IR B R R
TGO MNEEREAFR
DR EEE R IR A - R R A
BREZSEBRTRATLREME
AN25% o SEEREE T DK ©

RS R

BLERBRERLEBIEBHK
BRZMBELZRE ZRBERE
BfFE2.5 Bl & AT R B IR

BRERR

BERERBEROCBERARART
BEMBREZXAE BREH
2.2 R AT R EITRIE

H {th 5 fiis

Hi @R ERRRTEMES
BB AR - KD Bl B FEE A
B2REAABARBMEHEEAKA
& B K B 1~ w] 4 a5 18 00 SR D /Y
FBHEEFENREEEREEL
IR ERR -
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of
the Company in 2014

Pursuant to an unanimous written resolution of the Board on 7
March 2014, a share option scheme (“Management Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”] and respective share options granted by
the Company on 20 February 2014 was adopted and ratified by
the Board. The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was
adopted for the purpose of providing participants an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and help
motivate such participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the participants for the
continual growth and development of the Group. The maximum
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 6%
of the issued share capital of the Company after an initial public
offering ("IPO"), as defined. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in
cash.
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of
the Company in 2014 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, share options (in
aggregate to purchase 6% of the issued share capital of the
Company after an IPO) were granted by the Company on 20
February 2014 to senior management of the Group with
estimated total fair value of approximately RMB52,870,000. The
exercise price of the share options granted is US$0.34398035
per share (subject to adjustment]. The share options are valid
for a period of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February
2024. Twenty five percent of options granted shall vest on the
first anniversary of the grant date, and the remaining options
granted shall vest on 36 equal monthly instalments with the
first instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting
on each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date, and for the participant continuing to be an
employee of the Group or director of the Company until and on
the relevant vesting dates. In addition, the share options are
only exercisable after the completion of an IPO.

On 30 June 2014, upon the completion of the capitalisation
issue and the Listing, the total number of share options granted
equate to 50,042,553 share options at an adjusted exercise price
of US$0.16714303 per share.

36. MR RERNMER 5
()

(a) “TES—NFERARTVERE
BRALRBERBIRES
2l ()

HE-_Z—NF+=-A=+—H
LtFE ARAIR=ZZT—MOF=
A-ZtHBRASERAEEER
EHEREGRTEBERRAARS
RARBERBEITRANOG)
AT AR ER A AR52870,000
T ERLERENTEERER
0.34398035% T (A T &) - B 1%
AR -_T—WNF-_A=t+H=E
ZE_NMF_ATABIETFERA
ER-EEREERENBE Z2=T
AR ELASENE —FEAFA
RE HRTEREMEBRERNIS
BARNEZASESHEB %@
REBARE B HME13E A
ﬁﬁavﬁﬂ%m%%%ﬁﬁﬁa
HEBEABRFREEAS
% H/A%Mﬁgiﬁﬁaga
H(eEEzZB)MAAEBEMNES
LA RBMES - L0 BIRER
ARERARBEETKEITE-

RZZE—NENA=Z+H ' =KE
NEBITR LK BIRERAEST
# {8 & R%0.167143033E T &% £ 19 BE
[i% 4 48 81 & 50,042,553 17 °

Exercise price Outstanding as at

Exercisable period per share 31 December 2022
N-—E=-—
+=ZBA=+—H
A 1T € A BRITEE i R AT
us$
ETT
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128
=3 —E—+tFEtA-HEZZ=-R"FA=+H
Employee 20 February 2015 to 19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,802
E& ZE-RAFZAZTHEZZT-NF=_A+NH
46,219,930
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 36. LRI RERNNMER S
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (#&)
(a) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (a) ZSE—OFARTEERE
the Company in 2014 (Continued) BERLAHREBRES
&l ()
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FRNEREZHBE 20T :
as follows:
2022 —EBC-CHF
Exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding
Exercisable price as at during during as at
period per share 1 January the year the year 31 December
W—B—-H W+=A=t+—H
TR BROEE i RAT FREH FRTE RITE
us$
Y
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128 - - 41,702,128
Bz ZZ—tHtA-REZERE
~NA=1+H
Employee 20 February 2015 to 19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,802 - - 4,517,802
=] —Z-AF-A-+RE-_F_NF
—A+hA
46,219,930 - - 46,219,930
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 0.16714303 0.16714303
FRMETHITEEGET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.06 1.15
—HFRIEFRODARK

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options

outstanding at 31 December 2022 1.1years
RIEZZFF+A=+—HERTENERE

MEFHRGRE LD (NE:3
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2022 46,219,930

RIE- -+ A=+-HATEBEREHR
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

3. MR RERNMER S

(&)
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (a) —E—NFARRTERE
the Company in 2014 (Continued) XA E B
&l(m)
2021 —E-—=
Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise price as at during during as at
period per share 1 January the year the year 31 December
m—HA—H R+=ZA=+—8H
I BRiTEE W R 1T FARH ERTTR AT
us$
e
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128 - - 41,702,128
Ex “E—+FLtA-BEZTRF
~NA=ZTA
Employee 20 February 2015 to 19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,802 - - 4,517,802
-1 ZE-RE-AZTREZT-MNE
ZATAH
46,219,930 - - 46,219,930
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 0.16714303 0.16714303
EBRmEFHTERE(ET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.09 1.06
- BRBERDARE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at 31 December 2021 2.1 years
RZBZ—F+ZA=+-HBRRITEERE
MEFHR A HB RS 216
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2021 46,219,930
RZZZ—F+-A=+-HATEBEREUR
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 46,219,930 (2021: RZZE-_—_&F+_A=+—8 BERX
46,219.930) share options outstanding under the Management ARARZE—NFNERETRAQME
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company in 2014, which EFFERESS  NEEEBL6,219,930

represented approximately 4.29% (202

ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022.

1: 4.29%) of the issued

(=T = — 5 : 46,219,9301D) R 1T
BRE HAREIR=ZE-_=_F+=A
=+ —HBEEITEBRNLIN(ZFZ
— 4 4.29%) °
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 19 November 2014, a
share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of ten years from 19 November 2014 (the
“2014 Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide
eligible participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. All
directors, full-time employees and any other person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute
to the Group are eligible to participate in the 2014 Share Option
Scheme. Each grant of options to any director of the Company,
the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of the
Company must first be approved by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes adopted by the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on
the date of adoption (the “Option Scheme Mandate Limit").

The Option Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed at any
time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed
under the Listing Rules. However, the refreshed Option Scheme
Mandate Limit cannot exceed 10% of the total number of shares

of the Company in issue as at the date of such approval.
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

3. MR RERNMER S
(&)

(b) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (b) RRIAR_-S—MOFE+—

in November 2014 (Continued)

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and unexercised options) under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by
the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be
specified by the Company at the time of grant. The options may
be exercised up to 25% for each year after the first anniversary
of the date of grant for four consecutive years.

At the time of grant of the options, the Company may specify a
minimum period for which an option must be held and/or any
minimum performance target(s) that must be achieved, before
the option can be exercised in whole or in part. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted within 20 business days
from the date of offer, the offer is delivered to that participant
and the amount payable on acceptance of options is RMB1.

The subscription price for the shares under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but
not less than the greater of (i) the closing price of shares as
stated on the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of grant; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

No options may be granted under the 2014 Share Option

Scheme after the date of the tenth anniversary of its adoption.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no share
options were granted and exercised.
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 36.
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

UKD REHENMERS
()

(b) ZATRZSE—MOF+—
B £ 1R BY 7B IR 5T 8l ()

(b) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

—GRAEROARE

Movements in the number of share options during the year are FREREZB Z2EHHMT :
as follows:
2022 —E=-=
Outstanding Forfeited Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise price as at during as at
period per share 1 January the year 31 December
R—A—H W+=A=+—-H
TR BRITEE HARITE REARK i RAT B8
HK$
BT
Directors 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 2.67 23,520,000 - 23,520,000
S —E-AF¥-AHRAE-Z-_H&—AWNA
8 January 2016 to 7 January 2026 5.506 7,840,000 — 7,840,000
—E-RE-ANRE_Z_~"E—AtH
Employees 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 2.67 18,223,839 - 18,223,839
(=] —E-A¥-ARRAE-Z-_H&—AWMA
9 July 2015 to 8 July 2025 4.402 12,407,500 (1,887,500) 10,520,000
—E-RAF+tANRE_Z_HE+ANH
17 May 2016 to 16 May 2026 3.684 700,000 - 700,000
—E-RNERA+EREEZZE-AERAAB+AA
7 September 2016 to 6 September 2026 3.95 1,190,000 - 1,190,000
ZE-RENALRE_ZZ_R"ENARAH
28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 2.886 120,000 - 120,0000
—E—tFNAZt+N\BEZZT-tF
mA=-++tH
64,001,339 (1,887,500) 62,113,839
Weighted average exercise price per share [HK$) 3.39 4.40 3.36
FRMEFHTEE (BT
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 3.05 3191 2.98
—BREERHARE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at
31 December 2022 2.3 years
RIBZZHE+ZAZ+—HERTENBREMNETHFHRE D 2.3%
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2022 62,113,839
RZZZ_F+-_A=+—BaUTEEREHE
Weighted average exercise price per share of options exercisable at
31 December 2022 (HK$) 3.36
RZZBZZF+-A=+—-BA{TEBEREZSRMNETHTEE
(B7T)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 2.98

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fm S B RER M (8)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

3. MR RERNMER S

€9

(b) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (b) RRIAR_-S—MOFE+—
B R MY IS fE 5T 8l (@)

in November 2014 (Continued)

Movements in the number of share options during the year are

as follows (Continued):

FABBREHBZEZHNT (K)

2021 —E-—F
Outstanding Forfeited Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise price as at during as at
period per share 1 January the year 31 December
R—A—HB#E RT=ZA=+—8
1T BRTEE 7 RERRK i AR AT
HK$
B
Directors 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 2.67 23,520,000 — 23,520,000
s —T-RF-ARAE-E-HA4—AMA
8 January 2016 to 7 January 2026 5.506 7,840,000 - 7,840,000
—E-RF-ANBEZZT-R"E—-AtH
Employees 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 2.67 18,323,839 (100,000) 18,223,839
EE —T-RF-ARAE-E-HA4—AWA
9 July 2015 to 8 July 2025 4.402 13,295,000 (887,500) 12,407,500
—E-hFELANRE-ZE-_HFLANR
17 May 2016 to 16 May 2026 3.684 700,000 — 700,000
—E-AFRAttAE-Z-AFERATAA
7 September 2016 to 6 September 2026 3.95 1,190,000 — 1,190,000
ZE-RFNRLBEZZTZR"EAANRE
28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 2.886 120,000 — 120,000
TR+ FRAZT\BEZEZLENAZT LA
64,988,839 (987,500) 64,001,339
Weighted average exercise price per share (HK$) 3.40 4.23 339
FRMEFHTEECET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 3.05 3.45 2.77
—GRAERHARE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at
31 December 2021 3.3 years
RIBZ—F+-A=+—HHERTENBRENETEFHELD 33%F
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2021 64,001,339
RIB-—F+-A=+—-BA{TEERELA
Weighted average exercise price per share of options exercisable at
31 December 2021 (HK$) 339
R-B-_—F+-A=t+—-RAATEBREZSRMETITEE
(L)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 2.77
—GREAERHARE
BRERERERAD

ot S 2= 3" @
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company

(c)

in November 2014 (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 62,113,839 (2021:
64,001,339) share options outstanding under 2014 Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 5.76% (2021: 5.94%)
of the issued ordinary shares of the Company as at 31
December 2022.

Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company
in May 2017

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2017, a share award
scheme was adopted by the Company (the “Share Award

Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the
interests of eligible participants with those of the Group through
ownership of shares, dividends and other distributions paid on
shares and/or the increase in value of the shares, and to
encourage and retain eligible participants to make contributions
to the long-term growth and profits of the Group. All directors,
full-time employees and any other person who, in the sole
discretion of the board of directors, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group are eligible to participate in the Share
Award Scheme. Each grant of award to any director of the
Company, the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder
of the Company must first be approved by the independent non-

executive directors of the Company.

The maximum number of shares to be granted must not exceed
7% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time (the "Share Award Scheme Limit"). The Share Award
Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining
approval of the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules. At the time of grant of the awards, the Company
may specify any minimum performance target(s) that must be
achieved, before the awards can be vested in whole or in part.
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 3. MRDRERNMER S

TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (#8)

(c) Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company () RRTR-EBE—CERAR
in May 2017 (Continued) R BYBR D 2= B 5T 8l (w0
On 23 May 2018, the Company extended the scheme mandate to RZFE—N\FRA=Z+=H &R
permit the Directors to issue and allot up to 55,084,636 shares RIEAGTEIEE  EFESHTR
permitted to be granted under the Share Award Scheme, Fi 35 AR 15 AR {n 52 B 5 81 1% /9 &
subject to an annual limit of 3% of the total number of issued % 55,084,636 % B 17 HE X R K =
shares as at 23 May 2018, being the date of the Company’'s - N\FRAZ+=H(ENEER
annual general meeting at which the relevant resolution was BENAABAIRRBFAG L&
passed. BAER)BEBRITRNDEES%ZF

EER-
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has Bz—_=2_—_#+_-_A=+—H
purchased 14,952,000 shares amounting to RMB3,525,000 (2021: EFE AP2REBRBEZTAR
13,416,000 shares amounting to RMB9,196,000) through its Bt 22 P B8 B 14,952,0008% A% 10 » &
trustee on the Stock Exchange. The acquired Shares was A AR352500T (=T = —
recognised and accumulated in equity under the heading of 13,416,000k 10 - € AAR
“Shares held under Share Award Scheme”. #9,196,0007T ) o B U B AR 10 70 4
m R RR AR D REN G E A 2 R
BINEER R Rt -
Movements in the number of shares held for the Share Award A% 17 52 B 51 21 B #5 AR 19 & 22 B Ak
Scheme and awarded shares are as follows: MEBZESHAT :
2022 2021
—E=-= T —%F
Weighted Weighted
average average
fair value Number of fair value Number of
per share share award per share share award
=3k R 17 52 B T A% hntE [t 2%
FEHQRE BB THoRE B
RMB RMB
AR AR
At 1 January n—H—H 0.39 38,013,483 0.83 4,000,000
Granted E&H — - 0.34 34,013,483
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H 0.39 38,013,483 0.39 38,013,483
Vested as at RT_A=+—RERE
31 December 0.42 26,560,109 0.52 17,579,494

HREARSRERAT —E__FER @
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company
in May 2017 (continued)

Notes:

(i) The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the
market price of the Company’s shares at the respective grant
date. The expected dividends during the vesting period have taken
into account when assessing the fair value of these awarded
shares.

(ii) 8,980,615 shares were vested during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: 17,079,494 shares) and 26,560,109 shares were

vested as at 31 December 2022 (as at 31 December 2021:

17,579,494 shares).

(iii) For the year ended 31 December 2022, share-based
compensation of RMB4,025,000 was recorded (2021:
RMB6,272,000).

Equity Incentive Plan adopted by the
Company’s subsidiary (AGAE) in 2019

On 20 September 2019, the Company's subsidiary, AGAE
adopted an incentive plan (the "AGAE's Incentive Plan”). AGAE
issued ten-year options for the purchase of 400,000 shares of
AGAE’s common stock, with an exercise price of US$5.66 per
share, pursuant to the Incentive Plan. The options have a 4-year
vesting term, and vest 25% on each anniversary of the date of
grant. The options had an aggregate grant date fair value of
US$867,000.

Apart from the options, AGAE issued an aggregate of 80,393
shares of restricted common stock, pursuant to the Incentive
Plan, to certain members of AGAE's Board of Directors and
Executives. The restricted common stock had an aggregate
grant date fair value of US$455,000, and vest on the one-year
anniversary of the date of grant. The shares were valued at the

trading price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 36. MR RERNMER S

TRANSACTIONS (continued) (#&)

(d) Equity Incentive Plan adopted by the (d) XTI M EAR T (AGAEIR
Company’s subsidiary (AGAE) in 2019 (continued) “E-NERMREN

Bt &l m)

On 21 November 2019, AGAE extended the plan mandate to R-E—NAF+—A=+—H 8B
permit its employees to issue ten-year options for the purchase BB ET & - AGAEHh Bat S5 5 -
of 2,080,000 shares of its common stock with an exercise price s ETH (B 8 317 Al 8 A H 2,080,000
of US$4.09 per share under the Incentive Plan. The options have fRE B 2 TFHABRE  77EE
a 4-year vesting term, and vest 25% on each anniversary of the RERLOET - BERESBHA
date of grant. The options had an aggregate grant date fair LECARBEEBEHNSETRB
value of US$3,264,000. 2%  ZEBBRBRAELBHNL

B R 73,264,000 7T °

The fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes option AREFERAMET — B BHHE
pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows: EEEAGE - ZEXNNEH ASE
LU
2021
—E=-—4F
Risk-free rate 4 2, b A1) R 0.94%-1.58%
Expected life T8 HA B R AR 6.25 years
6.25F
Expected volatility 8 HA K & 40%-46%
Expected dividend yield TAHAR B X -

HREARSRERAT —E__FER @
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 3. URDRERNMER S
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (18)
(d) Equity Incentive Plan adopted by the (d) R TKEAR T AGAE) IR
Company’s subsidiary (AGAE) in 2019 (Continued) —_E-NERMRERN
Bh 5t &l (=)
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FRERESE Z2EH0NT
as follows:
2022 —E-=
Exercise Outstanding Granted Forfeited Exercised Outstanding
price per as at during during during the as at
Exercisable period share 1January theyear theyear year 31 December
R M-A—-H Rt+t=RA=+-H
AfTEAE THE HXTE FARE FARK FATE 8 AR AT
us$
E
AGAE’s 20 September 2019 to 19 September 2029 5.66 280,000 — — — 280,000
Directors and “E-NAFAAZTHEZZ AR
employees NA+AAE
AGAEEEREE
21 November 2019 to 20 Novernber 2029 4.09 1,375,000 —  (660,000) — 715,000
—E-NFF+—-A-+—-BE-E-_NF
+—A=+H
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2030 2.11 80,000 = (40,000 = 40,000
—Z_FF+LRA-BE-ZT=ZF
~NA=+H
6 August 2020 to 5 August 2030 217 120,000 — — — 120,000
—ZE_FFEN\RABE-Z=%E%H
NARHA
13 July 2021 to 11 November 2031 2.21 350,000 — — = 350,000
—E_-FtA+ZHE_F=—F
+—A+—H
6 May 2021 to 6 May 2031 2.48 160,000 = (40,000 = 120,000
—E_-FfRARBEZZ=—-%
R ARHAE
2,365,000 = (740,000) — 1,625,000
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 3.72 — 3.90 - 3.65
SRMEFHITEE(GRT)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 23.73 — 26.97 — 25.24
- BERAERHDARE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at 31 December 2022 7.39 years
KRB ZF+ZA=+— B HARITERREME
TR E KB 7396
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2022 1,280,000

RIBZ_H+-A=+—-HAUTEEREHE
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

3. MR RERNMER S

December 2022 was in total USD791,309 [equivalent to £
approximately RMB5,323,000) (2021: USD1,924,000 (equivalent  JT

to approximately RMB12,414,000)).

Jim

o))

BREREREBAT —B__FFR

(&)
(d) Equity Incentive Plan adopted by the (d) AT BT AGAEIRR
Company’s subsidiary (AGAE) in 2019 (continued) “E-NFRMZRER
Bt &l m)
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FANEREHBE 2ESHWT : (8)
as follows: (Continued)
2021 -5
Exercise Outstanding Granted  Forfeited  Exercised Outstanding
price per as at during during  during the as at
Exercisable period share 1 January the year the year year 31 December
Bk N—A—H R+=A=+—8
AT H A TRE HATE FARE FARK FATE i ARAT6E
us$
e
AGAE’s 20 September 2019 to 19 September 2029 5.66 340,000 - (60,000 - 280,000
Directors —E-NAFEANAZFTHEZZ-AE
AGAEE = NATHE
21 November 2019 to 20 November 2029 4.09 1,890,000 —  (515,000) - 1,375,000
TE-AF+-A-+-HE-E-AF
+—A=+H
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2030 2.1 80,000 - - - 80,000
iy o
ANA=T+H
6 August 2020 to 5 August 2030 2.17 120,000 — - - 120,000
CECZFE\ARRE-Z=ZH
NARH
13 July 2021 to 11 November 2031 2.21 - 350,000 - - 350,000
—Z_—F+tA+=BEZZT=—F
+—A+-8
6 May 2021 to 6 May 2031 2.48 - 160,000 - - 160,000
TR -FRARNRE_R=—%
HAKRE
2,430,000 510,000  (575,000) - 2,365,000
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 4.15 2.29 4.25 3.72
FmEFYTEE G
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 27.07 14.62 27.10 23.73
—BRAERHARE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding
at 31 December 2021 7.44 years
RZFZ—F+ZA=+—BHRITEBREMNE
FHRNBEOERN 7.44%F
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2021 1,360,000
RIB-—F+-A=+—-RA{TEBERELHA
The share-based compensation recorded for the year ended 31 REBE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

ZUABRMAER IS S X AT91309%E
(HHERNHARES323,00T)(ZF = —
F 11,924,000 7T (FHE R 4 AR #12,414,000



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e)

(f)

Stock-based grant to the management of
Beijing Huaxiang

On 9 September 2022, Beijing Lianzhong Zhijing, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group, granted its 40% equity interests in
Beijing Huaxiang, its wholly owned subsidiary, to the
management of Beijing Huaxiang for her services to Beijing
Huaxiang. The Group accounted for this transaction as equity-
settled share-based compensation. The share-based
compensation recorded for the year ended 31 December 2022
was RMB2,635,000, which represented the fair value of the 40%
equity interest in Beijing Huaxiang granted to the management
on the grant date. The difference between the share-based
compensation and the non-controlling interests was recognised

in other reserve.

The Group recognised a total expense of RMB11,983,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB18,686,000) in relation
to the above share options granted by the shareholders or the
Company, and the share-based compensation expense were
shown as a separate item on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
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37. ZRTWFHR R K

COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-—F T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARET T
Non-current assets IERBEE
Interest in subsidiaries M B A B AE 2 223,565 223,565
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H b fE U 1B 534 363
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG O 237,431 256,766
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS JAAA 210
238,409 257,339
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H ) JE A~ 5R0E 5,671 4,469
Amounts due to subsidiaries JETBTE A A58 102,096 102,116
107,767 106,585
Net current assets RBEEEE 130,642 150,754
Net assets EEFE 354,207 374,319
Equity e
Share capital N 335 335
Reserves [Note) & 8 (P 5E) 353,872 373,984
Total equity EsmE 354,207 374,319

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

March 2023.

Liu Xueming
2|28
Director

EF

RZBE-=F=A=+—BRKE=SH#

T R IR T3 -

Lu Jingsheng
RE A
Director

EF

BRERERETRAY

—=-—EER @
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. &/ G189 &1 #5 iR 3| (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: B3 -
The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: ARBIEENESHDOT :
Shares
held under
the Share Share
Share Award option Other Accumulated Total
Premium* Scheme reserve reserve Losses* reserves
RERG
KRBT EEE
R 47 35 B * ZR BRERE HttRkE RIAEE* RELE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR®TR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRI AR®TR

Balance at 1 January 2021 R-ZT-—%F

—A—Bz#E#% 1,023,563 (17,010) 113,807 — (544,133) 576,227
Loss for the year FRERE — — — — (199,319) [199,319)
Share-based compensation ~ BAR& {3 B ERE KB
(Note 36(c)) (Ff &£ 36(c)) - 12,965 - (6,693) - 6,272
Transfer upon forfeiture of 1A )% W2 i f 48 5 45 3%
share options - — (1,194) - 1,194 -
Purchase of shares for Share %t i% 9 22 B 5t &1 & B IR 17
Award Scheme (Note 36(c))  (Fff #£36(c])) - (9,196) - - - (9,196

Balance at 31 December R=-Z=-—&%

2021 +tZB=+-HBz&&% 1,023,563 [13,241) 112,613 (6,693) (742,258) 373,984
Loss for the year FAEE - - - - (20,612) [20,612)
Share-based compensation AR BER NS

(Note 36(c)) (B 5E36(c)) - 3,525 - 500 - 4,025
Transfer upon forfeiture of — H )% W B8 A% 4 5 68 45

share options - - (2,411) - 2,411 -
Purchase of shares for Share 3t i {7 #2 By &1 21 % B ik (5

Award Scheme (Note 36(c))  (Fff #£36(c]) - (3,525) - - - (3,525)

Balance at 31 December R-B-=F

2022 +tZRA=+—-Bz#&# 1,023,563 (13,241) 110,202 (6,193) (760,459) 353,872
* As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves available for o R-_BE-_—_F+_A=+—H ' AJ##tH
distribution to equity holders of the Company was RMB243, 104,000 (2021: RBFAARE=IFEANREBEE LR
RMB281,305,000). AR M263,104000(ZFE = —F: A

R #281,305,0007T) °

73;4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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38. COMMITMENTS 38. KiE
(a) Lease commitments (a) BERRE
At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term RBEBH  NREBEFILT B R

leases are as follows: &

=

2022 2021
—E-= —_EF-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Within one year —FR 207 413
39. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 39. EXEBMAO RS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in BRRZESAV B RERE M T AT E
these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Group 2R 5,/ BRI RN E R R
had the following material transactions with related parties: FETHNEARZNOT :
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) TEETEBEASHE
Key management of the Group are members of the Board and AEBETEEBEAESTZKE
senior management. Further details of directors” emoluments ERERE-fREZMe &
are included in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. — S HBEHRERE T EREN
Included in employee benefit expenses are key management - MAEBERIAIZEEZER
personnel remuneration which includes the following expenses: [EAEBERIEA AL :
2022 2021
SN —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Basic salaries and allowances HAH S KRB 3,721 3,661
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 38 K48 K 5+ 2 { 5% 322 305
Share-based compensation expense ARG REHRN MR X 748 1,196

4,791 5,162

HREEERERAT "B _EER @
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40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 4L0. BT ELENEEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities AREBMETSHEENBBEES D EN
can be classified as follows: IS 5
Lease liabilities Bank loan Convertible notes
HESE BITER AARER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—®--f _—T--—-% ZB--f _—_T-_-F ZB-ZH —T_—-F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT AR%ETrn ARETT AR%TR ARET:R
At 1 January R—F—H 57,188 51,175 - 15,190 - 23344
Cash-flows: BeneE:
— Proceeds —frE50E - - 1,000 - - -
— Repayment —-BH - - - (9,170) - (12,905)
— Capital element of -BHEERES
lease rentals paid 2EEED (7,791) (8,249) - - - -
— Interest element of -BENHEERE
lease rentals paid ZHEEHH (4,737) (4,707) = - = -
Non-cash: E3Ek
— Conversion to ordinary shares —BRAREENBAR
of a subsidiary of the Group Ldk - - - - - (3,754)
— Gain on conversion/redemption — @i/ A RERER
of convertible notes 2 Wz - - - - - (6,453)
— Gain on forgiveness -PPPEFRFERE
of PPP loans and interest Wz - - - (5,888) - -
— Exchange difference -ERER 4,029 2,036 - (132) - (232)
— Entering into new leases —AUFEE 8,586 9,372 - - - -
— Early termination of leases -RERILEE (3,285) - = - = -
— Lease modification -HEEHR - 2,854 - - - -
— Interest expenses —-FlEmY 4,737 4,707 - — - —
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 58,727 57,188 1,000 — - —

@, Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of the Group
and approved by the Board.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

(a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position relate to the following categories of

41. YHERBREERASLES
=2

AEERBEEXRBRBERREZDPE
AT AmAZEMERR - 8% ER
BREMSER(EEINERR  F XE
aRMERRR) FERBERBDESRE
o NREBMEEREREEKE S ER
HBAEEYHERANBESFNZERS
R -RRERETHAKBSRERE
BITAREETSHAE -

255 H Bt B 5 T AL R HE A R B 4 Bl sk E
EIE MG E A Bk H 07 23 & (2R

=

o

a) THEERBEIR

A MBARNRARE S R A
TcRHEERSRABRIESR

financial assets and financial liabilities. o
2022 2021
—_E_— T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET R ARBET T
Financial assets ERMEE

Financial assets at amortised cost BEEKNATECEREE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b e U 58 55,869 44,720
Certificate of deposits FaE 484,602 —
Restricted bank balances PR I 8R 17 4 54 34,614 34,897
Bank balances and cash RITEMNIES 87,289 609,070
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBE AERzemEE 45,846 56,192
708,220 744,879

Financial liabilities cHas

Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR AT EN SR EE
Trade and other payables g5 REAENFRIE 46,368 48,091
Lease liabilities HEAE 58,727 57,188
Bank loan FITE R 1,000 —
106,095 105,279

BREARERBRAT

—=-—EER @



VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

The Group’s subsidiaries mainly operate in the PRC and in the

US and majority of the transactions are settled in RMB, USD or

EUR, being the functional currency of the group entities to

which the transactions relate. Foreign currency risk arises

when future commercial transactions and recognised assets

and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the

entity’s functional currency. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,

the Group did not have significant foreign currency risk from its

operations.

Financial assets denominated in a foreign currency, translated

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BEBRERME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

4. BEEARERBRARES

= (|

(b) 9 BE @ BX

REENMNBAREERFEK
EHEE BERBOIRIUAR
B CETHIBTAEE  HARSE
HAREBETREMNNEER - JNER
SRBUTEREBINEERH
EBGTENREEER S LK HE
REERBBE RZTE_—_FK=
E-_—F+-A=+—H8 &x&H
7 EERINER R o

ASNEEGHE - R ERBE /A

into RMB at the closing rates, are as follows: RENSMEEWNT :
2022
—Eg2-=

UsD EUR HK$ Total

P BT BT @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR T AR® T AR¥T T
Bank balances and BITEBRRES

cash 336 — 187 523

Gross exposure arising CHEREMEEE

from recognised 482 B R B

financial assets 336 —_ 187 523

2021
—E 4

UsD EUR HK$ Total

=T B 7T BT #Et

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARET T ARET T
Bank balances and RITHEBR MRS

cash 22 — 346 368

Gross exposure arising EER S MEEE

from recognised A 8 2 B R B

financial assets 22 — 346 368

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 41.

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss
after income tax for the year and equity in regard to a 5% (2021:
5%) appreciation in the Group’s functional currency against
RMB. The rate used represents management's best

assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.

UHERREERARES

£ (|

(b) SMNEE R BZ (@)

TRIWFHAEEDEEE KA
REABN(ZEZ—F :5%) M
= AEEFRNRBRATER%EERIA
RESOBRRME - FTEAEREE
BEHIINEEXTREZEHELDH

SRR

2022
—_Eg-=
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Increase in loss for the year and equity FAEEREREM (20)
2021
T —%F
RMB'000
ARET T
Increase in loss for the year and equity FREE MRS (14)

The same % depreciation in the Group’s functional currency
against the respective foreign currency would have the same
magnitude on the Group’s loss after income tax for the year and
equity but of opposite effect.

The Group does not hedge its foreign currency risk. However,
management monitors the foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

AEBHTIEE S B AR SN B2
ERFADLE $HAKREFERA
BARSHABEERESBREE
BRROTE -

AEE I EEPINER R o AT

EREERIERR TRARE
B B YR B ASNE A -

HREEERERAT "B _EER @
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk
arises primarily from convertible notes, lease liabilities and
loans payable. Convertible notes bearing fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
risk respectively are not expected to change significantly. The
exposure to interest rates for the Group's interest-bearing bank

deposits is considered immaterial.

4. BEEARERBRARES

£ (i|)

(c)

= @ kR

MERBRESHMTIAZARER
RenEBERAMBSHN XSG M XK
PR ER A - ANEE /) = &R
IT2REAUHRERRE HERENR
e B TR o AR RE M K& B 2 AT
BREBSAKEEDRAER SR
ENRREBREAABMERR %
SRBEHTIEELEBTRE L K
& B 5t SR 1T 17 SA A 3K = B I
TEKX-

2022 2021
—_=E- —E-—F

Effective Effective

interest interest
rate RMB’000 rate RMB'000
B A= AR¥T B =X AR T T

Fixed rate borrowings: & Bf& 3K :

— Lease liabilities —HE8®RE 4.75%-8.75% 58,727 4.75%-8.75% 57,188
— Bank loan —RITER 3.65% 1,000 N/A —

TEA

Price risk (d) ERRR

The Group is not exposed to significant price risk for the
Group's unlisted equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its restricted
bank balances, bank balances and cash, trade and other
receivables and loans to third parties.

The carrying amounts of each class of the financial assets as
summarised in Note 41(a] above represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.
To manage this risk arising from bank balances and cash, the
Group only transacts with state-owned financial institutions and
reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in the PRC, Hong Kong and the US. There
has been no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions so the credit risk of bank balances and
cash is considered to be low.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e

Credit risk

Trade receivables

The Group’'s policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new customers
after a credit worthiness assessment. When considered
appropriate, customers may be requested to provide proof as to
their financial position. Where available at reasonable cost,
reports on customers are obtained and used. Customers who
are not considered creditworthy are required to pay in advance
or on delivery of goods and provision of services. Payment
record of customers is closely monitored. It is not the Group’s

policy to request collateral from its customers.

In addition, as set out in Note 2.11, the Group assesses ECL
under IFRS 9 on trade receivables based on the individual
assessment and then compared to the provision matrix, the
expected loss rates are based on the payment profile for sales
in the past years as well as the corresponding historical credit
losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors
affecting the customer’'s ability to settle the amount
outstanding. At each reporting date, the historical default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. However, given the short period exposed to credit
risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors has not been

considered significant within the reporting period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to make
payments generally within 180 days from the invoice date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

41.

8

FERREERARES

==N¢ )

(

el

BEERR

BEZRBRE
AEBNBRRSEREFER DN
HBFEHTETRS - RTHEFNE
ERREFEFPETERANGR
R -REEBRT BEFXAE®
ZORER L H B AR B0 RE B A e
e A B IR AN E - B & K
EREFPME THRER/EMRYL
MEPEBEENRINKE K&IE
HRBEAFK - EPONREES
RAZDNER -AEFRIEAR M
WIEREBENBEK

It AN AP EE2 V1 ET & 0 AN B IR
18 B 5T 1 1R % B BR Bt 75 3R 5 % Al
FORTHE SRR BHIELSE
EEE BrOagEEmytl |
HEBXBREAFTFEMNHEES
R A R R % AR 4B B AR 1
EEBESLE - BELHEFLUH
B OURMEYEZFLEREES
BB IR E BT KRR R R B
ARE - REREBHEEFTEL
EBHR WA ATIE G EF
AT - ER R R A B R A B S R
BRERBEERENTERRK
LR ARE AL TERX °

fisd & 32 78 HA K BE U [ - AU 55 &
5 R (AR L #ER) - — iR
5ORBEEREZERHIRI80H AX
NHRERAREERAEEETHM
NRZHE  SRERGERBR
BEE I B o
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR L. UERRBREEBRARES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) ==4C ))

(e) Credit risk (continued) (e) BEERR &)
Trade receivables (Continued) BEZBEWRIE (@)
On the above basis, the ECL for trade receivables as at 31 BREMEE R —_FK=-F
December 2022 and 2021 was determined as follows: S+ A=+—HBWESE

WHRENBREEBRETHT

PRC fma)c]
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZEB-_—_H+=-H=+—H
Total
allowance
BiELE

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR

Gross carryingamount  SREEE—E 5

— trade receivables W kg 12,770
Individually impaired 1651 6% 18 8 W 5038
receivables (521) 521
12,249
Current Within 1to2years 2to3years
by invoice 1yearby byinvoice by invoice
date invoice date date date Total
RBFEA RBRE  RERE  REEAR
BN 15/ 1226 2235 @t
ECL rate BHEEBEX 1% 5% 20% 30%

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARMTRE ARMTR AR®TR AR®TR AR¥TR

Gross carrying amount BRI 4E1E
— trade receivables - BRI HE 3,156 8,761 332 - 12,249

Lifetime ECL 2HEHEERE 32 470 66 - 568 568

1,089
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR L. UERRBREEBRARES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) ==4C )
(e) Credit risk (Continued) (e) BERRK @)
Trade receivables (Continued) BB RIE (@)
PRC [Continued) OEj (&)
As at 31 December 2021 R=-—ZE-_—F+=-H=+—H
Total
allowance
RERT

RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

Gross carryingamount  FREBE-EBHE

— trade receivables WkmE 4,748
Individually impaired 18 51 5 (B FE W 31 0B
receivables (777) 777
3,971
Current Within  1to2years 2to3years
by invoice Tyearby  byinvoice by invoice
date invoice date date date Total
BEEH REER REER RERH
BN &R 1F A 182F VEXE:S Bt
ECL rate HHEEEREX 1% 5% 20% 30%

RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0O00  RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT

Gross carrying amount  BRE 4218
— trade receivables - B S RWHE 1,630 2,159 127 55 3,971

Lifetime ECL 2HEHEERR 14 108 25 17 166 166

943
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BUHBRBREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4( )

(e) Credit risk (continued) (e) BERE @)
Trade receivables (Continued) & 5 IR IR (&)
Outside PRC PEFLISN
ECL rate of current trade receivables are assessed to be 0.1%. BNERE 5 W KB T8 B B &
For the past due trade receivables, the management of the BEREFER0I% HAaHZESE
Group considered the loss allowance provision for the balances WHRIEME AEEEEERAT
outside PRC were immaterial. There is no change in the ECL BEINEHROEERETIBEKX -
rate for trade receivables during the end of reporting date RNME DS REZ FERKE
mainly due to no significant change in the historical default WEREEERXTREES 2
rates of trade receivables based on which the ECL rate is EHRRETERBEESEBEXMK
determined. The management of the Group considered the loss EMNEZERKRRERLEN X jﬁ
allowance provision for trade receivables was immaterial EEEEH ASEEEERA
during the end of reporting date. % HHAERREEZ S EWZ IEES{E\

BiEBETBEK-

Other financial assets at amortised cost Rt #HER AR EE
In order to minimise the credit risk of other financial assets at % H fth 3 B SH K AR I BR B9 & Bl
amortised cost, the management would make periodic EEMNEERRARERIEK EEE
collective and individual assessment on the recoverability of BREELEELHEEBELR
other financial assets based on historical settlement records ARERINBER  EHIZEMSD
and past experience as well as current external information. BhE E A O] Uk =M A 2 R K& E
Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow- RIEEAE - B IR [ IR an 17 H B 52 4%
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In these regards, Fr HERERERIRE1TE) - AR E 8
the credit risk of other receivables, loans to associates and HES sttt =s @ B e R EIE

third parties are considered to be low. L/\ R THERARE=ZAZE

FOEEREREERRE -

Besides, except for the receivables from other receivable set BEAN - B B 5 27 BT i &9 H A FE U 3K
out in Note 27, the management is of opinion that there is no FIN BIEER S H M EWRZIES
significant increase in credit risk on other receivables since = & & b B )18 5 B LA SR I & 5
initial recognition as the risk of default is low after considering EZ8 - R . RS ET R M 2115
the factors as set out in note 2.11 and, thus, ECL recognised is HEEXZ RAEZHARBRE B
based on 12-month ECL. - EREEEBEER T _EANE

HHL:,\EETE 5/U°KT3'E§'@]J_FEEWL
iEERERBZELG I AARE E
REHBHREERESE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HIFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

4. BEEARERBRARES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (|
(f) Liquidity risk (f) RBEZER
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining EZEENRHELCRREE S E4
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature BEaRESREBESEEBW -EREA
of the underlying business, the Group aims to maintain flexibility BT EIREEE  AEBEBALK
in funding by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents. EEHRESLRESZEEMINES
B EEMN -
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's remaining RZE-_—_FR_EBE-_—F+=
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities are mainly A=1+—8B A&EEMNTRAEEH
within one year. When the creditor has a choice of when the TEHAETER—FRNEH - B EHE
liability is settled, the liability is included on the basis of the A EESEAENKH 286
earliest date on when the Group can be required to pay. Where BASBEAHERNRONEER
the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each instalment M7k - EABEEADHF K&
is allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is g BHESEZEAEBFAEI N
committed to pay. M ERHE o
The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the BRESHRAEBEZABBERESRE
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities. HAEXHEIHSTMT -
Over 1year Total
Within 1 year but within Over undiscounted Carrying
on demand 5yeas 5years  cash outflows amount
R—FR —FHE AERRE
REXR BEFUR EENE gk L] REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT AR¥ETR ARBTT AEBT
Asat31December 2022 R=-ZT=-=%
+ZA=+-H
Non-derivative financial ~ ¥fTEE&BERE
liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 Rk E A fE (% B 46,368 - - 46,368 46,368
Lease liabilities HEAE 15,463 51,554 5,191 72,208 58,727
Bank loan RITEK 1,025 - - 1,025 1,000
62,856 51,554 5191 119,601 106,095
As at 31 December 2021 i
+=ZA=+-~H
Non-derivative FiTELRERE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5% R E b B 5 E 48,091 - - 48,091 48,091
Lease liabilities HEGE 11,786 46,824 14,892 73,502 57,188
59,877 46,824 14,892 121,593 105,279

HREARSRERAT —E__FER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR L. UBRBERRARES
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4( )
(g) Fair value measurements () ARESFE

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three
levels based on the observability and significance of inputs used
in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices [unadjusted]) in active markets for

identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from

prices), and not using significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (significant unobservable

inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value

measurement.

@‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(g) Fair value measurements (Continued)

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
the fair value hierarchy as follows:

4. BEEARERBRARES

£ (|

(g)

DNREFE@
REMBRARTEAL BEHE
MEBMAERABARNTAR
BER

JL

2022 —E—-—
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—EBHR H-EBHK =B Mgt
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i AR®Tr ARETn AR®TR AR®Tx
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBEFABRELZ
CREE
Unlisted equity investments FETREAKRE (a) = = 45,846 45,846
Net fair values ANRAEFE - — 45,846 45,846
2021 —E-—f
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—EH F_EBHR F=EHR “at
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i ARETFIT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBEFAEBRZELZ
CREE
Unlisted equity investments FELTRAREE (a) — — 56,192 56,192
Net fair values NREFE — - 56,192 56,192

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out
of Level 3 (2021: there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3).

HE_ET-_—_F+=-HA=+—8H
IHFE FEBEREE_ER2H
WHESE TESARNBEE=-E
B(ZEZ—F: FEREF=
[ A% 2 [0 M e 35 - JR A eE A of 8
HEZEH) -

BREREREBAT —B__FFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BUHBRBREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4C )
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () AFESE @
Note: B &
(a)  Unlisted equity investments (a) FLTRAKRE
The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined with FELETRARENAARETLKS
reference to combinations of various factors including net assets EZLTRAKRENEEFES
values of the unlisted equity investments. The fair value ZHAENEHTEMEE - 2
measurement is positively correlated to the factors including net AEFEREEFESARELE
assets values. LE AR ©
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the unlisted equity PERAAREERE=MRAKIFE
investments classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is ETRAEEREESREAT
as follows:
2022 2021
Unlisted equity investment FETRERE —EB-C—fF —EZ—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
At 1 January Hw—H—H 56,192 69,683
Additions WE 1,500 9,000
Disposals HE (10,561) (8,350)
Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss REZEANAALEED (1,285) (14,218)
Dividend income E=RON — 77
At 31 December W+—-_A=+—8 45,846 56,192

Fair value gain or loss on unlisted equity investments are
recognised in profit or loss and included under “Fair value
changes of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2022 B Z—_ZE - F+-_A=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT L2. EXREIR
The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard AREBHNEAEERAZAREAEER
the ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to SFEICERE) AL SRR M A H A
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders Bafa ARENG THABREER
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ HEBUIEARRREEE -

value in the long term.

AEEBBTEHRABRASEARBUESR

The Group monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital BR-ERBZBRIHN—HD ARAE
structure. As part of this review, the directors of the Company %%ﬁﬁéﬁi$&ﬁf§ﬂ?§ﬁﬂ§$ﬁ’]ﬂ
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued o AN 52 B AT AR B M R R H R B &
share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to %E S BATHETAR D - BE B AR QA AR 15 sk
shareholders, issue new shares, repurchase the Company’'s shares EEERBIER-

or sell assets to reduce debts.

BREEERERAT —E-"EER @
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43. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 43.

(@) Profit for the period from 1 January 2021 to 12 July 2021 from
discontinued operations of the Disposal Group are as follows:

ERLEEERS

(a) pz—z==——45—p—BZE=-%T=
—FrAt+-—HEEKkEHEH
BIEE R IEELEBR AT :

Period from
1 January 2021
to 12 July 2021
(the Date of

Disposal)

—E-—%-A

—BE=-2=—F

tA+=H

(THEBH)HE

RMB’000

ARBT T

Revenue N 83,995

Cost of revenue NN (32,040)

Gross profit EF 51,955

Other income HAb Yz 4,452

Selling and marketing expenses HERMSGHEESRR (3,553)

Administrative expenses TBRAX (41,008)

Share-based compensation expense ARR 0 A E A B < 5 —

Finance costs B0 E B AR (1,236)

Profit before income tax FRER 8B AT R R 10,610

Income tax credit FriSfi & -

Profit after income tax BRETEBERR 10,610
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net & B4 &2 E K

of tax (Note] (MErBHE) () 319,033

Profit after tax for the period HAKRBECRIEEEEL
from discontinued operations HIBRB &R T 329,643

Profit for the period from 1 January 2021 to 12 July 2021 from
discontinued operations did not include depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use

assets and amortisation of intangible assets.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 & & ==

= __

43. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

FH-_A=1T—HLFE

43. ERIEEERXRH @

(@) Profit for the period from 1 January 2021 to 12 July 2021 from () p-=-——F—HF—BRzE-—=2—
discontinued operations of the Disposal Group are as follows: —FtAT-HHAEKRBHER
(Continued) AEBERIEREEBREMAT

(&)
Note: ML -
Management has determined that there are no current federal or state 4 2 = AGAERMWPTRR 9 B9 R FE B %
income taxes payable in connection with the sale of discontinued AGAER —ZE - —F QR EEHNTEFT
operations, after considering the AGAE's tax basis in the stock of WPT, ERHIEERE SHEEORR BT
as well as AGAE's projected tax losses for the 2021 tax year. L E D AR R RS R R B D
M E S FTE B o
(b) Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (b) HECR IS XA
iy
Analysis of net cash flow in respect of the T E BB RIS IR
discontinued operations of the Disposal Group is as NEREESASIBTBEOLONUT :
follows:
As at
12 July 2021
R-B_-—%F
+A+=H
RMB'000
AR T T
Consideration received B RE 684,291
Transaction expenses in connection with the disposal & #H B8 22 5 A A (15,910)
Total cash inflow from disposal HEMSRSRALRE 668,381
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations HBEPRIEIEESEIZENINZS
As at
12 July 2021
RZFE-—F
+HA+=H
RMB'000
ARBTT
Consideration received BERRE 684,291
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE (362,263
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of net HEDRIFELEKHHEMARN
assets of the disposal group reclassified from equity B EFEMAESEHNH A AIBE
to profit or loss on disposal of discontinued B RATER =8
operation 12,915
Transaction expenses in connection with the disposal & B8 22 5 A A (15,910)
Gain on disposal & W 319,033
RERERFRATY “F-T

FER @
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43. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

43. ERIEEEXRF

(c)  The cash flows of discontinued operations of the Disposal Group (c) HedsmErIELESERS

are as follows:

MEWD

Period from
1 January 2021
to 12 July 2021
(the Date of

Disposal)
B —fF
—HA—HBZ
—E_—F
tA+=H#HH
(THEBHD
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities KEFRBME /(TR ZRERE
FE 414
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities WREEE A,/ FEzRERE
F1E (23,950)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEEBAGCASREFE —
Net cash outflows e m L FE (23,536)
44. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS L, FRERS
The Group entered into the following non-cash financing activities AREBEIYTHEBESmELTY &
which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of cash flows: WARGEBESRER R
. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered e HE—_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—H
into certain lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use IEFE AEBITZETHES
assets and lease liabilities amounting to HK$8,586,000 (2021: HoHPFERBEEEMTEERR
HK$9,372,000) was recognised at the lease commencement AN E8586,000 (=T = —F:
date; and 9,372,000/ 7t) B M fﬁffﬁ]ﬁ‘*ﬁ 5
R R
. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group repaid s HBE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—H
Convertible Notes of RMB3,754,000 by conversion of common 1 FE - AN B A B BAGAE—

shares of a subsidiary of AGAE.
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